ADVERTIMENT. La consulta d'aquesta tesi queda condicionada a l'acceptació de les següents condicions d'ús: La difusió d'aquesta tesi per mitjà del servei TDX (<u>www.tesisenxarxa.net</u>) ha estat autoritzada pels titulars dels drets de propietat intel·lectual únicament per a usos privats emmarcats en activitats d'investigació i docència. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva difusió i posada a disposició des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX. No s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant al resum de presentació de la tesi com als seus continguts. En la utilització o cita de parts de la tesi és obligat indicar el nom de la persona autora.

ADVERTENCIA. La consulta de esta tesis queda condicionada a la aceptación de las siguientes condiciones de uso: La difusión de esta tesis por medio del servicio TDR (<u>www.tesisenred.net</u>) ha sido autorizada por los titulares de los derechos de propiedad intelectual únicamente para usos privados enmarcados en actividades de investigación y docencia. No se autoriza su reproducción con finalidades de lucro ni su difusión y puesta a disposición desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR. No se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al resumen de presentación de la tesis como a sus contenidos. En la utilización o cita de partes de la tesis es obligado indicar el nombre de la persona autora.

WARNING. On having consulted this thesis you're accepting the following use conditions: Spreading this thesis by the TDX (<u>www.tesisenxarxa.net</u>) service has been authorized by the titular of the intellectual property rights only for private uses placed in investigation and teaching activities. Reproduction with lucrative aims is not authorized neither its spreading and availability from a site foreign to the TDX service. Introducing its content in a window or frame foreign to the TDX service is not authorized (framing). This rights affect to the presentation summary of the thesis as well as to its contents. In the using or citation of parts of the thesis it's obliged to indicate the name of the author

UNIVERSITAT POLITÈCNICA DE CATALUNYA BARCELONATECH (UPC)

Agri-Food Engineering and Biotechnology

DOCTORAL THESIS

Study of the effect of cooking methods on physical properties and bioactive compounds of selected potato cultivars (Solanum tuberosum L.)

Author

Yali Yang

Advisor

Prof. Dr. Montserrat Pujolà Cunill

Maria Isabel Achaerandio

Acknowledgements

At the end of my thesis, I would like to express my deepest gratitude towards my supervisor Dr.Montserrat Pujolà Cunill for giving me the chance to work in her laboratory to pursue my graduate studies. Her excellent supervision, constant guidance, valuable advice as well as her encouragement and patients throughout my doctoral research helped me accomplish this great task. Her passion for science made me push harder each day and complete my work with pure dedication. This thesis would not have been possible without the feedback and her comments motivating me a lot towards my work.

I also thank my co-supervisor Dr. Maria Isabel Achaerandio for her constant support, advice and encouragement during my doctoral period. I can not really express how grateful I am to Dr. Maria Isabel Achaerandio. She is aslo a crucial element in this thesis and was actively involved right from experimental designing till writing up the results.

Big thanks for Enric Centellas for his endless support and patience. He helps me to analyze the Phenolics, sugars and acrylamide content using the high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and Gas chromatography (GC) methods.

I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to Torribas S.A Company for supplying the different potato cultivars for this study. I am grateful to the past and the present Chinese friends for their kindness and their fun loving talks during getting together. My sincere thanks to my husband Hailiang Shen for his support and encouragement.

Last but not the least I would like to thank my family members and relatives for their moral support during my research journal.

To my parents....

Contents

List of Figures	VII
List of Tables	IX
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 State of the art	2
1.2 Potato cultivars	2
1.3 Physiochemical properties	3
1.3.1 Carbohydrates	4
1.3.2 Phenolic compounds	5
1.3.3 Physical properties	6
1.4 Effect of the cooking methods on potato properties	7
1.5 Frying and acrylamide formation	16
1.5.1 Pathways for acrylamide formation	16
1.5.2 Factors involved in acrylamide formation	17
1.6 References	22
Chapter 2 Objectives	
Chapter 3 Working plan	
3.1 Working plan	
3.2 Experiment setup	

Contents
Chapter 4 Classification of potato cultivars to establish their processing aptitute
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials and methods
4.2.1 Chemicals
4.2.2 Sample preparation
4.2.3 Instrumental analysis
4.2.4 Potato component analysis
4.2.5 Statistical analysis45
4.3 Results and discussion
4.3.1 Instrumental parameters
4.3.2 Dry matter and carbohydrate contents of commercial potatoes
4.3.3 Correlations among carbohydrate content, dry matter content and texture of commercial potatoes
4.3.4 Oganic acids and pH
4.3.5 Total phenolic content
4.3.6 Antioxidant activity
4.3.7 Principal component analysis
4.4 Conclusions
4.5 References
Chapter 5 Effect of the intensity of cooking methods on nutritional and physical properties of potato tubers
5.1 Introduction

Contents
5.2 Materials and Methods70
5.2.1 Potato samples70
5.2.2 Samples preparation70
5.2.3 Physical properties analysis71
5.2.4 Chemical compounds analysis73
5.2.5 Statistics
5.3 Results and discussion75
5.3.1 Time-temperature profiles and cooking value of the heat-treatments
5.3.2 Effect of cooking treatments on physical properties
5.3.3 Effect of cooking treatments on chemical properties
5.3.4 Principal component analysis
5.4 Conclusions
5.5 References
Chapter 6 Influence of the frying process and potato cultivar on acrylamide formation in
French fries
6.1 Introduction104
6.2 Materials and Methods107
6.2.1 Sample preparation107
6.2.2 Frying conditions107
6.2.3 Instrumental analysis of color and texture108
6.2.4 Analysis of moisture content

Contents
6.2.5 Analysis of oil uptake
6.2.6 Analysis of asparagine109
6.2.7 Analysis of sugars110
6.2.8 Analysis of acrylamide
6.2.9 Statistics
6.3 Results and discussion
6.3.1 Influence of frying temperature on acrylamide formation
6.3.2 Relationship between acrylamide formation, oil uptake and moisture content119
6.3.3 Correlations of acrylamide formation and oil uptake with instrumental
sensory parameters: colour and texture
6.4 Conclusions127
6.5 References
Chapter 7 General results
Chapter 8 Conclussions

Contents

List of Figures

Figure 3.1 Working plan of the research work
Figure 3.2 Experiment setup
Figure 3.3 Potato cultivars assessed in this study
Figure 4.1 Loadings of the physiochemical properties on the first and second principal
component (PC)
Figure 4.2 First and second principal-component scores of the potato cultivars
Figure 5.1 Temperature curves of a typical potato cultivar (Kennebec) during Boling,
Baking and Microwaving76
Figure 5.2 Effect of the different cooking treatments on the dry matter content of potato
cultivars
Figure 5.3 Textural analysis parameters for different potato cultivars (A/ Kennebec; B/ Red
Pontiac; C/ Caesar; D/ Agata) caused by different cooking treatments
Figure 5.4 Effect of different cooking treatments on the color parameters (L*, C and H) of
potato cultivars
Figure 5.5 Change of the content of starch profiles (A/Total starch; B/Resistant starch) from
initial levels in raw potatoes (100%) to final levels (%) caused by boiling, baking and
microwaving treatment
Figure 5.6 Change of the flesh and skin content of total phenolic content (TPC)
(A/TPC-Flesh; B/TPC-Skin) and antioxidant activity (AA) (C/AA-Flesh; D/AA-Skin) from
initial levels in raw potatoes (100%) to final levels (%) caused by boiling, baking and
microwaving

Figure 5.7 Loadings of the physiochemical properties on the first and second principle
component (F1 and F2) after the different cooking methods
Figure 5.8 First and second principle component scores of the potato cultivars after different
cooking methods
Figure 6.1 Acrylamide levels of fried potato cultivars prepared by different temperatures115
Figure 6.2 Acrylamide levels vs. asparagine for fried potato cultivars prepared by different
temperatures
Figure 6.3 Acrylamide levels vs. reducing sugar content for fried potato cultivars prepared
by different temperatures
Figure 6.4 Oil uptake of fried potato cultivars prepared by different temperatures
Figure 6.5 Moisture content for potato cultivars fried at 150, 170 and 170 °C
Figure 6.6 Development of the color parameters (L*, b*, C and H) of potato cultivars at
different frying conditions
Figure 6.7 Textural analysis parameters for different potato cultivars (A/Kennebec; B/Red
Pontiac; C/Agria) caused by different frying conditions

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Chemical composition of potato tubers
Table 1.2 Effect of boiling processing condition on nutritional compositions of potatoes9
Table 1.2 (Continued)10
Table 1.3 Effect of baking processing condition on nutritional compositions of potatoes12
Table 1.3 (Continued)
Table 1.4 Effect of microwaving processing condition on nutritional compositions of
potatoes
Table 1.5 Effect of frying processing condition on physical and acrylamide formation of
potatoes
Table 1.5 Effect of frying processing condition on physical and acrylamide formation of
potatoes21
Table 4.1 Description of the potato samples
Table 4.2 Color and texture profile analysis parameters of raw potatoes from different
cultivars
Table 4.3 Dry matter content, total starch content, resistant starch content and sugar
composition of the potato cultivars
Table 4.4 Organic acids and pH of the potato cultivars
Table 4.5 Total phenolic content (TPC) and antioxidant activity (AA) in flesh and skin of
potato cultivars
Table 5.1 Description the conditions of different culinary treatments 71
Table 5.2 Weight loss (%), cooking degree and cooking value (C100, min) in processed
potatoes77
Table 5.3 Textural properties of fresh potato samples 80
Table 5.4 Sugars in fresh and processed potatoes (g·kg ⁻¹ LW)

List	of	Tabl	les
------	----	------	-----

Table 6.1 Properties of fresh potato samples 113

Chapter 1

1.1 State of the art

The potato (solanum tuberosum L.) appeared in Europe during the last quarter of the sixteenth century, and potatoes are a main component of meals in many European countries (Murniece et al., 2011). In the developing countries, the poorest and undernourished families depend on potatoes as a major source of food and nutrition because of its highly available dietary energy. Potato is a carbohydrate-rich, versatile vegetable prepared and served in variety of ways worldwide. Despite of its nutritional quality and low production costs, the consumption of fresh potato is decreasing because of some quality issues. Mainly, potato cultivars are not use properly in terms of industry processing or culinary methods. It involves lower quality potato products or dishes. Sensorial texture is the key factor in the acceptance of potato and it depends on the changes of starch structure during the cooking method apart from the difference between cultivars and storage condition of the tubers (Poberezny, 2010; Seefeldt et al., 2011). But there are some other quality problems, as after-cooking darkness of potato, and the effect of cooking method in the bioactive compounds of potato that affect the quality of the potato products and are not as widely studied. Traditionally, there are three popular methods to cook the potatoes: boiling, deep-frying and baking. But only a few studies determine the aptitude of the potato cultivars on being processed depending on their composition and considering the new techniques.

1.2 Potato cultivars

The potatoes worldwide belong to just one biological species, *Solanum tuberosum* L, but there are more than 4000 varieties of potatoes cultivated around the world with different colors, shapes, sizes, taste and texture characteristics. These cultivars are classified into four major groups: Russets, Reds, Yellows and Specialty (Anonymous, 2011). Russtes are characterized by even, oval shape, brown net-textured skin, shallow eyes with flesh color varying from creamy white to light golden. Red potatoes are characterized by a rozy skin

and a white flesh with a texture that is firm, smooth and moist. Yellows include Yukon Gold, which is always used by the cooking cultivar. Specialty cultivars include colored cultivars and fingerlings. Commercial potatoes consumed in Spain are normally stored potatoes. The primary potato cultivar is Monalisa (26%) followed by Agata (16%), Kennebec (16%), Caesar (8%), Agria (4%) and Red Pontiac (3%); the potato consumition rate in 2010 was 23.13 kg·person⁻¹·year⁻¹ (Ministerio de Agricultura Alimentación y Medio Ambiente, 2010).

1.3 Physiochemical properties

The potato tuber is a rich source of nutrients and energy. It is a good source of carbohydrates, proteins, vitamins, minerals, fiber, and antioxidants (Andre et al., 2007). The major carbohydrate in the potato tubers is starch, which contributes about 65-80% of the dry weight of the tubers (Cutter, 1992). Other important tuber carbohydrates include the sugars and dietary fiber. The sugar content may vary from only amouts to as much as 10% of the dry weight (Lisinska & Leszczynski, 1989). Furthermore, bioactive compounds as sencondary plant metabolites found in the potato and other plants have been the subject of interest for the researchers because of their health-modulators. The phenolic compounds, as one of the most bioactive compounds present in the potato tubers (Lisinska & Leszczynski, 1989).

	Content (%)	
Substance	Range	Mean
Dry matter	13.1-36.8	23.7
Starch	8.0-29.4	17.5
Reducing sugars	0.0-5.0	0.3
Total sugar	0.05-8.0	0.5
Crude fiber	0.17-3.48	0.71
Pectic substances	0.2-1.5	-
Total nitrogen	0.11-0.74	0.32
Crude protein (total nitrogen \times 6.25)	0.69-4.63	2.00
Protein nitrogen in total nitrogen	27.3-73.4	54.7
Amide nitrogen	0.029-0.052	-
Amino acid nitrogen	0.065-0.098	-
Nitrates	0.0-0.05	-
Lipids	0.02-0.2	0.12
Ash	0.44-1.87	1.10
Organic acids	0.4-1.0	0.6
Ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic	1.0-54.0	10.0-25.0
acid*		
Glycoalkaloids*	0.2-41.0	3.0-10.0
Phenolic compounds*	5.0-30.0	-

Table 1.1 Chemical	composition of	potato tubers
--------------------	----------------	---------------

*In mg/100 gfw

(Lisinska & Leszczynski, 1989)

1.3.1 Carbohydrates

Starch is a major product of many economically important crops, such as wheat, rice, maize, tapioca, and potato. Starch content varies with cultivar and plant growth stage (Agrawal et al., 2005; Li et al., 2006). The starch contributes to the texture, consistency and organoleptic qualities of the prepared food (Tharanathan, & Tharanathan, 2001). Starch is generally classified into rapidly digestible starch, slowly digestible starch and resistant

starch (RS), according to the rate and extent of its digestion (Song et al., 2010). The resistant starch is a form of starch or fractions of starch that is not hydrolyzed by enzymes in human digestive system (Haralampu, 2000) because of its crystalline nature and the ratio of amylose and amylopectin (Englyst et al., 1992). RS is in its own right valuable as a form of prebiotic carbohydrate fiber that may protect against cancer of the colon (Bird & Topping, 2001). Methods of food processing and cultivar affect the glycemic index of potatoes. The starch granules in potatoes were broken during cooking facilitating hydrolysis by pancreatic α -amylase, which consequently increases the glycemic index of cooked potatoes (Odenigbo et al., 2012). In addition, the resistant starch value of processed potato is lower compared to the resistant starch content in raw potato.

The sugars in potatoes are majority in the form of reducing monosaccharides such as D-glucose and D-fructose and non reducing disaccharides such as sucrose. The sugar content of potato varies with cultivars, storage and processing conditions. The sugar content is different depending on the part of the potato tuber (bud-end, stem-end and cortex). Weaver et al. (1978) reported that the higher amount of reducing sugars was in the cortex than bud-end and stem-end; however, the sucrose content was uniform throughout. The low temperature (0-6 °C) generally increases the sweetness of potatoes. In addition, Kumar et al. (2004) reported that the tubers stored at 8-12 °C had lower sugar concentration than that stored at 4-6 °C and the potatoes are generally stored at 8-12 °C (Takada et al., 2005). Sugars in foods play mutifounctional roles, such as wetness, flavor, texture, etc. The reaction of a carbonyl group of reducing sugars (glucose and frucose) with the amino acids present in the potato tubers resulting in the browning reaction (Maillard reaction) with special flavor compunds (Pedreschi et al., 2009).

1.3.2 Phenolic compounds

The phenolic compounds represent a large group of minor plant products, which play an important role in determining the organoleptic properties of many kinds of fruits and

vegetables. The potatoes are also good source of phenolics (Brown, 2005). In the potato tubers, the phenolic compounds are mainly located in the potato peel and adhesive tissue cortex, and the content of phenolics decrease towards the center of the tuber (Weshahy & Rao, 2009). The phenolic compounds may degrade during extraction and storage conditions. In addition, the phenolic compounds may hydrolysis when exposed to high temperature, light and different storage conditions. Chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid are two of the most prominent phenolic acids reported in the potato tubers followed by protocatechuic acid, trans-cinnamic acid, para-coumaric acid, ferulic acid, vanillic acid, gallic acid, syringic acid and salicylic acid (Shakya & Navarre, 2006).

Potato peel is often wasted as the by-product of the potato processing industry. However, it is well know that they are rich in phenolics. Singh & Rajini (2008) analyzed the phenolic content in potato peel and it was found to offer significant protection to human erythrocyte membrane proteins from oxidative damage induced by ferrous-ascorbate. Current researches are primarily focused on phenolic compounds, responsible for antioxidant activity (Kaur, & Kapoor, 2002). Besides their antioxidant activity, the compounds also attracted great interests of scientists due to their health protecting properties. Therapeutic effects such as antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, antiallergic, antimutagentic, antiviral, antineoplastic, antithrombotic, and vasodilatory activity have been attributed to phenolic compounds (Deuber et al., 2012).

1.3.3 Physical properties

Color is one of the main qualities of fresh potatoes commonly used as selection criterion by the consumers and the fresh-cut industry, as well as an indicator of the overall quality and maturity stage of the product. Color varies among potatoes can be affected by cultivars and pre-harvest factors such as plant nutrition, seasonality, climate conditions, temperature, relative humidity, storage time, and postharvest handing conditions.

For all color parameters, the extent of color change in cooked potatoes was dependent on the

length of storage and storage temperature, higher temperatures and longer storage time resulting in larger changes (Nourian et al., 2003). Texture is generally described as a multi-parameter attribute, usually associated with mechanical, geometrical and acoustic parameters (Szczesniak, 1987). A recommended assay to study the texture of potato tubers is the textural analysis, including the textural profile analysis (TPA) and shear force, The instrumental tests used to measure the texture of solid foods, maybe perfectly valid for semisolid food products, with the advantage that they provide a rapid way of ascertaining and characterizing product texture (Canet et al., 2005). The texture of the raw potatoes is determined by several mutually dependent factors like cultivars, the agronomic, storage conditions, etc. Changes in texture that occur during processing result from changes in the chemistry of cell wall and middle lamella hydrophilic polymer material that affect the physical properties. However, the starch is the major component of the dry matter in potato cultivars. It can be assumed that the phenomena associated with gelatinization are involved in the texture changes during processing (Alvarez et al., 2001). In addition, Potatoes rich in dry matter can exhibit hard texture, whereas potatoes low in dry matter are characterized by greasy and sticky textures (Kita, 2002).

1.4 Effect of the cooking methods on potato properties

The consumption of fresh potato is decreasing because of some quality issues. Mainly, potato cultivars are not use properly in terms of industry processing or culinary methods. It included lower quality potato products or dishes, after-cooking darkness of potato, and the effect of cooking method in the bioactive compounds of potato that affect the cooked potato products and are not as widely studied. Traditionally, there are three popular methods to cook the potatoes: boiling, baking and frying. Nowadays, microwave is becoming also common method to cook them, but only a few studies determine the aptitude of the potato cultivars on being processed depending on their composition.

Boiling

Boiling reduced or, in some cases, enhanced the physiochemical compounds content of potato genotypes with respect to uncooked samples. As the Table 1.2 showed, different boiling conditions have significantly effect on the properties of potato tubers. From these research works, we can know that the shorter boiling time increased or did not change the total phenolic content, the antioxidant activity and the chlorogenic acid content (Navarre et al., 2010; Perla et al., 2012; Blessington et al., 2010; Lachman et al., 2013; Dao & Friedman, 1992; Mulinacci et al., 2008). The conflict of TPC after heat-treatments was due to the genotype of each cultivar and cooking conditions. The heat treatments may inactivate polyphenol oxidases preventing oxidation and polymerization of polyphenols, and the treatments could promote the release of dietary fiber-bound polyphenols forming the free phenolic compounds (Palermo et al., 2014). The reducing of TPC after cooking treatments was attributed to water-soluble phenolics leaching into the water (boiling) and the breakdown of the phenolics (Palermo et al., 2014). The boiling methods also led to the loss of the total starch and resistant starch of potato samples (Mulinacci et al., 2008). The texture of cooked potatoes depends on the cooking conditions as a result of various factors such as starch gelatinization, pectin degradation, cell wall breakdown, cell separation, etc. (Nourian et al., 2003). The textural properties were directly affected by cooking temperature/time conditions. As expected, cooked samples showed lower values compared with raw potatoes (Alvarez & Canet, 1998) and the softening of the potato tissues were remarkable different between cultivars (Alvarez et al., 2001), but when at 70 and 80 °C showed qualitatively similar softening curves. In addition, after being cooked, L* values decreased significantly which means that the potato samples get darker (Nourian et al., 2003).

т	. 1	
In	trod	11Ction
	uou	ucuon

Table 1.2 Effect of boiling processing condition on nutritional compositions of potatoes					
	Processing conditions				
Physiochemical composition	Time	Conclusions	Reference		
Total phenolics (TP)	18 min	increased 71.3% of the amount of TP	Navarre et al., 2010		
	60 min	42.9% loss of the total phenolics	Perla et al., 2012		
Antioxidant acitivity (AC)	60 min	decreased 38.74% of the amount of the original AC (DPPH radical	Perla et al., 2012		
		scavenging assay)			
	25 min	increased the amount AC compared to uncooked potatoes	Blessington et al., 2010		
	18 min	increased 14.98% of the amount of AC	Navarre et al., 2010		
Chlorogenic acid	18 min	increased 32.8% of the content compared to uncooked potatoes	Navarre et al., 2010		
	15 min	decreased to 52% of the original amount	Lachman et al., 2013		
	30 min	60% loss of their original chlorogenic acid content	Dao, & Friedman, 1992		
	20 min	did not change the chlorogenic acid content of potatoes	Mulinacci et al., 2008		
Total anthocyanin content (TAC)	15 min	increased TAC 4.2 times compared to uncooked potato tubers	Lachman et al., 2012		
	10 min	decreased by nearly half compared with the raw potato (using	Kim et al., 2012		
		boiling-steamed method at 121°C)			

Table 1.2 (Continued)			
Physiochemical composition	Processing conditions	Conclusions	Reference
	Time		
Total anthocyanin content	15 min	increased 3.79 times of the original amount TAC	Lachman et al. 2013
(TAC)			
	20 min	significantly decreased the anthocyanin content of the colored cultivars.	Mulinacci et al., 2008
Total starch	20 min	14.72-21.89% loss compared to uncooked potatoes	Mulinacci et al., 2008
Resistant starch	20 min	1.76-4.18% loss compared to uncooked potatoes	Mulinacci et al., 2008
Texture	15 min	The shear force was 945.6 N and 82.02 N, respectively for the fresh and cooked cylindrical	Alvarez & Canet, 1998
		potato samples.	
	120 min	The softening curves obtained for each of the mechanical testes performed in a range of	Alvarez et al., 2001
		temperature studied, and found that at 70 and 80 °C showed qualitatively similar softening	
		curves.	
Color	10 min	A steady decrease in L* value of cooked cylindrical pieces of potatoes, demonstrating a	Nourian et al., 2003
		progressive loss in brightness. The total color difference, ΔE , increased and the changes	
		were clearly temperature dependent.	

10

Baking

Baking is a complex process which involves many physical, chemical and biochemical changes in food. In particular, during potatoes baking the starch gelatinization occurs including palatability, digestibility and softening to the raw starch matrix, and the heat is transferred into the potato tubers mainly by convection from the heating media (Barba et al., 2008). From the Table 1.3, we can know that there was lots of discrepancy about physiochemical compounds of potato samples, which could be due to the different processing conditions. Garcia-Alonso & Goni (2000) stated that the average content of total starch slightly decreased by boiling and baking in potato cultivars compared with the original value of raw potatoes and the baking potato samples had lower total starch values than boiled ones, which may be due to the gelatinization during baking and microwaving was more than boiling. It also found that the RS content retention of the baking was higher than the retention of the boiling in all tested cultivars, and the amount of RS depends on the degree of gelatinization and retrogradation during cooling of the potato products. The lower temperature and shorter time increased the bioactive compounds content (phenolics, chlorogenic acid, antioxidant acitivity, and anthocyanin) of potato samples (Perla et al., 2012; Navarre et al., 2010; Blessington et al., 2010; Lachman et al., 2013; Dao, & Friedman, 1992; Im et al., 2008; Lachman et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012). Therefore, the baking temperature and time are very important for this method. However, no reference was found to evaluate the effect of baking conditions on the physical properties of potatoes.

Table 1.3 Effect of baking processing condition on nutritional compositions of potatoes					
	Processing conditions				
Physiochemical composition	Temperature	Time	Conclusions	Reference	
Total phenolics (TP)	204 °C	60 min	54.0% loss of the total phenolics	Perla et al., 2012	
	375 °C	30 min	increased 120% of the amount of extractable phenolics	Navarre et al., 2010	
Antioxidant acitivity (AC)	204 °C	60 min	decreased 57.13% of the amount of the original AC (DPPH radical scavenging assay)	Perla et al., 2012	
	204 °C	15 min	increased the AC compared to uncooked potatoes	Blessington et al., 2010	
	375 °C	30 min	increased 29.97% of the amount of AC	Navarre et al., 2010	
Chlorogenic acid	375 °C	30 min	increased 24.6% of the original chlorogenic acid content	Navarre et al., 2010	
	180 °C	45 min	decreased to 37% compared to the raw potatoes	Lachman et al., 2013	
	212 °C	45 min	contained 0% of the original amount of chlorogenic acid	Dao, & Friedman, 1992	
	200 °C	10 min	contained 90% to 100% of the chlorogenic acid and its isomer	Im et al., 2008	

12

Table 1.3 (Continued)					
	Processing conditions				
Physiochemical composition	Temperature	Time	Conclusions	Reference	
Total anthocyanin content (TAC)	180 °C	40 min	increased TAC 3.34 times compared to the uncooked potatoes	Lachman et al., 2012	
	200 °C	40-50 min	decreased 19.07% of TAC	Kim et al., 2012	
	180 °C	45 min	increased 2.94 times of TAC	Lachman et al., 2013	
Total starch	200 °C	50 min	decreased to 65.91% of potato samples (79.36% of the fresh potatoes)	Garcia-Alonso & Goni, 2000	
Resistant starch	200 °C	50 min	decreased significantly to 3.7% of potato samples (69.05% of fresh potatoes)	Garcia-Alonso & Goni, 2000	

13

Microwaving

In recent years, many researches focused on studying the treatments to obtain the products which keep the majority of their original properties. The best potato processing treatments should be low loss of volatiles, flavors, color, texture, and nutritional compounds. Actually, there are lots of benefits in microwave processing for potato tubers, such as reductions in manufacturing costs due to energy saving and shorter processing times, improving product uniformity and yields (Barba et al., 2008). Blessington et al. (2010) reported that boiling resulted in significantly lower antioxidant activity and total phenolics content, as compared to baking, frying and microwaving. Baking, frying, and microwaving also increased the levels of chlorogenic acid, caffeic acid, (-) epicatechin, p-coumaric acid and vanillic acid, but decreased quercetin dehydrate when compared to uncooked potato samples. In recent years, there are some research works on the effect of microwaving on potato physiochemical properties. However, similar with other cooking methods, the results of their studies were conflicted (Table 1.4).

The microwaving performed at 500 W reduced the phenolic content. This reduction was significantly lower than other different power levels (Barba et al., 2008). The shorter microwaving time increased the antioxidant acitivity and chlorogenic acid content (Blessington et al., 2010; Navarre et al., 2010; Dao, & Friedman, 1992). The microwaving methods led to the loss of the total starch and resistant starch (Mulinacci et al., 2008). However, the results about the effect of microwaving on the total anthocyanin content were aslo conflicted (Lachman et al., 2012; Lachman et al., 2013; Mulinacci et al., 2008), which may also be due to the different potato cultivars. Until now, still no reference introduce the changing of physical properties (color and texture).

τ.			•
Int	trod	luct	10n
III	սօս	ιucι	IOII.

	Processing conditions				
Physiochemical composition	Power (w) Time		Conclusions	Reference	
Total phenolics (TP)	1100W	2.5min	increased 31.1% of the amount of the original TP content	Navarre et al., 2010	
	-	10min	decreased 51.1% of the TP original content	Perla et al., 2012	
	750W	2min	32.10% loss of TP content	Barba et al., 2008	
	500W	2min	3.99% loss of TP content	Barba et al., 2008	
	300W	2min	26.53% loss of TP content	Barba et al., 2008	
Antioxidant acitivity (AC)	-	10min	decreased 48.58% of the AC amount (DPPH radical scavenging assay)	Perla et al., 2012	
	800W	2.5min	increased 68.18% of the AC amount compared to uncooked potatoes	Blessington et al., 2010	
	1100W	2.5min	increased 29.97% of the amount of the original AC content	Navarre et al., 2010	
Chlorogenic acid	-	2.5min	increased 41.0% of the chlorogenic acid content	Navarre et al., 2010	
	750W	10min	decreased to 28% of the original chlorogenic acid content	Lachman et al., 2013	
	-	30min	45% loss of the chlorogenic acid content of potatoes.	Dao, & Friedman, 1992	
Total anthocyanin content (TAC)	900W	9min	increased TAC 1.08 times compared to uncooked potatoes	Lachman et al., 2012	
	750W	10min	increased TAC 3.06 times compared to uncooked potatoes	Lachman et al., 2013	
	700W	8min	decreased 16-19% of TAC compared to uncooked potatoes	Mulinacci et al., 2008	
Total starch	700W	8min	19.61-32.14% loss compared to uncooked potatoes	Mulinacci et al., 2008	
Resistant starch	700W	8min	2.68-6.31% loss compared to uncooked potatoes	Mulinacci et al., 2008	

1.5 Frying and acrylamide formation

Frying has been defined as the immersion of a food product in edible oil above the boiling point of water (Hubbard & Farkas, 1999), with color, texture and flavor development. It is a complex process because of the two mass transfers in opposite directions within the material being fried: for starchy products, water and some soluble material escape from the products and oil enters the food (Blumenthal & Stier, 1991). Acrylamide is a by-product of the Maillard reaction in food processed at temperature>120 °C (Mottram et al., 2002; Stadler et al., 2002) that is a neurotoxin in humans and it has been considered as a probable human carcinogen (Hogervorst et al., 2007; Pedreschi et al., 2004).

The reports of acrylamide intake indicates that fried potato products, bread and bakery products, coffee and breakfast cereals are the food commodities that contribute the most for the dietary acrylamide exposure (Vinci et al., 2012). The content of acrylamide was dependent on factors such as storage, cooking temperature and time, and the amount of reducing sugars and free amino acids like asparagine present in fresh potatoes (Cheong et al., 2005; Halford et al., 2012). Different strategies are proposed for reducing the acrylamide formation in the "Toolbox" by Food Drink Europe

(http://www.fooddrinkeurope.eu/uploads/publications_documents/Toolboxfinal260911.pdf). Researches and industry need to find the solutions to reduce or prevent acrylamide formation, but no legal limits have been established for this contaminant in foods, especially the frying potato products.

1.5.1 Pathways for acrylamide formation

Several methanistic pathways have been proposed on the formation of acrylamide during food processing. The major pathway established for acrylamide formation in foods is the Maillard reaction, with the free asparagine and reducing sugar as the main precursors (Mottram et al., 2002; Stadler et al., 2002). The major mechanism of acrylamide formation

involves the reaction of a carbonyl compounds with asparagine, resulting in the decarboxylated Schiff base (Stadler et al., 2004). However, this reaction involves some different highly reaction intermediates resulting in acrylamide formation. Mottram et al. (2002) suggested that α -dicarbonyls are necessary coreactants in the Strecker degration reaction affording the Strecker aldehyde as the precursor of acrylamide. In addition, Stadler et al. (2002) proposed that glycoconjugates, such as *N*-glycosides and related compounds formed in early phase of the Maillard reaction, as the key intermediates leading to acrylamide. In addition to these pathways, acrylamide can be formed via acrolein and acrylic acid (Yasuhara et al., 2003). It reported that the oxidative lipid degradation released acrolein leading to acrylic acid, which can react with ammonia to give acrylamide. Acrylic acid can also be generated from asparagine (Stadler et al., 2003).

1.5.2 Factors involved in acrylamide formation

The reducing sugar and asparagines, as the acrylamide precursors, are very important for reducing the acrylamide content in frying potato strips. As one of strategies for reducing the acrylamide formation, the potato cultivars selection is also necessary and very important. The relationship between the asparagine and reducing sugar content in raw potato tubers and acrylamide formation during heat-treatments is complicated. Vinci et al. (2012) reported that asparagine concentrations are relatively in excess compared to reducing sugar content will largely determine the acrylamide formation in frying potato products. However, Shepherd et al. (2010) found that asparagine and sugar concentrations contributed approximately equally to the acrylamide formation. Moreover, Halford et al. (2012) suggested that when sugar concentration was relatively high, acrylamide formation during processing was proportional to sugar content. The correlation between reducing sugar and acrylamide formation

has been demonstrated by several researches, but sucrose presented no correlation with the acrylamide level (Vinci et al., 2012; Amrein et al., 2003).

Frying conditions dramatically affect the acrylamide formation of frying potato products. Vinci et al. (2012) reported that the frying time and oil temperature should be controlled in order to reduce the high acrylamide content, and the temperature should not exceed the 170-175 °C, which was due to the lower temperature towards the end of Maillard reaction may reduce acrylamide formation. The longer frying periods would be resulted in higher acrylamide content. Tareke et al. (2002) conducted experiments to monitor the formation of acrylamide during processing, and showed that the acrylamide content was dependent on the temperature and it increased with the temperature increasing. However, some researches found that the higher temperature may decrease the acrylamide formation, and this reduction was not altered in the presence of polymerization inhibitors, indicating that under these conditions the decrease of acrylamide content already occurs below the melting point and is mainly due to degradation rather than polymerization (Becalski et al., 2004; Biedermann et al., 2002).

During frying process, oil is used as the heating medium and an ingredient producing calorific products. Recent studies have indicated that lipid oxidation positively influenced the formation of acrylamide (Zamora & Hidalgo, 2008; Lim et al., 2014). Bouchon et al. (2003) analyzed three different oil fractions to identify the different absorption mechanisms in fried potato cylinders: structure oil which represents the oil absorbed during frying; penetrated surface oil which represents the oil suctioned into the food during cooling after removal from the fryer; surface oil which is the oil that remains on the surface. It concluded that a small amount of oil penetrates during frying because most oil was picked up at the end of the process. The oil uptake was dependent on several factors (frying temperature, moisture content, oil types and particle size). Moyano & Pedreschi (2006) stated that the high temperature causes partial evaporation of water, which moves away from the food and through the surrounding oil, and a certain amount of oil is absorbed by the food. Moreira et

al. (1997) found that higher initial moisture content and smaller particle size produced a final product with higher oil content, and they found the ration of water evaporated and the final oil conten was independent of the oil temperature used. Several procedures have been used to reduce the content of oil in fried potatoes. Rubnov & Saguy (1997) found that adding the fructose reduced the oil uptake after frying. Soaking of potato strips in NaCl solutions and pre-drying of potatoes could also reduce the oil uptake in the final frying products (Moyano et al., 2002).

Color of fried potatoes is an important parameter to be controlled during processing together with textural parameters, oil uptake and acrylamide content. In addition, color of fried potato products is the result of Maillard reaction and it dependent on the reducing sugar content, the frying temperature and period (Marquez & Anon, 1986). Marquez & Anon (1986) found that both reducing sugars and amino acids participated into the color development during frying and the reducing sugars was the limiting factor. Lightness (L^*) of frying potato chips decreased with the frying temperature and time increasing since the chips get darker; a^* increased and means the potato chips get more red, with both the frying temperature and time increasing as a result of Maillard reaction (Pedreschi et al., 2006). They also reported that not only L^* but also a^* presented good correaltions with the acrylamide formation of frying potaton chips ($r^2=0.79$ and 0.83, respectively). The degree of browning development during frying is related to the pre-treatments employed. Blanching reduces the L^* and a^* values of frying potato products due to the leaching out of reducing sugars previous to frying, inhibiting in this way non-enzymatic browning reactions and leading to lighter and less dark products (Pedreschi et al., 2004).

Pedreschi & Moyano (2005) stated that the normalized maximum force was the parameter used to model the textural changes in the frying potato slices both the initial tissue softening process and the later crust development process. They also found that when frying at 120 °C, potato chips were crispier than potato chips fried at 180 °C, and the blanching significant increased the crispness after frying.

Table 1.5 Effect of frying processing condition on physical and acrylamide formation of potatoes.						
Physiochemical	Processing conditions					
composition	Temperature	Time	oil	Conclusions	References	
Acrylamide content	170°C	5min	extra virgin olive oil	The acrylamide content ranged from below the limit of detection to 870.33 ng/g fw.	Marchettini et al., 2013	
	170°C	5min	mixed seed oil	The acrylamide content ranged from 248.36 to 846.79 ng/g fw.	Marchettini et al., 2013	
	170°C	5min	peanuts oil	The acrylamide content was from below the limit of detection to 1616.15 ng/g fw.	Marchettini et al., 2013	
	150-190°C	6.5-11min	vegetable oil	The reduction of the frying temperature from 190 to 170°C and to 150°C, decreased acrylamide formation with 21% and 66%, respectively.	Pedreschi et al., 2006	
	150-190°C	6.5-11min	vegetable oil	Long time blanching treatments such as that of 50°C for 80 min and 70°C for 45min resulted in the lowest levels of acrylamide formation (342 and 538 μ g/kg, respectively).	Pedreschi et al., 2006	
	150-190°C	6.5-11min	vegetable oil	Strip immersion in sodium pyrophosphate solution of 10 g/L reduced acrylamide formation ranged from 7% to 30%.	Pedreschi et al., 2006	
	150-190°C	6.5-11min	vegetable oil	Strip immersion in citric acid solution of 10 g/L reduced significantly acrylamide formation from 28% to 86% .	Pedreschi et al., 2006	
	170-190°C	1min25s -1min 50s	sunflower oil	The acrylamide content of potato frying chips increased with the frying temperature (19.6ng/g at 170°C, 39ng/g at 180°C, and 95ng/g at 190°C).	Palazoglu et al., 2010	
Introduction

Table 1.5 Effect of frying processing condition on physical and acrylamide formation of potatoes.							
Physiochemical composition	Processing conditions						
	Temperature Time oil		oil	Conclusions	References		
Color	150-190°C	6.5-11min	vegetable oil	The frying temperature increased from 150 to 190 $^\circ C$, the potato chips get more red and darker.	Pedreschi et al., 2006		
	150-190°C	6.5-11min	vegetable oil	Blanching reduced the L * and a* values of potato chips	Pedreschi et al., 2006		
Texture	120-180 °C	-	vegetable oil	Frying at 120 °C, potato chips were crispier than potato chips fried at 180°C.	Pedreschi & Moyano, 2005		
Oil uptake	120-180 °C	-	vegetable oil	Potato strips fried at 120°C contained more oil more than chips fried at 180°C.	Pedreschi & Moyano, 2005		

1.6 References

- Agrawal, M., Pradeep, S., Chandraraj, K., Gummadi, S.N. (2005). Hydrolysis of starch by amylase from Bacillus sp. KCA 102: a statistical approach. *Process Biochemistry*, 40, 2499–2507.
- Alvarez, M.D., Canet, W., & Tortosa, M.E. (2001). Kinetics of thermal softening of potato tissue (cv. Monalisa) by water heating. European Food Research and Technology, 212, 588-596.
- Alvarez, M.D., & Canet, W. (1998). Rheological characterization of fresh and cooked potato tissues (cv. Monalisa). *Z Lebensm Unters Forsch A*, 207, 55-65.
- Amrein, T.M., Bachmann, S., Noti, A., Biedermann, M., Barbosa, M.F., Biedermann-Brem, S., Grob, K., Keiser, A., Realini, P., Escher, F., & Amado, R. (2003). Potential of acrylamide formation, sugars, and free asparagine in potatoes: A comparison of cultivars and farming systems. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51, 5556-5560.
- Andre, C.M., Ghislain, M., Bertin, P., Oufir, M., Del Rosario Herrera, M., Hoffmann, L., Hausman, J.F., Larondelle, Y., & Evers, D. (2007). Andean potato cultivars (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) as a source of antioxidant and mineral micronutrients. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, 55, 366-378.
- Anonymous. (2011). "Colorado Potatoes." Retrieved 15th November, 2011, from <u>http://www</u>.coloradopotato.org/.
- Barba, A.A., Calabretti, A., Amore, M., Piccinelli, A.L., & Rastrelli, L. (2008). Phenolic constituents levels in cv. Agria potato under microwave processing. *Food Science and Technology*, 41, 1919-1926.
- Becalski, A., Lau, B., Lewis, D., Seaman, S., Hayward, S., Sahagian, M., Ramesh, M., & Leclerc, Y. (2004). Acryalmide in French fries: influence of free amino acids and sugars. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52, 3801-3806.

- Biedermann, M., Noti, A., Biedermann-Brem, S., Mozzetti, V., & Grob, K. (2002). Experiments on acrylamide formation and possibilities to decrease the potential of acrylamide formation in potatoes. *Mitteilungen aus Lebensmitteluntersuchung und Hygiene, 93*, 668-687.
- Bird, A.R., & Topping, D.L. (2001). Resistant starches, fermentation, and large bowel health. In: Cho, S.S., Dreher, M.L. (Eds.). Handbook of Dietary Fiber. Marcel Dekker, Inc, New York, PP. 147-158.
- Blessington, T., Nzaramba, M.N., Scheuring, D.C., Hale, A.L., Reddivari, L., & Miller, J.C. (2010). Cooking methods and storage treatments of potato: Effects on carotenoids, antioxidant activity, and phenolics. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 87(6), 479-491.
- Blumenthal, M.M., & Stier, R.F. (1991). Optimization of deep-fat frying operations. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, *2*, 144-148.
- Bouchon, P., Aguilera, J.M., & Pyle, D.L. (2003). Structure oil absorption relationships during deep-fat frying. *Journal of Food Science*, 68, 2711-2716.
- Brown, C.R. (2005). Antioxidants in potato. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 82(2), 163-172.
- Canet, W., Alvarez, M.D., Fernandez, C., & Tortosa, M.E. (2005). The effect of sample temperature on instrumental and sensory properties of mashed potato products. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 40, 481-493.
- Cheong, T.K., Hwang, E., & Hyong, L. (2005). Reducing acrylamide in fried snack products by adding amino acids. *Journal of Food Science*, *70*, 354-357.
- Cutter, E.G. (1992). Structure and development of the potato plant. In: Harris, P.M. (Ed), the potato crop: The scientific basis for improvement. *Chapman and Hall, New York*, 65-161.
- Dao, L., & Friedman, M. (1992). Chlorogenic acid content of fresh and processed potatoes determined by ultraviolet spectrophotometry. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 40(11), 2152-2156.

- Deuber, H., Guignard, C., Hoffmann, L., & Evers, D. (2012). Polyphenol and glycoalkaloid contents in potato cultivars grown in Luxembourg. *Food Chemistry*, 135, 2814-2824.
- Englyst, H.N., Kingman, S.M., & Cumming, J.H. (1992). Classification and measurement of nutritionally important starch fractions. *European Journal of clinical Nutrition*, 46, 33-50.
- Garcia-Alonso, A., & Goni, I. (2000). Effect of processing on potato starch: In vitro availability and glycaemic index. *Starch/Starke*. *52*, 81-84.
- Halford, N.G., Muttucumaru, N., Powers, S.J. Gillatt, P.N., Hartley, L., Elmore, J.S., & Mottram, D.S. (2012). Concentrations of free amino acids and sugars in nine potato varieties: Effect of storage and relationship with acrylamide formation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60, 12044-12055.
- Haralampu, S. (2000). Resistant starch-a review of the physical properties and biological impact of RS3. *Carbohydrates Polymers*, 41(3), 285-292.
- Hogervorst, J.G., Schouten, L.J., Konings, E.J., Goldbohm, R.A., & Van den Brandt, P.A. (2007). A prospective study of dietary acrylamide intake and the risk of endometrial, ovarian, and breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 16, 2304-13.
- Hubbard, L.J., & Farkas, B.E. (1999). A method for determining the convective heat transfer coefficient during immersion frying. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, 22, 201-214.
- Im, H., Suh, B.B., Lee, S.U., Kozukue, N., Ohnisi-Kameyama, M., Levin, C.E., & Friedman, M. (2008). Analysis of phenolic compounds by high-performance liquid chromatography and liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry in potato plant flowers, leaves, stems, and tubers and in home-processed potatoes. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(9), 3341-3349.
- Kaur, C., & Kapoor, H.C. (2002). Antioxidant activity and total phenolic content of some Asian vegetables. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 37, 153-161.

- Kim, H.W., Kim, J.B., Cho, S.M., Chung, M.N., Lee, Y.M., Chu, S.M., Che, J.H., Kim, S.N., Kim, S.Y., Cho, Y.S., Kim, J.H., Park, H.J., & Lee, D.J. (2012). Anthocyanin changes in the Korean purple-fleshed sweet potato, Shinzami, as affected by steaming and baking. *Food Chemistry*, 130(4), 966-972.
- Kita, A. (2002). Physicochemical properties of starches during potato growth. *Food chemistry*, 76, 173-179.
- Kumar, D., Singh, B.P., & Kumar, P. (2004). An overview of the factors affecting sugar content of potatoes. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *145*, 247-256.
- Lachman, J., Hamouz, K., Orsak, M., Pivec, V., Hejtmankova, K., Pazderu, K., Dvorak, P., & Cepi, J. (2012). Impact of selected factors-Cultivar, storage, cooking and baking on the content of anthocyanins in coloured-flesh potatoes. *Food Chemistry*, 133, 1107-1116.
- Lachman, J., Hamouz, K., Musilova, J., Hejtmankova, K., Kotikova, Z., Pazderu, K., Domkarova, J., Pivec, V., & Cimr, J. (2013). Effect of peeling and three cooking methods on the content of selected phytochemicals in potato tubers with various colour of flesh. *Food Chemistry*, 138, 1189-1197.
- Li, X., Scanlon, M.G., Liu, Q., & Coleman, W.K. (2006). Processing and value addition. In J. Gopal & A. M. P. Khurana (Eds.), Potato Production Improvement and Post-harvest Management. New York: Haworth Press, 523-555.
- Lim, P.K., Jinap, S., Sanny, M., Tan, C.P., & Khatib, A. (2014). The influence of deep frying using various vegetables oils on acrylamide formation in sweet potato (*Ipomoea batatas L. Lam*) chips. *Journal of Food Science*, 79(1), 115-121.
- Lisinska, G., & Leszczynski, W. (1989). Potato science and technology. *Elselvier Applied Science. London and New York*, 1-140.
- Marquez, G., & Anon, M.C. (1986). Influence of reducing sugars and amino acids in the color development of fried potatoes. *Journal of Food Science*, *51*, 157-160.

- Ministerio de Agricultura Alimentación y Medio Ambiente, Estudio de la Cadenade Valor y Formaciónde Precios del Sectorde laPatata Fresca de Consumo. [Online]. (2010). Available:<u>http://www.magrama.gob.es/es/alimentacion/servicios/observatorio-de-precioss-de-los-alim entos/ESTUDIO PATATA 14112010 tcm7-182793</u>. pdf [10 September 2014].
- Moreira, R.G., Sun, X., & Chen, Y. (1997). Factors affecting oil uptake in tortilla chips in deep-fat frying. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *31*, 485-498.
- Mottram, D.S., Wedzicha, B.L., & Dodson, A.T. (2002). Food chemistry: Acrylamide is formed in the Maillard reaction. *Nature*, *419*, 448-449.
- Moyano, P.C., & Pedreschi, F. (2006). Kinetics of oil uptake during frying of potato slices: Effect of pre-treatments. *Food Science and Technology*, *39*, 285-291.
- Moyano, P.C., Rioseco, V.K., & Gonzalez, P.A. (2002). Kinetics of crust color changes during deep-fat frying of impregnated French fries. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 54, 249-255.
- Mulinacci, N., Leri, F., Giaccherini, C., Innocenti, M., Andrenelli, L., Canova, G., Saracchi, M., & Casiraghi, M.C. (2008). Effect of cooking on the anthocyanins, phenolic acids, glycoalkaloids, and resistant starch content in two pigmented cultivars of Solanum tuberosum L. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(24), 11830-11837.
- Murniece, I., Karklina, D., Galoburda, R., Santare, D., Skrabule, I., & Costa, H.S. (2011). Nutritional composition of freshly harvested and stored Latvian potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) varieties depending on traditional cooking methods. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 24, 699-710.
- Navarre, D., Shakya, R., Holden, J., & Kumar, S. (2010). The effect of different cooking methods on phenolics and vitamin C in developmentally young potato tubers. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 87(4), 350-359.
- Nourian, F., Ramaswamy, H.S., & Kushalappa, A.C. (2003). Kinetics changes in cooking quality of potatoes stored at different temperatures. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 60, 257-266.

- Odenigbo, A., Rahimi, J., Ngadi, M., Amer, S., & Mustafa, A. (2012). Starch digestibility and predicted glycemic index of fried sweet potato cultivars. *Founctional Foods in Health and Disease*, 2(7), 280-289.
- Palermo, M., Pellegrini, N., & Fogliano, V. (2014). The effect of cooking on the phytochemical content of vegetables. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 94, 1057-1070.
- Pedreschi, F., Travisany, X., Reyes, C., & Pedreschi, R. (2009). Kinetics of extraction of reducing sugar during blancing of potato slices. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 91, 443-447.
- Pedreschi, F., Kaack, K., & Granby, K. (2006). Acrylamide content and color development in fried potato strips. *Food Research International*, *39*, 40-46.
- Pedreschi, F., Kaack, K., & Granby, K. (2004). Reduction of acrylamide formation in potato slices during frying. *Food Science and Technology*, 37(6), 679-685.
- Pedreschi, F., & Moyano, P. (2005). Effect of pre-drying on texture and oil uptake of potato chips. *Food Science and Technology*, *38*, 599-604.
- Perla, V., Holm, D., & Jayanty, S.S. (2012). Effects of cooking methods on polyphenols, pigments and antioxidant activity in potato tubers. *Food Science and Technology*, 45, 161-171.
- Poberezny, J. (2010). Effect of physicochemical properties of starch on the tendency of potato tuber flesh to darkening and the processed product quality. *Starch*, 63, 106-116.
- Rubnov, M., & Saguy, I.S. (1997). Fractal analysis and crust water diffusivity of a restructured potato product during deep-fat frying. *Journal of Food Science*, 62, 135-137 154.
- Seefeldt, H.F., Tonning, E., Wiking, L., & Thybo, A.K. (2011). Appropriateness of culinary preparations of potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) varieties and relation to sensory and physicochemical properties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Science*, 91, 412-420.

- Shakya, R., & Navarre, D.A. (2006). Rapid screening of ascorbic acid, glycoalkaloids, and phenolics in potato using high-performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, 54(15), 5253-5260.
- Shepherd, L.V.T., Bradshaw, J.E., Dale, M.F.B., Mcnicol, J.W., Pont, S.D.A., Mottram, D.S., & Davies, H.V. (2010). Variation in acrylamide producing potential in potato: segregation of the trait in a breeding population. *Journal of Food Chemistry*, 123, 568-573.
- Singh, N., & Rajini. P.S. (2008). Antioxidant-mediated protactive effect of potato peel extract in erythrocytes against oxidative damage. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 173, 97-104.
- Song, W., Janaswamy, S., & Yao, Y. (2010). Structure and vitro digestibility of normal corn starch: Effect of acid treatment, autoclaving, and β-amylolysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 9753-9758.
- Stadler, R.H., Blank, I., Varga, N., Robert, F., Hau, J., Guy, P.A., Robert, M.C., & Riediker, S. (2002). Food chemistry: acrylamide from Maillard reaction products. *Nature*, 419(6906), 449-450.
- Stadler, R.H., Robert, F., Riediker, S., Varga, N., Davidek, T., Devaud, S., Goldmann, T., Hau, J., & Blank, I. (2004). In-depth mechanistic study on the formation of acrylamide and other vinylogous compounds by the Maillard reaction. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52, 5550-5558.
- Stadler, R.H., Verzegnassi, L., Varga, N., Grigorov, M., Studer, A., Riediker, S., & Schilter,
 B. (2003). Formation of vinylogous compounds in model Maillard reaction systems. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 16, 1242-1250.
- Szczesniak, A.S. (1987). Correlations sensory with instrumental texture measurements. An overview of recent developments. *Journal of Texture Studies*, *18*, 1-15.

- Takada, A.O., Endo, C.M., Chuda, Y., Yamauchi, H., & Mori, M. (2005). Change in content of sugars and free amino acids in potato tubers under short term storage at low temperature and the effect on acrylamide level of frying. *Bioscience, Biotechnology,* and Biochemistry, 69, 1232-1238.
- Tareke, E., Rydberg, P., Karlsson, P., Eriksson, S., & Tornqvist, M. (2002). Analysis of acrylamide, a carcinogen formed in heated foodstuffs. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 50, 4998-5006.
- Tharanathan, M., & Tharanathan, R.N. (2001). Resistant starch in wheat-based products: isolation and characterisation. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 34, 73-84.
- Vinci, R.M., Mestdagh, F., & Meulenaer, B.D. (2012). Acrylamide formation in fried potato products- Presents and future, a critical review on mitigation strategies. *Food Chemistry*, 133, 1138-1154.
- Weaver, M.L., Timm, H., Nonaka, M., Sayre, R.N., Reeve, R.M., McCready, R.M., & Whitehand, L.C. (1978). Potato composition: II. Tissue selection and its effects on total sugars, total reducing sugars, glucose, fructose and sucrose contents. *American Potato Journal*, 55, 83-93.
- Weshahy, A., & Rao, R.A. (2009). Isolation and characterization of functional components form peel samples of six potato varieties growing in Ontario. *Food Research International*, 41, 1062-1066.
- Yasuhara, A., Tanaka, Y., Hengel, M., & Shibamoto, T. (2003). Gas chromatographic investigation of acrylamide formation in browning model systems. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51(14), 3999-4003.
- Zamora, R., & Hidalgo, F.J. (2008). Contribution of lipid oxidation products to acrylamide formation in model systems. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, 56(15), 6075-80.

Chapter 2

Objectives

Objectives

The main purpose of this thesis was to study the effect of cooking processes: boiling, baking, microwaving and frying on the physical and chemical properties of potato cultivars consumed worldwide. In order to fulfill the main objective, the following particular objectives were defined,

- 1. To evaluate eight potato cultivars commonly consumed and study the relationship between their chemical and physical properties to determine their processing aptitude.
- 2. To study the effect of temperature and time of boiling, baking and microwaving treatments on the nutritional components and physical properties of commercial potato tubers selected.
- 3. To assess the frying temperature and time on acrylamide content and to study the relationship between acrylamide levels and the factors potentially involved in its formation.

Chapter 3

Working plan

3.1 Working plan

Potatoes are a nutritious foodstuff that is consumed after being cooked. Changes in potato properties related to the cooking methods involved physical and chemical modifications that are not clearly stated in deep. This thesis aimed to evaluate how the common culinary processes affect the properties of several potato cultivars that are widely consumed. Figure 3.1 summarizes the working plan of this research work. At first, it was of interest to assess the differences between eight of the most common consumed potato cultivars to understand their nutritional potential and feasibility to be processed. Secondly, the effects of the conditions of three cooking methods (boiling, baking and microwaving) were evaluated to state how the temperature and time of processing affected the main and minor components of four potato cultivars and their physical properties. Finally, in a third step, frying conditions were evaluated to understand how the properties of four fresh potato cultivars affect the quality of French fries and the acrylamide formation.



Figure 3.1 Working plan of the research work

3.2 Experiment setup

The experimental setup is showed in Figure 3.2. A set of experiments were conducted to accomplish the goals proposed in the working plan.

EXPRIMENTAL SETUP								
	EXPERIMENTS		CULTIVAR	PARAMETERS				
TASK 1	Characterization of flesh an	f fresh potatoes: d skin	Agata, Agria, Caesar, Cherie, Kennebec, Monalisa, Red Pontiac, Spirit	Agata, Agria, Caesar, Cherie, Kennebec, Monalisa, Red Pontiac, Spirit				
TASK 2	BOILING BAKING MICROWAVING	50 min 60 min 250°C / 60 min 220°C / 65 min 700W / 25 min	Agata, Caesar, Kennebec, Red Pontiac	DM, TS, RS, TPC, AA, Sugars, Texture, Color, Weight loss, <u>Cooking</u> degree and Cooking value				
560W / 35 min								
TASK 3	FRYING	190°C / 160 s 170°C / 240 s 150°C / 330 s	Agria, Kennebec, Red Pontiac	Sugars and Asparagine (fresh potato), Acrylamide, Oil uptake, Moisture content, Color and Texture				

Figure 3.2 Experiment setup

DM=Dry matter; TS= total starch; RS = Resistant starch; TPC = Total phenolics; AA=Antioxidant activity

Task 1 was an individual experiment. The properties of eight fresh potato cultivars (Red Pontiac, Caesar, Kennebec, Agria, Cherie, Agata, Monalisa and Spirit) commonly consumed were evaluated in order to classify the potato cultivars to establish their processing aptitude.

All the evaluations were conducted in triplicate samples of potatoes. Figure 3.3 shows the potato cultivars used in this study.

In Task 2, four cultivars (Kennebec, Red Pontiac, Caesar and Agata) were selected to evaluat the effect of cooking methods (boiling, baking and microwaving) on the physical and bioactive properties. Experiments were conducted in triplicate for each individual cultivar and analyses were done in triplicate.

In Task 3, Kennebec, Red Pontiac and Agria cultivars were used for the influence of the frying process and potato cultivar on acrylamide formation in French fries. Equally, experiments were conducted in triplicate for each individual potato cultivar and analyses were done in triplicate.



Figure 3.3 Potato cultivars assessed in this study

(a: Cherrie, b: Red Pontiac, c: Agria, d: Caesar, e: Agata, f: Spirit, g: Monalisa, h: Kennebec)

The description of the experimental procedure of each individual task is described in its specific chapter. All the methods of the analyses conducted are also explained in their specific chapter. Equally, the statistical analysis, including Analysis of the variance (ANOVA) and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) are showed in each chapter.

Chapter 4

Classfication of potato cultivars to establish their processing aptitute

This chapter has been published as:

Yang, Y., Achaerandio, I., & Pujola, M. (2015). Classification of potato cultivars to establish their processing aptitude. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, DOI: 10.1002/jsfa.7104.

Abstract

BACKGROUND: The commercial potato cultivars are diverse not only in their physical characteristics but also in their nutritional compositions and their content of functional compounds (resistant starch, total phenolic content and antioxidant activity), but there is little information about these differences. The aim of this study was to characterise the nutritional value (focusing on carbohydrates and functional compounds) and instrumental parameters of eight potato cultivars consumed in Spain and to determine whether these parameters are useful for classifying the cultivars.

RESULTS: Significant Pearson's correlations were found due to the common and complex interactions between the constituents of potatoes and their properties (P < 0.05). Principal component analysis revealed the correlations among the physicochemical properties, and the first two principal components explained 56.84% of the variance among the cultivars studied.

CONCLUSION: The eight cultivars could be classified into three groups: (1) Red Pontiac, Caesar, Kennebec, Agria and Cherie cultivars, (2) Agata and Monalisa cultivars and (3) Spirit cultivar. The results demonstrated that certain nutritional and functional parameters indicated the potential efficacy of different cultivars to satisfy the nutritional needs of consumers, improving the knowledge on the biochemical basis of potato processing to obtain higher-quality products.

Keywords: total starch; resistant starch; total phenolic content; reducing sugars; organic acids

4.1 Introduction

Potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) are a primary component of the human diet. More than 4000 varieties are cultivated throughout the world. Despite the huge number of potato varieties available, few cultivars have been commercialised. These potato varieties were selected for their feasibility to be marketed and stored. Regular tuber size, high production

ratio, good storage ability, multi-purpose use and consumer acceptance are the main characteristics of the potatoes that producers and sellers have chosen to improve their profits and reduce the waste of potatoes. In addition, the food industry prefers cultivars that can be stored for longer periods. In Spain, the rate of potato consumption is 23.13 kg per person per year and involves mainly stored potatoes with white skin. The predominant variety of potato that is consumed is the Monalisa (26%) cultivar, followed by the Agata (16%) and Kennebec (16%) cultivars and then the Caesar (8%), Agria (4%) and Red Pontiac (3%) cultivars

(http://www.magrama.gob.es/es/alimentacion/servicios/observatorio-de-precios-de-los-alim entos /ESTUDIO_PATATA_14112010_tcm7-182793.pdf).

Freshly harvested potato tubers contain approximately 800 g.kg⁻¹ water and 200 g.kg⁻¹ dry matter. The dry matter of potato tubers is composed of various substances, including starch, sugars, nitrogenous compounds, lipids, organic acids, phenolic compounds, mineral substances and non-starch polysaccharides. The starch content of potatoes varies with the cultivar and its growth stage. As a major constituent of potatoes, starch contributes to the texture, consistency and organoleptic qualities of foods prepared using those (Tharanathan & Tharanathan, 2001). Starch is generally classified as rapidly digestible starch, slowly digestible starch or resistant starch (RS) depending on the rate and extent of its digestion (Song et al., 2010). RS is not digested in the small intestine and therefore reaches the colon, where its fermentation results in the production of short-chain fatty acids, particularly butyric acid. RS was recently recognized as a valuable contributor to dietary fibre intake that is better tolerated than are other soluble fibres. The total sugar content of potatoes is approximately 0.05 g.kg⁻¹ fresh weight, which is in the form of reducing monosaccharides such as D-glucose and D-fructose and non-reducing disaccharides such as sucrose (Lisinska & Leszczynski, 1989). Low storage temperatures may cause an increase in the sugar content of most potato cultivars. The organic acids in potato tubers are carbonaceous compounds with high metabolic activity, and some of them are related to each other. The main organic acids in potato tubers are citric, malic, tartaric, oxalic, fumaric and succinic acids. The

content of citric acid in potato tubers is higher than that of the other acids, and it plays an important role as an antioxidant by inhibiting the oxidative enzymatic browning process (Wichrowska et al., 2009).

Phenolic compounds are members of a large group of minor plant products that play an important role in determining organoleptic properties. In potato tubers the phenolic compounds are located mainly in the skin and adhesive tissue cortex, and the concentrations of phenolic components decrease toward the centre of the tuber (Friedman, 1997). However, potato skins are often wasted as a by-product of the potato-processing industry (i.e. frying of potato chips) or by consumers. Lopez-Cobo et al. (2014) studied the phenolic compounds of potato skin and stated that the potato skin merited more attention. Physicochemical properties contained in potato tubers that may act as antioxidants in the human diet have been intensively studied (Lachman & Hamouz, 2000; Brown, 2005). High positive correlations between the level of antioxidant activity (AA) and the total phenolic content (TPC) were found by Reyes et al. (2005) who stated that phenolic compounds were mainly responsible for the antioxidant activity of potatoes. The antioxidant activities of potatoes vary among potato genotypes with different flesh colours, and purple potatoes tend to be associated with a high level of total AA (Teow et al., 2007).

In summary, potatoes are a healthy component of a varied diet because they are a relatively low-calorie food containing a variety of dietary fibre nutrients and antioxidants. However, there is sparse information about the correlations among the textural parameters, carbohydrate components, phenolics and antioxidant capacity of commonly consumed potato cultivars. The main purposes of this study were (1) to evaluate the instrumental parameters, carbohydrates and functional content of eight commercial cultivars consumed in Spain, focusing on the starch profile (RS, total starch (TS)), functional content (TPC, AA), colour and texture, and (2) to establish possible correlations between nutrients as a distinguishing feature of different potato varieties for determining their aptitude for processing.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Chemicals

All chemicals and solvents used were of analytical grade. Oxalic acid, fumaric acid, tartaric acid, malic acid, citric acid, lactic acid, D-(+)-fructose, D-(+)-glucose, sucrose, gallic acid 1-hydrate, Folin-Ciocalteu reagent, sodium dihydrogen phosphate, anhydrous sodium carbonate, high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)-grade acetonitrile and 370 mL.L⁻¹ chloridric acid were purchased from Panreac Applichem (IWT Group, Barcelona, Spain). Methanol and anhydrous disodium hydrogen phosphate were supplied by Scharlau Chemie (Scharlab SL, Barcelona, Spain). Thermostable amyloglucosidase (GOPOD) reagent buffer. GOPOD reagent enzymes, D-(+)-glucose standard solution, amyloglucosidase and pancreatic α -amylase were purchased from Megazyme International (Bray, Ireland). Fluorescein, 2,2-azobis (2-amidinopropane) dihydrochloride (AAPH) and 6-hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchromane-2-carboxylic acid (Trolox) were obtained from Acros Organics (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA).

4.2.2 Sample preparation

Potato samples

Potato tubers (*S. tuberosum* L.) of eight cultivars that are commercialized in Spain (Agata, Agria, Caesar, Cherie, Kennebec, Monalisa, Red Pontiac and Spirit) were obtained from Mercabarna (Mercados de Abastecimientos de Barcelona SA, Barcelona, Spain). All potatoes were grown in Europe and had the same postharvest storage conditions. Randomly chosen samples of 10 kg of each potato cultivar were provided. Table 4.1 shows the physical characteristics of the potato cultivars. The average weight of the tubers ranged from 134 to 337 g, except for that of the Cherie cultivar, which was less than 100 g. The colour of the skin of the tubers was white to yellow, except for that of the Red Pontiac and Cherie cultivars, which was red. The flesh colour ranged from white to yellow. Two of the cultivars (Agria and Caesar) were defined as mealy, which might be due to their high starch content,

while the others (Agata, Cherie, Kennebec, Monalisa, Red Pontiac and Spirit) were defined as multi-purpose (useful for boiled and baked products).

Each selected potato tuber was washed, the potatoes were hand peeled and the potato flesh was cut into small strips (1 cm \times 1 cm \times 5 cm). The potato flesh strips and the skin peels were lyophilised using a freeze-drying instrument (Cryodos 45, Telstar, Terrassa, Spain) and packed in plastic bags. The lyophilized powders were maintained at -20 °C until further use.

Cultivar	Cultivar Origen ^a	Shape ^a	Weight (g) ^b	Color ^a Flesh and Skin	Cooking type ^a
Agata	Netherlands	oval to round	175.09±8.21	light yellow /white to yellow	multi-purpose
Agria	Germany	oval to long	218.70±7.75	Yellow /white to yellow	mealy (floury)
Caesar	Netherlands	oval to round	337.60±9.25	light yellow /white to yellow	mealy (floury)
Cherie	France	very long	79.47±4.75	yellow/red	multi-purpose
Kennebec	United States	oval to round	200.20±6.78	White /white to yellow	mealy to multi-purpose
Monalisa	Netherlands	oval to long	229.80±5.43	light yellow /white to yellow	multi-purpose
Red Pontiac	United States	round	226.50±7.89	light yellow /red	multi-purpose
Spirit	France	oval to round	134.70±5.67	light yellow /white to yellow	-

Table 4.1 Description of the potato samples

^a Source: European Cultivated Potato database (2014)

^b Values are expressed as the mean value± standard deviation of 10 individual potatoes

Extraction of phenolic compounds, sugars and organic acids

Methanolic extracts were obtained using the procedure described by Andre et al. (2009) with slight modifications. In brief, the lyophilized powder of each sample was mixed and chilled, and 1 g was removed for extraction. Solid-liquid extraction was performed using 10 mL of acidified methanol/water (80:20 v/v) containing 0.1 g.L⁻¹ HCl by sonication (Bandelin Sonopuls GM70, Berlin, Germany) for 14 min in an ice bath. After sonication, the

extracts were centrifuged (Selecta, Barcelona, Spain) at $2313 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was filtered through Whatman No. 1 filter paper and the pellet was re-extracted as before. The two liquid extracts were mixed and evaporated to dryness using a rotary evaporator at 40 °C (Laborota 4000 Efficient, Schwabach, Germany). The organic residue was brought to 5 mL with acidified water containing 0.1 g.L⁻¹ HCl and stored at -20 °C until further analysis. All samples were extracted in triplicate. The potato skin and flesh extracts were used for analysis of the phenolic compound content and antioxidant capacity. The flesh extracts were also used for the measurement of sugar and organic acid contents.

4.2.3 Instrumental analysis

Colour evaluation

The colour of potato samples was measured using a Minolta CR-400 colorimeter (Osaka, Japan) in CIE Lab space. The L* (lightness), a* (greenness (–) to redness (+)) and b* (blueness (–) to yellowness (+)) values were evaluated at three different positions. Values for the parameters hue angle (H°) and chroma (C) were calculated as follows: H° =tan⁻¹ (b*/a*) and C = (a*2 +b*2)^{1/2}. Six measurements were taken for each potato sample, and results were expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD).

Texture analysis: texture profile analysis and shear force

Texture profile analysis (TPA) of fresh samples was performed using a 75 mm diameter cylindrical plunger probe. Six potato cylinders (length 10 mm, diameter 10 mm) were analysed for each potato sample. The test conditions were a speed of 0.83 mm.s⁻¹, a rest period of 5 s between cycles and a trigger force of 5 g. The maximum extent of deformation was 40% of the original length (Alvarez & Canet, 2000). Four TPA parameters were determined from each curve as described by Bourne (1978): hardness (peak force of the first compression cycle), cohesiveness (ratio of positive force area during the second compression to that during the first compression), springiness (ratio of time duration of

force input during the second compression to that during the first compression) and chewiness (hardness multiplied by cohesiveness multiplied by springiness). Six potato cylinders were analysed for each potato sample, and results were expressed as mean \pm SD. The flesh shear force of potato cultivars was measured using a texture analyser (TA.XT Plus, Stable Microsystems, Godalming, UK) equipped with a Warner-Bratzler probe as described previously (Singh & Kaur, 2009). The test conditions were a speed of 1 mm.s⁻¹, a targetdistance of 22 mm into the sample and a trigger force of 2 g. The potato strips were cut vertically by the probe, and the shear force was set as the maximum force (N). Six potato strips were tested for each potato sample, and results were expressed as mean \pm SD.

4.2.4 Potato component analysis

Drymatter and pH

Drymatter (DM) content was determined by a gravimetric method (AOAC method 931.04) and expressed as $g.kg^{-1}$. pH was determined according to AOAC method 981.12. All analyses were conducted in triplicate, and results were expressed as mean \pm SD.

Determination of total starch and resistant starch contents

TS and RS contents were analysed through their enzymatic hydrolysis to D-glucose using AOAC methods 996.11 (amyloglucosidase/ α -amylase method) and 2002.02 respectively. D-(+)-Glucose was oxidised to D-gluconate, which was quantitatively measured from the absorbance at 510 nm of a colorimetric reactant. Results of the TS and RS analyses were expressed as g.kg⁻¹ lyophilised weight (LW). Each sample was analysed in triplicate.

Sugar analysis

The sugar content of potato samples was analysed using a Hewlett Packard Series 1100 HPLC instrument (Santa Clara, CA, USA) equipped with a Beckman 110B injector and a Beckman refraction index detector (Brea, CA, USA). Separation was performed on a

Phenomenex Luna (Torrance, CA, USA) column (250 mm× 4.6 mm i.d.) following the method of Rodriguez-Galdon et al (Rodriguez-Galdon et al., 2010). Briefly, the liquid extracts were filtered through a 0.45 μ m membrane filter, and 20 μ L of each filtrate was injected. Themobile phase consisted of acetonitrile/water (78:22 v/v) at a flow rate of 1.2 mL.min⁻¹. Individual sugars were identified by comparing their retention times with those of external standards, and quantification was conducted through calibration using the external standards. Each extract was analysed in triplicate. Sugar contents were expressed as g.kg⁻¹ LW.

Organic acid analysis

Organic acid contents were determined using the same protocol as for sugar contents, except that detection was conducted using a Beckman 166 UV–visible detector set to 210 nm as described by Rodriguez-Galdon et al. (2010). Organic acid contents were expressed as $g.kg^{-1}LW$.

Total phenolic content analysis

The TPC of potato skin and flesh extracts was determined using a modified version of the Folin-Ciocalteu assay (Singleton et al., 1999). Gallic acid was used as the standard and was diluted with distilled water to obtain the range of concentrations appropriate for a standard curve. A 20 μ L aliquot of sample extract, gallic acid calibration standard or blank material was placed in a plastic cuvette with 1.58 mL of distilled water and 100 μ L of Folin-Ciocalteu reagent. After 5 min of incubation, 300 μ L of 200 g.L⁻¹ sodium carbonate was added and the solutionwas incubated for 2 h at room temperature. Then the absorbance at 765 nm was measured using a Nicolet Evolution 300 spectrophotometer (Thermo Electron Corporation, Basingstoke, UK). Results were expressed as g gallic acid equivalent (GAE).kg⁻¹ LW.

Analysis of antioxidant activity of potato skin and flesh extracts

The AA of extracts was evaluated using the oxygen radical absorbance capacity assay as described by Gorjanovic et al. (2013). Briefly, 13.5 μ L of each diluted sample or standard solution (Trolox at five different concentrations ranging from 6.25 to 500 μ mol.L⁻¹) was mixed with 135 μ L of 9.57 × 10⁻² μ mol.L⁻¹ fluorescein in a well of a 96-cell plate; the plate was incubated at 37 °C for 10 min, then 50 μ L of 153 mmol.L⁻¹ AAPH was added to each well to initiate the reaction. The fluorescence was measured every 2 min for 120 min at 37 °C, with emission and excitation wavelengths of 485 and 530 nm respectively, using a microplate fluorescence reader (SynergyTM Multi-detection Microplate Reader, BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA) until the decay of the kinetic curve was complete. The area under the curve (AUC) and the net AUC (AUC_{standard} –AUC_{blank}) were calculated for each standard or sample. A blank measurement was taken and a linear standard curve (five standards) was created for every run. Results were expressed as g Trolox equivalent (TE).kg⁻¹ LW. The reagents, standards and diluted samples were prepared using phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). Each extract was analysed in triplicate.

4.2.5 Statistical analysis

The data reported are the mean values of the results of triplicate analyses. The coefficient of variation of the chemical data was less than 5%. Variations among the contents of the potato components were evaluated using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Differences between mean values were evaluated using Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test with 95% confidence level. Pearson's correlation analysis was conducted to study the relationships among variables. Both analyses were conducted using Minitab 16 statistical software (Minitab Inc., State College, PA, USA). Principal component analysis (PCA) was conducted to determine the relationships among variables, which were analysed using STAT-ITCF statistical software (ITCF, Bordeaux, France).

4.3 Results and discussion

4.3.1 Instrumental parameters

Colour characteristics

Colour is an important quality parameter for raw potato tubers that is affected by certain pre- and postharvest factors and by the type of cultivar. The chroma and hue angle values of the tubers of the different potato cultivars varied considerably (Table 4.2). The chroma values of the yellow and light yellow tubers were higher than those of the white tubers, with the exception of the Spirit tuber. The tuber chroma values increased from the Red Pontiac cultivar to the Agria cultivar (from 13.47 to 30.29, respectively). Our results were similar to those of Cabezas-Serrano et al. (2009) who found that the chroma values of the tubers of five industrial potato cultivars ranged from 17.1 to 31.0. Among the cultivars analysed, the highest hue angle value was obtained for Agata tubers (light yellow), followed by Monalisa (light yellow) and Spirit (white) tubers, and the lowest value was obtained for Cherie (yellow) tubers. The hue angle values of the tubers of the other cultivars were not significantly different (P>0.05).

Texture: TPA and shear force

The values obtained from the TPA of the raw potatoes varied considerably among the eight cultivars (Table 4.2). Their hardness ranged from123.89 to 156.80 N, and these results were consistent with those of Bordoloi et al. (2012). Spirit showed greater hardness and shear force, while Agata showed the lowest hardness and shear force of the tested cultivars. Therefore significant correlation was found between shear force and hardness (r=0.838, P<0.05). In addition, the Spirit cultivar also had the highest cohesiveness, springiness and chewiness values among all cultivars. The values of cohesiveness and springiness of all cultivars testedwere smaller than other parameters, but these values were significantly different (P<0.05). Shear force also significantly correlated with chewiness (r=0.708, P<0.05). The differences in this textural property among the potato cultivars may be due to

their differing DM content (Casanas et al., 2002). Texture is a very important parameter in the cooking quality of potatoes. Mealiness was used to describe the texture of boiled, baked and oven-fried potatoes, while hardness was also judged regarding quality (Kreutzmann et al., 2011). According to Kaur et al. (2002), potato cultivars with greater mealiness showed higher hardness and cohesiveness. The textural changes that occur during cooking are associated with the gelatinization and retrogradation behaviour of starch andwith enzymatic and non-enzymatic changes in pectin (Kreutzmann et al., 2011).

Table 4.2 Color and texture profile analysis parameters of raw potatoes from different cultivars.

		1	<i>2</i> 1		1		
Cultivar	Chroma	Hue angle ($^\circ~$)	Shear force (N)	Hardness (N)	Cohesiveness	Springiness (mm)	Chewiness (N.mm)
Agata	22.08±2.49c	102.19±0.35a	$38.15 \pm 4.86d$	123.89±16.61b	0.44±0.25ab	0.64±0.05ab	34.56±7.79ab
Agria	30.29±3.13a	98.567±0.57e	50.12±3.51bc	156.80±17.80a	0.46±0.03ab	0.54±0.02d	36.40±10.48ab
Caesar	17.47±1.75d	99.560±1.28cd	55.64±6.77ab	152.96±16.36a	0.43±0.05ab	0.60±0.04bc	39.33±5.07ab
Cherie	25.73±3.55b	97.25±1.60f	53.55±5.92abc	155.57±17.45a	0.45±0.02ab	0.61±0.02ab	43.03±6.03ab
Kennebec	14.29±1.29e	99.66±0.78bcd	49.65±5.72bc	140.04±12.98ab	0.42±0.17ab	0.60±0.05b	45.00±3.55ab
Monalisa	25.93±3.15b	100.51±1.6b	47.06±4.63c	139.28±20.68ab	0.45±0.03ab	0.63±0.02ab	39.22±7.28ab
Red Pontiac	13.47±1.63e	98.89±1.28de	46.76±4.35c	151.13±19.73a	0.38±0.09b	0.55±0.03cd	31.50±8.72b
Spirit	27.92±2.30b	100.24±1.05bc	58.59±7.35a	156.30±35.83a	0.49±0.02a	0.66±0.02a	52.43±10.09a

Values are expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation. Results with the same superscripts in a column did not differ significantly (p<0.05).

4.3.2 Dry matter and carbohydrate contents of commercial potatoes

The DM content of the potatoes ranged from 230 g.kg⁻¹ for the Spirit cultivar to 184 g.kg⁻¹ for the Agata cultivar. All cultivars except the Agata variety contained more than 200 g.kg⁻¹ DM, and significant differences in the DM contents of the cultivars were found, as shown in Table 4.3 (P<0.05). Usually, commercial varieties of potatoes are selected according to their DM content, but this parameter can be affected by the storage and growing areas. Stored

Agata and Agria tubers from Italy had similar contents of DM (Cabezas-Serrano et al., 2009), but Agria tubers purchased in New Zealand had a higher content of DM (Bordoloi et al., 2012).

Starch is the main component of DM, with a concentration of approximately 600 g.kg⁻¹ (Liu et al., 2007). The content of TS, which is also the major carbohydrate component of potatoes, ranged from 681 (Agata) to 752 (Spirit) g.kg⁻¹ LW, as shown in Table 4.3.The cultivated potatoes had a mean content of 188 g.kg⁻¹ starch on a fresh weight (FW) basis, with a range from 100 to 300 g.kg⁻¹ (Camire et al., 2009). Among the studied potatoes with starch contents lower than the mean value, the tubers of the Spirit and Agata cultivars contained 173 and 125 g.kg⁻¹ starch FW respectively. The TS contents observed in this study were similar to those reported by Bordoloi et al. (2012) for four commercial varieties.

The RS in raw potatoes is defined as type 2 (RS2), which comprises ungelatinised resistant granules that are slowly hydrolysedby α -amylase (Fuentes-Zaragoza et al., 2010). In this study the RS content of the potatoes ranged from 482 (Agria) to 610 (Cherie) g.kg⁻¹ LW (Table 4.3). Previous reports noted that fresh potatoes contain 691-764 g.kg⁻¹ RS (Lante & Zocca, 2010; Garcia-Alonso & Goni, 2000), but there are sparse data about the differences among potato cultivars. Our results showed that the potatoes of the cultivars studied contained less RS than was previously reported and there were significant differences between the RS contents of the cultivars (*P*<0.05). Notably, the fraction of RS comprised 65–85% of the TS in the potatoes of the eight cultivars assessed.

Significant differences were found in the sugar content of the potatoes of the eight cultivars tested (P<0.05). The concentration of glucose (1.20-23.50 g.kg⁻¹ LW) was slightly higher than that of fructose in all cultivar samples. Their fructose content ranged from 0.80 to 14.1 g.kg⁻¹ LW and their sucrose content ranged from1.40 to 4.5 g.kg⁻¹ LW. Plata-Guerrero et al. (2009) analysed the glucose, fructose and sucrose content of the potatoes of four commercial cultivars and also found that the content of glucose (0.28-1.20 g.kg⁻¹ FW) was higher than that of fructose (0.27-0.90 g.kg⁻¹ FW) and sucrose (0.26-0.40 g.kg⁻¹ FW). These results may be due to the high concentration of fructokinase in potatoes; this enzyme could

redirect fructose into the hexose phosphate pathway (Kumar et al., 2004). Our data showed that the reducing sugar (glucose and fructose) content of the tubers ranged from 2.02 to 37.6 g.kg⁻¹ LW and the reducing sugar contents of the Agata and Monalisa tubers were significantly higher than those of the other cultivars. Wegener et al. (2009) analysed a variety of coloured potato cultivars and found that the content of reducing sugars in their tubers ranged from 0.26 to 0.75 $g.kg^{-1}$ FW. Whereas the cultivar type and storage conditions had a notable effect on the equilibrium between free sugars and starch in tubers, Kumar et al. (2004) did not observe changes in the concentration of reducing sugars in tubers during the first 3 days of storage at low temperatures (4-6 °C). Endo et al. (2006) observed that, during storage at temperatures lower than 8 °C, the content of reducing sugars increased markedly in all cultivars studied. Furthermore, reducing sugars affect potato processing, such that the higher the reducing sugar content, the higher the level of browning after frying. Additionally, Muttucumaru et al. (2014) proposed that, in potatoes, sugars are more important than free asparagine as acrylamide precursors, because other amino acids present in potatoes may play a role in the formation of this contaminant. Therefore the tubers of commercialised cultivars that develop a high content of reducing sugars during storage may be a potential risk for acrylamide formation during cooking (i.e. baking or frying).

			RS (g·kg ⁻¹ LW)	Sugars (g·kg ⁻¹ LW)			Reducing
Cultivar	DM (g·kg ⁻¹)	TS (g·kg ⁻¹ LW)		Fructose	Glucose	Sucrose	sugars (g·kg ⁻¹ LW)
Agata	183.61±12.11c	681.30±12.61b	544.63±7.91d	14.10±0.51a	23.50±0.90a	4.00±0.60a	37.60±1.41a
Agria	209.53±2.30b	715.66±10.30ab	482.31±14.22c	0.80±0.11f	1.20±0.10f	2.83±0.21bc	2.02±0.21e
Caesar	215.32±3.20b	718.18±7.92ab	599.73±30.50a	2.91±0.10de	3.96±0.10de	2.52±0.20c	6.87±0.20cd
Cherie	222.08±0.73ab	751.11±11.23a	607.45±12.73a	3.56±0.10cd	6.35±0.20c	3.25±0.10b	9.91±0.20c
Kennebec	215.70±3.71ab	731.92±20.30a	574.50±18.17ab	2.53±0.20e	4.60±0.30d	1.46±0.20d	7.13±0.50cd
Monalisa	209.96±1.15b	731.57±18.45a	560.95±23.72ab	12.33±0.30b	1.84±0.30b	4.00±0.10a	14.17±0.60b
Red Pontiac	214.09±3.92b	737.71±10.48a	567.85±12.56ab	3.75±0.10c	4.83±0.10d	4.51±0.10a	8.58±0.20c
Spirit	229.77±2.64a	751.96±16.81a	585.23±14.22ab	2.74±0.10e	2.84±0.10e	1.64±0.20d	5.58±0.0.20de

Table 4.3 Dry matter content, total starch content, resistant starch content and sugar composition of the potato cultivars

Values are expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation (n=3)

Results in the same row with the same superscript (a-f) were not statistically significant (p < 0.05) DM= dry matter; TS=total starch; RS = resistant starch

4.3.3 Correlations among carbohydrate content, dry matter content and texture of commercial potatoes

Pearson's correlations were calculated to evaluate the relationships among the components of the potatoes. The TS content of the potatoes was highly positively correlated with their DM content (r=0.722, P<0.01), in agreement with the results of Bordoloi et al. (2012). However, a less significant correlation was found between the DM and RS contents of the potatoes (r=0.441, P=0.031), which may be due to the content of RS being dependent on the physicochemical properties of the starch (Noda et al., 2008). Finally, the level of correlation between the contents of RS and TS in the potatoes (r=0.417, P<0.01) was similar to that found for the RS and DM contents.

As expected, the glucose content was significantly positively correlated with the fructose content (r = 0.993, P < 0.01). There were negative correlations between the reducing sugar content and the contents of TS (r=-0.515, P < 0.01) and DM (r=-0.727, P < 0.05).

The potatoes that had higher starch and DM contents (such as Spirit potatoes) were observed to be much harder and more cohesive than those with low levels of these components. Significantly positive Pearson's correlations were found between the hardness and shear force levels and the DM content of raw potato tubers (r = 0.824, P < 0.05 and r = 0.915, P < 0.01 respectively), while the correlations between the hardness and shear force levels and the TS content were also high (r = 0.700 and 0.734 respectively, P < 0.05).

4.3.4 Oganic acids and pH

As Table 4.4 shows, the pH values of the tubers ranged from 5.89 to 6.30. The correlation between the organic acid contents and the pH level was significant (r=0.555, P=0.03). The organic acids are biologically important because they participate in various metabolic processes, such as the Krebs cycle. These compounds affect the acidity and pH of potatoes, depending on their concentration and their pKa (Rodriguez-Galdon et al., 2010).

The concentrations of the six most abundant organic acids (oxalic, tartaric, malic, lactic, citric and fumaric acids) in the potato tubers are listed in Table 4.4. Citric acid was the most abundant organic acid in all tested potato cultivars. The ranges of oxalic, tartaric, malic and lactic acid contents were similar; however, significant differences in the organic acid contents of the cultivars were found (P<0.05). Fumaric acid was the least abundant organic acid, and there were no significant differences in its content among the cultivars (P>0.05). Rovers and Guttman (1992) reported citric acid contents ranging from 6.0 to 20 g.kg⁻¹ dry weight (DW), which is consistent with our finding of a range of 7.1-11.3 g.kg⁻¹ LW; their malic acid content ranged from 1.0 to 6.0 g.kg⁻¹ DW, which was slightly higher than our results (with a range of 0.7-1.3 g.kg⁻¹ LW). The tartaric and oxalic acid contents found in our study are similar to those of Wichrowska et al. (2009) and Rodriguez-Galdon et al. (2010) respectively.None of the previous studies reported the presence of lactic acid.

The concentrations of individual organic acids differed among the potato cultivars. In general, Agata potatoes presented a higher content of citric and lactic acids, and Agria
potatoes had a higher content of tartaric and oxalic acids. A higher content of malic and fumaric acids was found in Caesar potatoes. Organic acids (lactic, citric, oxalic, tartaric and fumaric acids) have been described as strong antimicrobial agents against psychrophilic and mesophilic microorganisms in fresh-cut fruit and vegetables (including potatoes) (Bari et al., 2005). The decreasing of citric acid in potato tubers, as well as, the tendency of boiled potatoes to darken, was attributed to the non-enzymatic process of antioxidants (Lisinska & Aniolowski, 1990).

Pearson's correlation analysis showed positive and significant correlations between the oxalic and tartaric acid contents (r=0.768, P<0.05), the citric and oxalic acid contents (r=0.661, P<0.05) and the AA level and total organic acid content (r=0.565, P<0.05), but no significant correlations (P>0.05) were found between the total organic acid content and the values of the other parameters studied.

CI C C	· · · 1.* ·		•	
Classfication of	notato cultivars f	o establish their	nrocessing a	ntitute
Clubbilleution of	potuto cultivuis t	o couonon men	processing a	pullute

				Organic	acids (g·kg-1 LW)		
Cultivar Oxa	Oxalic acid	Tartaric acid	Malic acid	Lactic acid	Citric acid	Fumaric acid	Total acids (g·kg ⁻¹ LW)	рН
Agata	1.60±0.10b	1.61±0.80bc	1.20±0.10ab	1.22±0.50a	11.30±2.40a	0.40±0.10a	17.33±4.00a	6.11±0.02c
Agria	1.92±0.10a	4.64±0.20a	0.70±0.10d	0.80±0.10ab	9.91±0.30ab	0.31±0.00a	18.28±0.80a	6.30±0.01a
Caesar	1.51±0.10b	1.53±0.10bc	1.32±0.10a	0.51±0.10bc	7.22±0.40b	0.40±0.30a	12.49±1.10bc	6.09±0.02c
Cherie	1.72±0.10b	2.33±0.10b	0.83±0.10cd	0.82±0.00ab	7.10±0.30b	0.30±0.00a	13.10±0.60bc	6.02±0.02d
Kennebec	0.93±0.10c	1.14±0.00c	1.00±.0.00bc	0.10±0.00c	7.34±0.10b	0.21±0.00a	10.72±0.20c	6.02±0.02d
Monalisa	1.02±0.10c	1.00±0.10c	0.80±0.10cd	0.80±0.00ab	11.25±0.10a	0.32±0.00a	15.19±0.40ab	5.89±0.01f
Red	1.54±0.10b	1.82±0.00bc	0.72±0.10d	0.73±0.00abc	8.43±0.10ab	0.20±0.00a	13.44±0.30bc	5.97±0.03e
Pontiac Spirit	1.66±0.10b	2.00±0.70bc	1.00±0.10bc	0.80±0.40abc	9.65±2.70ab	0.42±0.10a	15.53±4.10ab	6.20±0.01b
Average	1.49	2.01	0.95	0.72	9.02	0.32	14.51	_

Values are expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation (n=3)

Results in the same row with the same superscript (a-f) were not statistically significant (p <0.05) according to the classification

4.3.5 Total phenolic content

The phenolic content of potatoes depends primarily on the genotype and the growing location, but certain methods of extraction and sample preparation, such as vigorous extraction methods, can lead to an apparent increase in the phenolic content (Rumbaoa et al., 2009). According to Ji et al. (2012), with the exception of a few cultivars, the selected potatoes had higher concentrations of phenolics in the skin than in the flesh, often twice as much. Potato skins are a rich source of phenolic compounds, but much of the phenolic content of potatoes is wasted in the manufacture of some potato products, such as potato

chips. The effect of cultivar on TPC and the differences in TPC between the skin and flesh are shown in Table 4.5.

The TPC of potato skins ranged from 3.8 to 6.7 g GAE.kg⁻¹ LW. These results were in accordance with those of Wu et al. (2012), who reported that the TPC of potato skins ranged from 0.76 to 7.88 g GAE.kg⁻¹ DW. In general, significant differences in TPC between the cultivars were found (P<0.05). Apart from the Caesar and Agata cultivars, the white- to yellow-skinned cultivars had a lower TPC than the red-skinned cultivars, as expected. Several studies have reported that red- or purple-skinned potatoes contain higher amounts of phenolic compounds (anthocyanins) compared with yellow-skinned cultivars (Perla et al., 2012). The high phenolic content of some white- to yellow-skinned cultivars (Caesar and Agata) may be explained by the differences in their phenolic compound profiles.

As shown in Table 4.5, the TPC of potato flesh ranged from 0.89 ± 0.02 (Kennebec) to 1.73 ± 0.04 (Agata) g GAE.kg⁻¹ LW, which was lower than the range reported by Ji et al. (2012) (1.60-8.40 g GAE.kg⁻¹ DW). Ah-Hen et al. (2012) analysed Shepody and Desiree cultivars and found that the TPC of peeled potatoes varied from 1.91 to 18.6 g GAE.kg⁻¹ DW, which was also higher than the range we observed. The TPC of different potato cultivars clearly varied widely. According to Teow et al. (2007), purple-fleshed sweet potato clones had the highest TPC, followed in order by orange-, yellow- and white-fleshed clones. Negative correlations were found between the DM and TS contents and the TPC content (*r*=-0.585, *P*<0.05 and *r*=-0.456, *P*<0.05 respectively).

Pototo gultivoro	TPC c (g GAE.	content kg ⁻¹ LW)	Antioxidant activity (ORAC) (g TE.kg ⁻¹ LW)		
Totato cultivars	Skin	Flesh	Skin	Flesh	
Agata	6.13±0.05bc	1.73±0.04a	70.08±13.06ab	10.79±1.42a	
Agria	4.41±0.15f	0.99±0.06ef	40.57±16.52bc	9.59±1.02ab	
Caesar	6.69±0.07a	1.13±0.05c	74.61±15.09ab	8.66±0.62abc	
Cherie	5.99±0.12c	1.35±0.03b	61.82±11.89abc	7.93±0.25bc	
Kennebec	4.94±0.14e	0.89±0.02f	47.45±10.46abc	4.83±1.32d	
Monalisa	3.80±0.08g	1.02±0.04de	26.03±2.62c	7.78±0.27bc	
Red Pontiac	6.34±0.08b	1.42±0.02b	77.04±20.09ª	9.91±0.82ab	
Spirit	5.56±0.06d	1.11±0.05cd	58.62±9.81abc	6.36±1.05cd	

Table 4.5 Total phenolic content (TPC) and antioxidant activity (AA) in flesh and skin of potato cultivars

Values are expressed as the mean values \pm standard deviation (n=3)

Values with the same superscripts in a column did not differ significantly (P < 0.05).

GAE = gallic acid equivalents; TE = trolox equivalents.

4.3.6 Antioxidant activity

There are some difficulties in measuring the true antioxidant status of food products *in vivo*. The AA of foods or food components have been evaluated using *in vitro* chemical models. There are two majormechanisms to explain howantioxidants deactivate free radicals, namely hydrogen atom transfer and single-electron transfer (Ah-Hen et al., 2012). Two assays of the AA are generally used: the ORAC (oxygen radical absorption capacity) assay to determine the hydrogen atom transfer activity and the FRAP (ferric-reducing antioxidant power) assay to determine the single-electron transfer activity. However, the ORAC assay is consideredmore closely related to a human biological assay (Prior et al., 2005).

The AA of potato skin and flesh extracts are presented in Table 4.5. The AA in the flesh and skin extracts of the potato cultivars ranged from 4.83 to 10.79 g TE.kg⁻¹ LWand from 26.03 to 77.04 g TE.kg⁻¹ LW respectively, and significant differences between the values for different cultivars were found (P<0.05). The flesh extracts of the yellow and light yellow

cultivars exhibited significantly higher AA than those of the white-fleshed potato cultivars. The highest AA was found in the Agata flesh sample (10.79 g TE.kg⁻¹ LW). Apart from the potato, other foods such as sorghum and sweet potato also show a similar relationship between the colour intensity and the AA (Teow et al., 2007).

Pearson's correlations between the TPC and ORAC values of the skin and flesh samples were evaluated. The results showed positive correlations between the ORAC values of the potato skins and their TPC (r =0.984, P<0.01) and between the ORAC values of the potato flesh samples and their TPC (r=0.659, P<0.01). High correlations between the TPC and AA have been reported for various food commodities such as sorghum (r =0.971), cactus pear (r =0.970-0.990) and sweet potato cultivars (r=0.937) (Teow et al., 2007; Stintzing et al., 2005). These high correlations result from the contribution that the main phenolic compounds of potato tubers make to their hydrophilic antioxidant capacity. Additionally, phenolic compounds can transfer an oxygen molecule to the peroxyl radical, which is the basis of the peroxyl radical reaction evaluated in the ORAC assay, which involves a hydrogen atom transfer mechanism (Andre et al., 2009). Therefore the TPC can be used as an indicator in assessing the AA of fruits and vegetables, including the tubers of potato cultivars.

4.3.7 Principal component analysis

PCA revealed that 14 principal components (PC1–PC14) explained the variance among the data, with the first two PCs explaining 56.84% of the total variance (Figure 4.1). PC1 explained 38.31% and PC2 explained 18.53% of the total variance, which indicated that the first two PCs concerned variables that differentiated the studied cultivars. TS, DM, RS and the textural parameters shear force (She), hardness (Har), chewiness (Che) and cohesiveness (Coh) had positive loadings and AA, TPC, reducing sugar, total acid and the colour parameter hue angle had negative loadings for PC1. AA, DM and Har had negative loadings and the other properties shown in Figure 4.1 had positive loadings for PC2.

The scores of the eight potato cultivars for the first and second PCs are shown in Figure 4.2. The distribution of the cultivars along PC1 reflected their DM, TS, She and Har. Tubers of the Spirit, Kennebec, Cherie and Caesar cultivars had positive scores for PC1, indicating their higher DM, TS, She and Har values. In contrast, tubers of the Agata, Agria and Monalisa cultivars, which had negative scores for PC1, had higher AA and reducing sugar content. Furthermore, the distribution of the cultivars along PC2 reflected their hue angle, springiness (Spr), Coh and Che. Regarding the first and second PCs, the Spirit cultivar had higher positive scores for both, which indicated that this cultivar had higher DM, TS, She, Har, Spr, Coh, Che and hue angle values than the other cultivars tested.

According to the PCA, the eight commercial potato cultivars were classified into three groups: the Cherie, Kennebec, Agria, Caesar and Red Pontiac cultivars in group 1, the Agata and Monalisa cultivars in group 2 and the Spirit cultivar in group 3. The physical and chemical properties of the different cultivar groups were distinct: the group 1 cultivars had higher DM, TS, shear force and hardness; the group 2 cultivars had higher AA, reducing sugar content, hue angle, springiness, cohesiveness and chewiness; the group 3 cultivar had higher DM, TS, shear force, hardness, springiness, cohesiveness, chewiness and hue angle. Certain nutritional and functional parameters of the different cultivar groups indicated the potential efficacy of different cultivars to satisfy the nutritional needs of consumers and industrial use. The group 1 and group 3 cultivars were suitable for frying because of their higher DM and lower reducing sugar content, enabling one to obtain a less coloured product and low levels of acrylamide content, which was attributed to Maillard reactions (Muttucumaru et al., 2014). The group 2 cultivars were fit for boiling and baking because of their higher values of springiness, cohesiveness and chewiness, and not peeling the cultivars before boiling and baking may increase their antioxidant properties and thus health benefits (Reyes et al., 2005). The textural attributes are important for describing the variation between the analysed cultivars. Hardness could indicate the aptitude use of potato cultivars. Kreutzmann et al. (2011) found that the frying potato cultivars with highermealiness significantly and positively correlated with hardness; the boiling and baking potato tubers

with lower mealiness had higher scores. As Figure 4.2 showed, the group 1 and group 3 cultivars had higher hardness than the group 2 cultivars, which also proved that the group 1 and group 3 cultivars were fit for frying and the group 2 cultivars for boiling and baking. In general, our study showed that the physicochemical properties analysed enable to classify potato cultivars and predict their aptitude use.



Figure 4.1 Loadings of the physiochemical properties on the first and second principal component (PC). DM=dry matter, TS=total starch, RS=resistant starch, TPC=total phenolic content, AA=antioxidant activity, C=chroma, H=hue angle, She=shear force, Har=hardness, Spr=Springiness, Coh=cohesiveness, Che=chewiness



Observations (axes F1 and F2: 56.84 %)

Figure 4.2 First and second principal-component scores of the potato cultivars

4.4 Conclusions

A statistical study of correlations between all parameters analysed was conducted to discover associations between measured pairs of these parameters. Significant (P<0.05) and positive correlations were found due to the common and complex interactions. It is recommended that the potato skin not be removed during the cooking process (boiling or baking) due to its higher TPC and AA. The organic acid content was similar to that previously reported, but lactic acid was present in all cultivars studied.

The PCA results classified the eight cultivars studied into three groups: (1) Cherie, Kennebec, Agria, Caesar and Red Pontiac; (2) Agata and Monalisa; (3) Spirit. The physical and chemical properties of the three cultivar groups were notably different, which determined the aptitude of the potato cultivars for processing. The group 1 and group 3 cultivars were suitable for frying owing to their higher hardness and DM content and lower

reducing sugar content, while the group 2 cultivars were fit for boiling and baking because of their higher values of springiness, cohesiveness and chewiness, and not peeling the cultivars increased their antioxidant properties. These properties and groups may explain and reinforce the cooking types of the cultivars proposed by the European Cultivated Potato database.

4.5 References

- Alvarez, M.D., & Canet, W. (2000). Principal component analysis to study the effect of temperature fluctuations during storage of frozen potato. *European Food Research and Technology*, 211, 415-421.
- Andre, C.M., Oufir, M., Hoffmann, L., Hausman, J.F., Rogez, H., Larondelle, Y., et al. (2009). Influence of environment and genotype on polyphenol compounds and in vitro antioxidant capacity of native Andean potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.). *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 22, 517-524.
- Ah-Hen, K., Fuenzalida, C., Hess, S., Contreras, A., Vega-Calvez, A., & Lemus-Mondaca, R. (2012). Antioxidant capacity and total phenolic compounds of twelve selected potato landrace clones grown in southern Chile. *Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research*, 72, 3-9.
- Bari, M.L., Ukuku, D.O., Kawasaki, T., Inatsu, Y., Isshiki, K., & Kawamoto, S. (2005). Combined efficacy of bisin and pediocin with sodium lactate, citric acid, phytic acid, and potassium sorbate and EDTA in reducing the Listeria monocytogenes population of inoculated fresh-cut produce. *Journal of food protection*, 68, 1381-1387.
- Bordoloi, A., Kaur, L., & Singh, J. (2012). Parenchyma cell microstructure and textural characteristics of raw and cooked potatoes. *Food Chemistry*, *133*, 1092-1100.
- Bourne, M.C. (1978). Texture profile analysis. Journal of Food Technology, 32, 62-66.
- Brown, C.R. (2005). Antioxidants in potato. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 82, 163-172.

- Cabezas-Serrano, A.B., Amodio, M.L., Cornacchia, R., Rinaldi, R., & Colelli, G. (2009). Suitability of five different potato cultivars (Solanum tuberosum L.) to be processed as fresh-cut products. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, *53*, 138-144.
- Camire, M.E., Kubow, S., & Donnelly, D.J. (2009). Potatoes and human health. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 49, 823-840.
- Casanas, R., Gonzalez, M., Rodriguez, E., Marrero, A., & Diaz, C. (2002). Chemometric studies of chemical compounds in five cultivars of potatoes from Tenerife. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *50*, 2076-2082.
- Endo, C.M., Ohara-Takada, A., Chuda, Y., Ono, H., Yada, H., Yoshida, M., et al. (2006). Effects of storage temperature on the contents of sugars and free amino acids in tubers from different potato cultivars and acrylamide in chips. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 70, 1173-1180.
- Friedman, M. (1997). Chemistry, biochemistry and dietary role of potato phenolics. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 45, 1523-1540.
- Fuentes-Zaragoza, E., Riquelme-Navarrete, M.J., Sanchez-Zapata, E., & Perez-Alvarez, J.A. (2010). Resistant starch as functional ingredient: a review. *Food Research International*, 43, 931-942.
- Garcia-Alonso, A., & Goni, I. (2000). Effect of processing on potato starch: in vitro availability and glycaemic index. *Starch/Stärke*, *52*, 81-84.
- Gorjanovic, S.Z., Alvarez-Suarez, J.M., Novakovic, M.M., Pastor, F.T., Pezo, L., Battino, M., et al. (2013). Comparative analysis of antioxidant activity of honey of different floral sources using recently developed polarographic and various spectrophotometric assays. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 30, 13-18.
- Ji, X., Rivers, L., Zielinski, Z., Xu, M., MacDougall, E., Stephen, J., et al. (2012). Quantitative analysis of phenolic components and glycoalkaloids from 20 potato clones and in vitro evaluation of antioxidant, cholesterol uptake, and neuroprotective activities. *Food Chemistry*, 133, 1177–1187.

- Kaur, L., Singh, N., Sodhi, N.S., & Gujral, H.S. (2002). Some properties of potatoes and their starches. I. Cooking, texture and rheological properties of potatoes. *Food Chemistry*, 79, 177-181.
- Kreutzmann, S., Bassompierre, M., Thybo, A.K., Buch, L., & Engelsen, S.B. (2011). Exploratory study of potato cultivar difference in sensory and hedonistic applicability tests. *Potato Research*, 54, 13-28.
- Kumar, D., Singh, B.P., & Kumar, P. (2004). An overview of the factors affecting sugar content of potatoes. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 145, 247-256.
- Lachman, J., & Hamouz, K. (2000). Red and purple colored potatoes as a significant antioxidant source in human nutrition-a review. *Plant Soil and Environment*, *51*, 477-482.
- Lante, A., & Zocca, F. (2010). Effect of β -cyclodextrin addition on quality of precooked vacuum packed potatoes. *LWT- Food Science and Technology*, 43, 409-414.
- Lisinska, G., & Aniolowski, K. (1990). Organic acids in potato tubers: Part 1-The effect of storage temperatures and time on citric and malic acid content of potato tubers. *Food Chemistry*, *38*, 255–261.
- Lisinska, G., & Leszczynski, W. (1989). Potato Science and Technology. Elsevier Applied Science, London, pp. 1-140.
- Liu, Q., Tarn, R., Lynch, D., & Skjodt, N.M. (2007). Physicochemical properties of dry matter and starch from potatoes grown in Canada. *Food Chemistry*, 105, 897-907.
- Lopez-Cobo, A., Gomez-Caravaca, A.M., Cerretani, L., Segura-Carretero, A., & Fernandez-Gutierrez, A. (2014). Distribution of phenolic compounds and other polar compounds in the tuber of Solanum tuberosum L. by HPLC-DAD-q-TOF and study of their antioxidant activity. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 36, 1-11.

- Ministerio de Agricultura Alimentación y Medio Ambiente, Estudio de la Cadenade Valor y Formaciónde Precios del Sectorde laPatata Fresca de Consumo. [Online]. (2010). Available:<u>http://www.magrama.gob.es/es/alimentacion/servicios/observatorio-de-precioss-de-los-alim</u> entos/ESTUDIO_PATATA_14112010_tcm7-182793.pdf [10 September 2014].
- Muttucumaru, N., Powers, S.J., Elmore, J.S., Briddon, A., Mottram, D.S., & Halford, N.G. (2014). Evidence for the complex relationship between free amino acid and sugar concentrations and acrylamide-forming potential in potato. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 164, 286-300.
- Noda, T., Takigawa, S., Matsuura-Endo, C., Suzuki, T., Hashimoto, N., Kottearachchi, N.S., et al. (2008). Factors affecting the digestibility of raw and gelatinized potato starches. *Food Chemistry*, *110*, 465-470.
- Perla, V., Holm, D., & Jayanty, S.S. (2012). Effects of cooking methods on polyphenols, pigments and antioxidant activity in potato tubers. *LWT- Food Science and Technology*, 45, 161-171.
- Plata-Guerrero, P.R., Hernandez, G.E., & Villanova, G.B. (2009). Determination of reducing sugars and asparagine in potatoes. *Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies*, 32, 2556-2568.
- Prior, R.L., Wu, X., & Schaich, K. (2005). Standardized methods for the determination of antioxidant capacity and phenolics in foods and dietary supplements. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53, 4290-4302.
- Reyes, L.F., Miller, J.C., & Cisneros-Zevallos, L. (2005). Antioxidant capacity, anthocyanins and total phenolics in purple- and red-fleshed potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) genotypes. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 82, 271-277.
- Rodriguez-Galdon, B., Rios, M.D., Rodriquez, E.M., & Diaz, R.C. (2010). Influence of the cultivar on the organic acid and sugar composition of potatoes. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, *90*, 2301-2309.

- Rovers, P.J.W., & Guttman, T.K. (1992). Analysis of organic acids in potato waste water. *Food Chemistry*, 45, 283-287.
- Rumbaoa, R., Cornago, D., & Geronimo, I. (2009). Phenolic content and antioxidant capacity of Philippine potato (Solanum tuberosum) tubers. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 22, 546-550.
- Singleton, V.L., Orthofer, R., & Lamuela-Raventos, R.M. (1999). Analysis of total phenols and other oxidation substrates and antioxidants by means of Folin–Ciocalteu reagent. *Methods in Enzymology*, 299, 152-178.
- Singh, J., & Kaur, L. (2009). Advances in Potato Chemistry and Technology. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 147, 153, 155, 157.
- Song, W., Janaswamy, S., & Yao, Y. (2010). Structure and in vitro digestibility of normal corn starch: effect of acid treatment, autoclaving, and β-amylolysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58, 9753-9758.
- Stintzing, F.C., Herbach, K.M., Mosshammer, M.R., Carle, R., Yi, W., Sellappan, S., et al. (2005). Color, betalain pattern, and antioxidant properties of cactus pear (Opuntia spp.) clones. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53, 442-451.
- Teow, C.C., Truong, V., McFeeters, R.F., Thompson, R.L., Pecota, K.V., & Yencho, G.C. (2007). Antioxidant activities, phenolic and β -carotene contents of sweet potato genotypes with varying flesh colours. *Food Chemistry*, 103, 829-838.
- Tharanathan, M., & Tharanathan, R.N. (2001). Resistant starch in wheat-based products: isolation and characterization. *Journal of Cereal Science*, *34*, 73-84.
- Wegener, C.B., Jansen, G., Jurgens, H.U., & Schutze, W. (2009). Special quality traits of coloured potato breeding clones: anthocyanins, soluble phenols and antioxidant capacity. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 89, 206-215.
- Wichrowska, D., Rogozinska, I., & Pawelzik, E. (2009). Concentrations of some organic acids in potato tubers depending on weed control method, cultivar and storage conditions. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 18, 487-491.

Wu, T., Yan, J., Liu, R., Marcone, M.F., Aisa, H.A., & Tsao, R. (2012). Optimization of microwave-assisted extraction of phenolics from potato and its downstream waste using orthogonal array design. *Food Chemistry*, 133, 1292-1298.

Chapter 5

Effect of the intensity of cooking methods on nutritional and physical properties of potato tubers

This chapter has been submitted as:

Yang, Y., Achaerandio, I., & Pujola, M. (2015). Effect of the intensity of cooking methods on nutritional and physical properties of potato tubers. *Food Chemistry*.

Abstract

The different intensities of common culinary techniques (boiling, baking and microwaving) produce several changes that reduce the nutritional and physical properties of potatoes. This study evaluated the effect of those cooking methods on the quality of commercial potato tubers (Agata, Kennebec, Caesar and Red Pontiac). The higher weight losses were obtained for baking, but the potato softening depended on the cultivar. Color losses were independent of the intensity of the treatment; however, microwaving promoted a prompt starch gelatinization with respect to the other methods. The resistant starch retention of baking and microwaving was higher than that of boiling, and the maximum retention of bioactive compounds was obtained with the lower core temperature during boiling, as well as higher temperature and shorter baking time and the lower power and longer microwaving time. Principal component analysis revealed significant relationships between the instrumental and functional properties of cooked potatoes.

Keywords: boiling; baking; microwaving; resistant starch; antioxidant activity; texture

5.1 Introduction

Potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) are an important source of carbohydrates and are consumed widely in the developing world and in the developed world (Bordoloi et al., 2012). The potato tubers are commonly cooked before consumption, and the traditional and most popular cooking methods include boiling, frying and baking. It is well known that cooking treatments induce significant changes in the physical and chemical compositions to influence the concentration and bioavailability of bioactive compounds in potato tubers (Spanos et al., 1990; Price et al., 1997). However, both positive and negative effects have been reported depending on the differences in the process conditions and in the morphological and nutritional characteristics of potato samples (Liu et al., 2007).

Heat-treatment is a complex process that involves many physical, chemical and biochemical changes in food. In particular, during potato cooking, starch gelatinization occurs, which affects the palatability, digestibility and causes softening of the raw starch matrix. Heat is transferred into the potato tubers primarily by convection from the heating media (water) (Barba et al., 2008). Different cooking conditions have significantly different effects on the properties of potato tubers.

The physical properties of potatoes are great affected by the heat treatments. Texture and color are considered very important parameters in the cooking quality of potato samples, and they may influence consumer purchase of these potato products (Waldron et al., 1997; Turkmen et al., 2006). Changes in the texture are usually dramatic, which is due to the membrane disruption and the associated loss of turgor (Waldron et al., 1997). The texture of cooked potato has also been associated with dry matter, sugars, etc. Many attempts have been made to determine the relationship between the texture of cooked potato and the physical or chemical properties of potato starch (Kaur et al., 2002). Others changes in the potato tuber microstructure and texture during cooking have been mainly associated with the gelatinization behavior of starch through the cell wall, and the middle lamellae structural components also play a role (Alvarez et al., 2001). Additionally, cooked potatoes usually exhibit poor color quality compared with fresh tubers because of browning (Turkmen et al., 2006).

The cooking treatment leads to an increase in the rate of starch hydrolysis by gelatinizing the starch and making it more easily available for enzymatic attack during digestion (Bordoloi et al., 2012). Mulinacci et al. (2008) reported that microwaving tends to reduce the starch availability for digestive enzymes, as shown by hydrolysis curves that are consistently lower than those obtained for boiled potatoes. This finding is observed because the crystallinity of potato starch increases during microwave irradiation, and boiling tends to destroy the crystalline structure. The starch molecules undergo several physical modifications depending upon the type of starch, and the severity of the conditions applied affected the content of resistant starch (Yadav, 2011). The resistant starch (RS) content and

the effects of different cooking methods on the RS content have been on studied by several researchers (Mulinacci et al., 2008; Yadav, 2011). However, the results regarding the effect on the RS conflicted.

Apart from being a rich source of starch, potatoes contain small molecules and secondary metabolites that play an important role in many treatments (Friedman, 1997). Potatoes are good sources of natural antioxidants, such as vitamins, carotenoids, flavonoids and phenolic compounds. These natural antioxidants show potential actions against the risk of several age-related diseases, such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, cataract and macular degeneration (Chuah et al., 2008). Although the phenolic content has been extensively studied for raw potatoes (Al-Saikhan et al., 1995; Reyes et al., 2005; Stushnoff et al., 2008; Rumbaoa et al., 2009), there have been many discrepancies regarding the effect of heat treatments on the phenolics and antioxidant activity of potato samples, which could be due to the different processing conditions. Some literature has suggested that a shorter cooking time and lower temperature increased or did not change the total phenolic content and the antioxidant capacity (Navarre et al., 2010; Perla et al., 2012; Blessington et al., 2010; Lachman et al., 2013; Dao, & Friedman, 1992; Mulinacci et al., 2008).

Although there is some previous research on the effect of potato processing, very little information is available on the main components and the bioactive compounds. Thus, it is critical to understand the effect of such processing techniques on the activity and composition and physiochemical properties of potatoes. Therefore, we evaluated the effect of temperature and time of culinary treatments (boiling, baking and microwaving) on the nutritional components and physical properties of commercial potato tubers. The relationships between the different cooking treatments and the potato properties necessary for obtaining higher quality cooked potato products were also assessed.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Potato samples

Potato tubers (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) from four potato cultivars that are grown and consumed worldwide (Agata, Caesar, Kennebec and Red Pontiac) were selected according to the classifications of chapter 4 (Caesar, Kennebec and Red Pontiac belonged to the group 1; Agata belonged to group 2) and their cooking type which is defined by the European Cultivated Potato database (www.europotato.org, 2015), and they were obtained from Mercabarna (Mercados de Abastecimientos de Barcelona S.A., Barcelona, Spain). All of the potatoes were grown in Europe and had the same post-harvest storage conditions. The color of the flesh of the tubers was light-yellow, except for the Kennebec cultivar, which was white. The color of the skin was white-yellow, except for Red Pontiac, which was red.

5.2.2 Samples preparation

The average weight of the potato tubers ranged from 175.09 to 337.60 g. Approximately 18 kg of each potato cultivar of a similar size and weight were selected, washed with tap water and dried on paper towels. The potatoes were cooked with the peels. In this study, three cooking methods, boiling, baking and microwaving, at two different intensities (time-temperature) were evaluated in the four cultivars selected (Table 5.1). Each individual experiment was conducted in triplicate. The cooking conditions were determined in a preliminary experiment for each heat treatment (data not shown). To acquire the experiment data and to validate the heat transfer model, copper–constantan thermocouples (TC Direct, Spain) were used to measure the temperature during the heat treatments.

The cooking value, C_{100} , relates the quality loss during a high-temperature thermal process to an equivalent cooking process at 100 °C (Lund, 1977), and the value was estimated using the equation

$$C = \int_0^t 10^{\left[\frac{T-T_{ref}}{Z_Q}\right]} dt \tag{1}$$

Where Z_Q (Z-value) and T_{ref} (reference temperature) represent the most heat-labile component. Generally, the reference cooking value is characterized by $Z_Q = 33.1$ °C and $T_{ref} = 100$ °C (Ling et al., 2015).

After processing, the cooked potatoes cooled for 1 h and were analyzed. A portion of the samples were lyophilized using a freeze-drying instrument, Cryodos-45 (Terrasa, Spain), packed in plastic bags and maintained at -20 °C until further use.

Heat-treatment	Temperature/Power	Time (min)
Boiling (Bo100/50)	100 °C	50
Boiling (Bo100/60)	100 °C	60
Baking (Ba _{250/60})	250 °C	60
Baking (Ba _{220/65})	220 °C	65
Microwaving (M700/25)	700 W	25
Microwaving (M560/35)	560 W	35

Table 5.1 Description the conditions of different culinary treatments

Boiling: potato: water = 1:3; cooked in the covered pan using the magnetic induction heating; the time was from the start point.

Baking: cooked in a domestic hot-air oven.

Microwaving: cooked in a domestic microwave oven.

All the experiments were conducted in triplicate.

5.2.3 Physical properties analysis

Weight loss and dry matter

The weight loss was expressed by the ratio of weight difference between the fresh and processed samples to the original weight. The dry matter was analyzed following the gravimetric method (AOAC 931.04). Briefly, 3 g of ground potato samples were dried at 65 °C until they were a constant weight. The dry matter content was calculated as $g \cdot kg^{-1}$. The analyses were conducted in triplicate, and the results are expressed as the mean values \pm standard deviation.

Texture: Shear force and texture profile analysis (TPA)

The shear force of the potato tissues was measured using the texture analyzer (TAXT plus, Stable Microsystems, Surrey, UK), as described by Singh et al. (2008). The potato samples were hand-peeled and then cut into strips $(1 \times 1 \times 6 \text{ mm})$ with a stainless steel slicer. The test conditions used for the measurement included a speed of 1 mm/s and a target distance of 22 mm. The shear force was taken as the area under the curve (N). Six potato strips were used for each sample, and the results are expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation. The cooking degree was calculated by the ratio of the final shear force to the original shear force as a measure for the degree of cooking in the potatoes (Bourne, 1989).

The texture profile analysis (TPA) was performed with a 75 mm diameter cylinder probe. The potato cylindrical samples were obtained using a plastic cork broker with a diameter of approximately 19.0 mm. Each cylinder was subsequently trimmed to a length of 10.0 mm using a mechanically guided razor blade. The following parameters were set: a test speed of 0.83 mm/s and a rest period of 5 s between the two cycles. The maximum extent of deformation was 40% of the original length (Alvarez et al., 2001). According to the definitions of Szczesniak (1975) and Bourne (1978), the TPA values for hardness (N), cohesiveness (dimensionless), springiness (mm) and chewiness (N x mm) were calculated from the resulting force-time curve. Six potato cylinders were tested for each potato sample, and the results are expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation.

Color

The color of the potato samples was measured with a MINOLTA tristimulus colorimeter, CR-400 model (Minolta camera, Osaka, Japan), in the CIE lab space. The L* (lightness), a* (greenness [-] to redness [+]), b* (blueness [-] to yellowness [+]), C (Chroma, 0 at the center of the color sphere) and H° (Hue angle, red=0°, yellow=90°, green=180°, blue=270°) were recorded, and three different positions were evaluated. The parameters of hue angle (H°) and chroma (C) were calculated using: H°=tan⁻¹(b*/a*) and C= $(a^{*2}+b^{*2})^{1/2}$. Six measurements

were performed for each potato sample, and the results are expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation.

5.2.4 Chemical compounds analysis

Starch profile

The total starch (TS) and resistant starch (RS) contents were analyzed through their enzymatic hydrolysis to D-glucose using the AOAC 996.11 (amyloglucosidase/ α -amylase method) and AOAC 2002.02 methods, respectively (Megazyme, Ireland). D-(+)-Glucose obtained was oxidized to D-gluconate, which was quantitatively measured by the absorbance at 510 nm. TS and RS content were calculated as glucose×0.9. The results were expressed as g·kg⁻¹ of the lyophilized weight (LW). Each sample was analyzed in triplicate.

Extraction process for determination of sugars, total phenolic and antioxidant capacity

Methanol extracts were obtained according to Andre et al. (2009) with slight modifications. Briefly, the lyophilized powder of each sample was mixed, and 1 ± 0.01 g was weighed. The solid-liquid extraction was performed using acidified methanol/water (80:20 v/v) via sonication (Bandeline Sonoplus GM70, Germany) in ice bath and centrifugation (Selecta, Medifriger-BL, Spain) at 4500 rpm at 4 °C. The supernatant was filtered through Whatman No.1 filter paper, and the pellet was re-extracted as before. The extracts were mixed and evaporated to dryness in a rotary evaporator at 40 °C (Laborata 4000 Efficient, Germany). The concentrate was acidified and stored at -20 °C until further analysis. All samples were extracted in triplicate.

Sugars

The sugar contents were analyzed using a high-performance liquid chromatography HP1100 (Hewlett-Packard, Waldbronn, Germany) equipped with a Beckman 110B injector and a Beckman Refraction Index Detector (Beckman Instruments, Inc., San Ramon, CA, USA).

The separation was performed using a Phenomenex Lunacolumn (250 x 4.6 mm i.d.), following the method of Rodriguez-Galdon et al. (2010). The liquid extracts were filtered through a 0.45 μ m membrane filter before injection. The mobile phase consisted of acetonitrile/water (75:25, v/v), and the flow rate was 1.4 mL·min⁻¹. Individual sugars (glucose, fructose and sucrose) were identified and quantified. Each extract was analyzed in triplicate, and the results are expressed as g·kg⁻¹ of LW.

Total Phenolic content

The total phenolic content (TPC) of potato skin and flesh extracts was assessed using a modified version of the Folin-Ciocalteu assay (Singleton et al., 1999). The absorbance was measured at 765 nm by a spectrophotometer (Thermo electron Corporation, UK). Each extract was analyzed in triplicate, and the results are expressed in g of Gallic acid equivalent $kg^{-1}LW$ (g GAE $kg^{-1}LW$).

Antioxidant activity

The antioxidant activity (AA) of the extracts of the potato flesh and skin was performed using the oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) assay, as described by Gorjanovic et al. (2013). Approximately 15 μ L of diluted sample or standard solutions (Trolox) was mixed with 150 μ L of 9.57×10⁻² μ M fluorescein in a well plate. The plate was incubated at 37 °C for 10 min. The reactions were initiated by the addition of 50 μ L of AAPH (2, 2- azobis (2-amidinopropane) dihydrochloride) solutions. The fluorescence was measured every 2 min for 120 min at 37 °C using emission and excitation wavelengths of 485 and 530 nm, respectively, using a microplate fluorescence reader (SynergyTM Multi-detection Microplate Reader, BIO-TEK Instruments, USA) until the decay of the kinetic curve was complete. The area under the curve (AUC) was calculated for each sample and standard. The reagents, standard and samples were prepared with phosphate buffer at a pH of 7.40. The results are expressed by g of Trolox equivalents (TE) per kg⁻¹ of LW. Each extract was analyzed in triplicate.

5.2.5 Statistics

All of the experiments were conducted in triplicate. The variation between the content of the potato components was evaluated using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Minitab 17 Statistical software (MINITAB Inc., State College, PA, USA). The differences between the mean values were evaluated using the HSD Tukey test with a 95% confidence interval. A principal component analysis (PCA) was conducted to illustrate the relationship between the variables and analyzed using STAT-ITCF statistical software (Bordeaux, France).

5.3 Results and discussion

5.3.1 Time-temperature profiles and cooking value of the heat-treatments

The starch gelatinization in potato tubers is dependent on the temperature evolution during the cooking process. Alvarez et al. (2001) studied the cooking of potatoes and found that at 60 °C the gelatinization process in the samples was very slow. At 70 °C, they found that the starch granule gelatinization was also partial, and between 82 °C and 90 °C, the potato starch completely gelatinized but only for a very short time. In our study, the temperature curves obtained for the different cultivars under the same treatment were very similar. However, the curves for the different cooking conditions were distinct, especially for microwaving, which is significantly different from baking and boiling (Figure 5.1). Additionally, for microwaving, when the power was higher, there was less time needed to achieve the total gelatinization of the starch because of the quick increase in the core temperature. The cooking values (C_{100} , min) for the experiments are shown in Table 5.2. According to this parameter, the related intensity of the cooking treatment is higher for microwaving and baking, and followed by boiling. For the microwaving treatment, there were no significant differences between cultivars at the two powers tested (P < 0.05).



Figure 5.1 Temperature curves of a typical potato cultivar (Kennebec) during Boling, Baking and Microwaving. Values are expressed as average \pm standard deviations (n=3).

Cultivar	B0100/50	B0100/60	Ba250/60	Ba220/65	M700/25	M560/35
Weight loss						
Kennebec	$0.94{\pm}0.10^{b,C}$	$0.90{\pm}0.02^{a,C}$	19.93±0.06 ^{b,A}	21.35±0.05 ^{a,A}	11.41±0.08 ^{a,B}	$11.97{\pm}0.08^{a,B}$
Red Pontiac	$1.76 \pm 0.08^{a,C}$	1.53±0.15 ^{a,C}	23.29±0.25 ^{ab,A}	22.05±0.19 ^{a,A}	12.56±0.04 ^{a,B}	14.56±0.05 ^{a,B}
Caesar	1.53±0.01 ^{ab,C}	1.65±0.06 ^{a,C}	23.63±0.18 ^{ab,A}	22.24±0.14 ^{a,A}	12.42±0.04 ^{a,B}	13.57±0.21 ^{a,B}
Agata	1.51±0.02 ^{ab,C}	1.38±0.04 ^{a,C}	24.13±0.31 ^{a,A}	21.17±0.27 ^{a,A}	11.49±0.16 ^{a,B}	14.14±0.25 ^{a,B}
Cooking degree						
Kennebec	9.76±0.19 ^{a,A}	11.09±0.16 ^{a,A}	7.30±0.13 ^{a,A}	$7.03{\pm}0.18^{ab,A}$	$10.53{\pm}0.16^{b,A}$	$8.36{\pm}0.19^{b,A}$
Red Pontiac	$7.91{\pm}0.18^{\mathrm{a},\mathrm{B}}$	$8.10\pm0.16^{ab,B}$	$5.00{\pm}0.14^{b,B}$	8.79±0.14 ^{a,B}	18.81±0.15 ^{a,A}	18.50±0.12 ^{a,A}
Caesar	$5.98{\pm}0.19^{ab,AB}$	7.43±0.22 ^{ab,A}	$4.85{\pm}0.14^{\text{b,B}}$	$5.35{\pm}0.15^{bc,B}$	4.93±0.18 ^{c,B}	$5.75{\pm}0.10^{\text{b},\text{AB}}$
Agata	3.59±0.23 ^{b,B}	4.35±0.28 ^{b,B}	$3.47{\pm}0.18^{b,B}$	4.34±0.14 ^{c,B}	$5.04{\pm}0.24^{c,AB}$	$7.21{\pm}0.14^{b,A}$
Cooking value						
Kennebec	$5.21{\pm}0.27^{a,C}$	6.17±0.21 ^{a,BC}	10.84±0.13 ^{a,A}	6.42±0.25 ^{a,BC}	$7.72{\pm}0.20^{a,B}$	$7.34{\pm}0.13^{a,B}$
Red Pontiac	4.26±0.13 ^{a,C}	4.90±0.18 ^{b,C}	$6.86{\pm}0.24^{\text{b},\text{AB}}$	6.38±0.19 ^{a,B}	$7.08{\pm}0.25^{a,AB}$	$7.58{\pm}0.15^{a,A}$
Caesar	4.11±0.25 ^{a,C}	6.06±0.28 ^{a,B}	$7.75 {\pm} 0.27^{b,A}$	7.15±0.36 ^{a,AB}	7.63±0.27 ^{a,AB}	8.34±0.29 ^{a,A}
Agata	4.53±0.31 ^{a,D}	5.68±0.2 ^{ab,CD}	$8.96{\pm}0.19^{ab,A}$	6.98±0.29 ^{a,BC}	$8.08{\pm}0.28^{a,AB}$	$7.96{\pm}0.34^{a,AB}$

Table 5.2 Weight loss (%), cooking degree and cooking value (C100, min) in processed potatoes

Values are expressed as average \pm standard deviations (n=3).

One-way balance ANOVA by Turkey's test was performed.

Means with different small letters are significant in columns and means with different capitals are significant in rows (P<0.05).

5.3.2 Effect of cooking treatments on physical properties

Weight loss and dry matter content

Depending on the treatment, the weight losses that were obtained were significantly different (Table 5.2). Boiling produced the minimum values for all of the cultivars (< 2%), whereas baking produced the highest losses (>20%). Blaszczak et al. (2004) studied the mechanical properties and microstructure of the potatoes after boiling and microwaving, and they concluded that the weigh losses obtained during microwaving (19-23%) were due to the presence of less hydrated and swollen starch granules that promote the evaporation of

cellular water during microwave cooking. For our results, less losses were obtained after microwaving (<15%). In addition to the intensity of the treatment (C_{100} , min), the process time plays a key role in the weight loss when there is no water present during the cooking process. The possible differences in the microstructure of the potato peel may affect the water evaporation during the cooking procedures. Figure 5.2 shows the dry matter content of the potato samples. The dry matter content of cv. Kennebec was significantly higher than in the other cultivars. However, the treatments affected the dry matter content of the potatoes in a similar way, which was independent of the initial value. For the four studied cultivars, baking and microwaving led to a higher dry matter content, which is due to the water losses that occur during processing.



Figure 5.2 Effect of the different cooking treatments on the dry matter content of potato cultivars.

Values are expressed as average \pm standard deviations (n=9).

Means with different small letters are significant (P < 0.05) in different treatments at the same cultivars.

Texture parameters

The texture parameters of the fresh and cooked potatoes were evaluated. For the raw potatoes, the shear force of cv. Caesar was significantly higher than for cv. Red Pontiac (Table 5.3). Seefeldt et al. (2011) stated that the changes in potato texture after cooking are related to the physicochemical properties and structure of the cell wall. The texture of cooked potatoes depends on the cooking conditions as a result of various factors, such as starch gelatinization, pectin degradation, cell wall breakdown, cell separation, etc (Nourian et al., 2003). In our study, textural properties were directly affected by the cooking temperature and time. As expected, cooked samples had lower values compared with the raw potatoes. However, the softening of the potato tissues was significantly different between the cultivars. Additionally, when we analyzed the effect of the cooking conditions via the variance of the texture parameters, there were significant differences between the different treatments (P < 0.05), as shown in Figure 5.3. The softness of cv. Agata was higher than the other cultivars; moreover, boiling and baking had a higher impact on the hardness and shear force. Hardness can be related to the force that is necessary to break the potato with the incisors during mastication (Garcia-Segovia et al., 2008). For Kennebec, the higher hardness values were due to the higher dry matter content. For that cultivar, the longer boiling period (Bo₆₀) produces less hardness (P<0.05). Alvarez & Carnet. (2001) reported that the harder product may be related to changes in the potato cell wall and middle lamella pectic material that occurs during the heat treatments. After microwaving (M_{700/25} and $M_{560/35}$), the shear force of cv. Red Pontiac was significantly higher than for the other treatments. Chivarro et al. (2006) suggested that the migration of water from the core of the potatoes slightly lowered the moisture availability in the potato tubers and limited the starch gelatinization. The diffusion of water during the cooking process may be responsible for the differences obtained for the different cooking temperatures (Table 5.2). However, Garcia-Segovia et al. (2008) reported that the texture of cooked potatoes was directly associated with the dry matter content. Our results showed that a significant Pearson correlation coefficient was found between the dry matter and hardness (0.700; P<0.001;

n=74). The analyses of the variance of chewiness and springiness also revealed statistically significant differences between the heat treatments (P<0.05). Boiling produced lower chewiness values in all potato cultivars because of the reduced intercellular adhesion that caused breaking of the potato structure (Chiavaro et al., 2006). The cohesiveness differences among the different heat treatments were not significant.

	1	1	1		
Cultivars	Shear force (N)	Hardness (N)	Textural profile : Springiness (mm)	analysis (TPA) Cohesiveness (dimensionless)	Chewiness (N.mm)
Kennebec	31.60±1.61ab	85.01±3.11a	0.50±0.01b	0.38±0.02a	16.37±0.52a
Red Pontiac	29.43±1.11b	98.31±3.79a	0.60±0.02a	0.22±0.02b	12.65±0.62a
Caesar	35.20±1.20a	92.66±3.30a	0.63±0.02a	0.29±0.03ab	16.88±0.68a
Agata	31.31±1.53ab	81.86±2.92a	0.61±0.02a	0.30±0.01ab	15.22±0.55a

Table 5.3 Textural properties of fresh potato samples

Values are expressed as average \pm standard deviations of 10 individual potatoes.

One-way balance ANOVA by Turkey's test was performed and the mean values with different small letters are significant in columns (P < 0.05).







Figure 5.3 Textural analysis parameters for different potato cultivars (A/ Kennebec; B/ Red Pontiac; C/ Caesar; D/ Agata) caused by different cooking treatments.

Values are expressed as average (n=9).

Color

The Lightness (L*), Chroma (C) and Hue (H) values varied considerably among the different raw potato cultivars (Figure 5.4). The L* values of fresh potato tubers increased from Agata (light yellow) to Kennebec (white) in the range of 51.14 to 65.50. The Chroma values of the fresh potato cultivars were similar except for Red Pontiac, which had a lower value than the other cultivars (P < 0.05). The Hue value was higher for Agata (light yellow), followed by Caesar (light yellow) and Red Pontiac (light yellow). The lowest Hue value was obtained for Kennebec (white) among all of the fresh cultivars that we analyzed (P < 0.05). After cooking, the L* values decreased significantly except for Caesar (P < 0.05), in agreement with a previous study on carrots (Mazzeo et al., 2011), which suggests that as the potato samples became darker, the C values decreased. Additionally, the H values increased after the heat treatments of all of the cultivars in comparison with the raw potato samples (Figure 5.4). After cooking, the darkening of the surface of the potatoes is attributed to a non-enzymatic reaction in which a colored chlorogenic acid-ferric iron complex is formed. Some authors have related the browning appearance to the lightness (L^*) measured on the surface of the potato (Lante & Zocca, 2010). Moreover, surprising results were found for the cv. Agata as compared with the values of different cultivars after the treatments: the L* values were lower, and the C values were higher because of the lower and higher original value of L^* and C, respectively. Additionally, we found that the intensity of the treatment was not proportional to the color loss. Depending on the original color of the potato, the losses were different depending upon the different cooking treatment.



Figure 5.4 Effect of different cooking treatments on the color parameters (L*, C and H) of potato cultivars.

Values are expressed as average \pm standard deviations (n=9).

Means with different small letters are significant (P < 0.05) in different cultivars at the same treatments.

5.3.3 Effect of cooking treatments on chemical properties

Starch profiles

The main constituents in potatoes are water and starch. The total starch content varies from 70 to 90% of the dry weight, depending on the botanical variety (Garcia-Alonso & Goni, 2000). The content of total starch (TS) and resistant starch (RS) in fresh potato cultivars ranged from 644.01 to 757.34 g.kg⁻¹ LW and from 467.80 to 599.66 g.kg⁻¹ LW (Red Pontiac<Agata<Kennebec<Caesar), respectively. The cooking treatments produced a new starch profile for all of the cultivars. Generally, the heat produced a significant reduction in the resistant starch (RS) content and an increase in the soluble starch content (Figure 5.5). We observed that the average content of TS slightly decreased during boiling, baking and microwaving in the tested cultivars compared with the original value for the raw potatoes. The baked and microwaved potato samples had lower TS values than the boiled potatoes, possibly due to the difference in the gelatinization during baking and microwaving than during boiling.

When the potato tuber is cooked, almost all of the starch becomes digestible. However, different processing conditions and potato cultivars may affect the final RS content. The highest RS content percentage of the original value of the raw samples for an average of all of the cultivars was found in the baked potatoes. The variation of the average RS values for the potatoes under the different conditions was insignificant. The higher RS content retention in the Kennebec and Agata cultivars was due to the baking treatment, while the higher RS retention of the Red Pontiac and Caesar cultivars was found in the microwaved potatoes. Therefore, the RS content retention for the baked and microwaved potatoes was higher than the retention of the boiled potatoes for all of the tested cultivars, which is in agreement with the report by Garcia-Alonso & Goni (2000). They found that the amount of RS depends on the degree of gelatinization and retrogradation during the cooling of the potato products. A positive and no significant correlation (r=0.171, P=0.152) was found
between the cooking value and the RS content, which also verified the cooking quality of baking and microwaving over the quality of boiling.



Figure 5.5 Change of the content of starch profiles (A/Total starch; B/Resistant starch) from initial levels in raw potatoes (100%) to final levels (%) caused by boiling, baking and microwaving treatment.

Values are expressed as average (n=9).

Sugars

The sugar content of potatoes is in a form of a reducing monosaccharide, such as D-glucose and D-fructose, and a non-reducing disaccharide, such as sucrose (Lisinska & Leszczynski, 1989). The concentration of glucose (4.66-28.20 g·kg⁻¹ LW) was higher than that of fructose (5.35-25.81 g·kg⁻¹ LW) and sucrose (1.69-6.78 g.kg⁻¹ LW) in all of the fresh potato cultivars, which is in agreement with Plata-Guerrero et al. (2009). The lowest sugar content (fructose, glucose and sucrose) in all of the tested cultivars was cv. Kennebec (Table 5.4). Our results showed that the reducing sugar (glucose and fructose) content of the fresh potato samples ranged from 10.01 to 53.46 g·kg⁻¹ LW, and cv. Red Pontiac and cv. Caesar tubers contained more reducing sugar content than those of the other cultivars (P<0.05).

Significant changes in the glucose, fructose and sucrose content were observed during processing as several chemical reactions took place. One of the main reactions is the Maillard reaction in which the glucose and fructose react with amino acids to improve the sensory properties of the product, and the sucrose is hydrolyzed during the heat treatment (Murniece et al., 2011). The free starch can undergo degradation to form a monosaccharide, such as glucose, during processing.

From the results (Table 5.4), we observe that the individual sugars (fructose, glucose and sucrose) increased during baking and microwaving compared with the raw tubers, and the highest increase was due to the baking treatment for all of cultivars, especially baking at 250 °C for 60 min (B_{250/60}). However, the sugar content of certain cultivars decreased during boiling, which may be due to the leaching of sugars in the water during processing. Significant differences between the cultivars were found (P<0.05), e.g., the lowest sugar content (fructose, glucose and sucrose) in all of the cultivars after processing was cv. Kennebec due to the low original content.

Cultivar	Raw	Bo _{100/50}	B0100/60	Ba _{250/60}	Ba _{220/65}	M700/25	M560/35
Fructose							
Kennebec	5.35±0.31 ^{c,C}	5.57±0.66 ^{c,BC}	5.74±0.71 ^{b,ABC}	$6.98{\pm}0.58^{b,AB}$	$7.01{\pm}0.42^{b,A}$	6.42±0.27 ^{b,ABC}	5.62±0.29 ^{c,ABC}
Red Pontiac	25.81±0.94 ^{a,AB}	22.58±1.08 ^{a,BC}	19.55±0.74 ^{a,C}	31.40±1.45 ^{a,A}	27.55±0.99 ^{a,AB}	$26.97{\pm}1.34^{a,AB}$	27.17±0.61 ^{a,AB}
Caesar	$23.67{\pm}0.65^{b,A}$	16.19±0.35 ^{b,B}	15.19±1.07 ^{a,B}	26.09±0.99a,A	24.08±1.05 ^{a,A}	27.01±1.09 ^{a,A}	24.86±0.43 ^{ab,A}
Agata	22.55±0.49 ^{b,A}	24.83±0.53 ^{a,A}	22.16±1.38 ^{a,A}	30.86±1.02 ^{a,A}	27.46±1.11 ^{a,A}	27.88±1.05 ^{a,A}	$23.61 {\pm} 0.74^{b,A}$
Glucose							
Kennebec	4.66±0.20 ^{b,B}	6.71±0.09 ^{c,AB}	7.10±0.22 ^{b,A}	7.30±0.39 ^{b,A}	6.39±0.42 ^{b,AB}	7.69±0.44 ^{b,A}	6.41±0.31 ^{b,AB}
Red Pontiac	27.64±1.13 ^{a,BC}	22.73±1.27 ^{ab,CD}	19.43±1.17 ^{ab,D}	38.37±1.07 ^{a,A}	31.35±1.20 ^{a,B}	27.65±1.15 ^{a,BC}	28.01±1.05 ^{a,BC}
Caesar	28.20±0.69 ^{a,B}	17.81±1.16 ^{b,C}	17.87±1.40 ^{ab,C}	31.77±0.82 ^{a,A}	29.22±1.12 ^{a,AB}	29.50±1.27 ^{a,AB}	28.52±1.12 ^{a,AB}
Agata	25.83±1.03 ^{a,A}	28.90±1.12 ^{a,A}	22.91±1.23 ^{a,A}	34.33±1.23 ^{a,A}	27.46±1.07 ^{a,A}	33.26±0.87 ^{a,A}	26.57±1.03 ^{a,A}
Sucrose							
Kennebec	1.69±0.46 ^{b,C}	4.15±0.25 ^{b,AB}	6.01±0.29 ^{a,A}	5.18±0.29 ^{b,AB}	5.07±0.15 ^{a,AB}	3.92±0.19 ^{b,ABC}	3.25±0.12 ^{b,BC}
Red Pontiac	6.78±0.25 ^{a,AB}	$5.32{\pm}0.42^{b,B}$	7.33±0.30 ^{a,AB}	11.28±0.33 ^{a,A}	6.22±0.17 ^{a,B}	8.18±0.24 ^{a,AB}	7.77±0.22 ^{a,AB}
Caesar	5.60±0.34 ^{a,BC}	3.66±0.14 ^{b,C}	5.81±0.29 ^{a,B}	5.76±0.36 ^{b,B}	5.97±0.39 ^{a,AB}	7.21±0.26 ^{a,AB}	8.04±0.25 ^{a,A}
Agata	$5.35{\pm}0.34^{a,B}$	9.10±0.45 ^{a,A}	5.29±0.24 ^{a,B}	9.65±0.43 ^{a,A}	8.18±0.35 ^{a,AB}	8.64±0.24 ^{a,AB}	7.29±0.53 ^{a,AB}

|--|

Values are expressed as average \pm standard deviations (n=9).

One-way balance ANOVA by Turkey's test was performed.

Means with different small letters are significant in columns and means with different capitals are significant in rows (*P*<0.05).

Total phenolic content

The total phenolic content (TPC) of the fresh potatoes was analyzed for the four cultivars. The evaluation of the fresh potatoes for TPC revealed that there was a higher phenolic concentration in the skin than in the flesh, and it was often two-times more. The TPC of the potato flesh and skin ranged from 1.05 (Agata) to 2.49 (Caesar) g GAE·kg⁻¹ LW and from 2.89 (Kennebec) to 4.40 (Red Pontiac) g GAE·kg⁻¹ LW, respectively. The TPC of the skin of the cv. Red Pontiac was higher than for the other cultivars because of its red skin color. Several authors have described a considerable reduction in the amount of TPC during cooking, depending on the cultivar and cooking methods (Perla et al., 2012; Blessington et al., 2010). We observed that the changes in the TPC of the potato flesh were more dependent on the genotype of each cultivar (Figure 5.6A). After cooking, the TPC of cv. Caesar and cv. Agata significantly differed from the other cultivars because of their lowest and highest retentions of TPC, respectively. For the boiling treatment, the TPC retention of Bo_{100/60} in the three cultivars (Red Pontiac, Caesar and Agata) were slightly higher than the content after $Bo_{100/50}$, which suggests that the lower core temperature assisted in retaining the TPC. The TPC retention percentage after baking, Ba_{250/60}, was higher than Ba_{220/65} in all of the tested cultivars except for Kennebec. For the baked potatoes, the highest temperature and the shortest time retained higher levels of TPC in all three of the potato cultivars. Navarre et al. (2010) stated that baking at 375 °C for 30 min increases the amount of extractable phenolics, while Perla et al. (2012) found a 54.0% loss in the TPC after baking at 204 °C for 60 min. Additionally, the TPC retention values after microwaving, $M_{560/35}$, were higher than $M_{700/25}$, which indicates that the lower power plays a key role in retaining a higher TPC content for the microwaved potatoes. In summary, a lower core temperature during boiling, a higher temperature and shorter baking time, and a lower microwave power were all beneficial for retaining the TPC in the potato flesh of the cultivars. Palermo et al. (2014) suggested that the reduction of TPC after the cooking treatments was attributed to water-soluble phenolics that leach into the water (boiling) and breakdown. Therefore, the phenolic compounds are highly reactive species that undergo several reactions during food processing that are related to the cultivars and cooking conditions.

The removal of the skin before or after cooking is influential in determining the phenolic compounds (Blessington et al., 2010). Recently, there have been some controversial results on the effect of different heat treatments on the TPC levels. Mattila & Hellstrom (2007)

observed that the cooked potato peels exhibited enhanced the TPC levels when compared to uncooked peels. In contrast, Mondy & Gosselin (1988) suggested that during processing the phenolic compounds migrated from the peel into both the cortex and the internal tissues of the potato tubers, leading to the decrease in the peel content. Our results suggest that higher losses of TPC in the potato skin were obtained after boiling and microwaving; however, the TPC slightly increased after baking for all of the cultivars (Figure 5.6B).





Figure 5.6 Change of the flesh and skin content of total phenolic content (TPC) (A/TPC-Flesh; B/TPC-Skin) and antioxidant activity (AA) (C/AA-Flesh; D/AA-Skin) from initial levels in raw potatoes (100%) to final levels (%) caused by boiling, baking and microwaving. Values are expressed as average (n=9).

Antioxidant activity

The different heat treatments reduced or, in some cases, enhanced the antioxidant activity (AA) of the potato genotypes with respect to the uncooked potato samples (Navarre et al., 2010; Perla et al., 2012; Blessington et al., 2010). The AA in the flesh of the raw potato samples ranged from 9.93 (Agata) to 26.46 (Caesar) g TE·kg⁻¹ LW, and the AA in the skin of the raw potatoes ranged from 60.59 (Caesar) to 97.56 (Agata) g TE·kg⁻¹ LW.

The average AA content in the flesh samples increased due to all of the cooking methods when compared with the uncooked potato samples, which is in agreement with Blessington et al. (2010) & Navarre et al. (2010). However, the largest increase was caused by the microwave treatment. The AA increase in potato fleshes may be associated with an increase in the extractability of these compounds from the cellular matrix due to the starch textural changes during the cooking processes (Blessington et al., 2010). Additionally, cooking may result in higher recoveries and produce inactivating enzymes that consume the AA during the processing (Navarre et al., 2010). Although a consistent trend for the AA in the overall average results for all of the cultivars was found, the differences between the cultivars and the heat treatments were inconclusive due to the large internal variability of the cultivars and the different cooking conditions. The cultivars exhibited a more considerable influence on the AA changes in the flesh of the potato samples (Figure 5.6C). The cv. Agata showed a significant increase in the AA of the flesh samples (increased to 174% ~215% of the original value). In contrast, the cv. Caesar showed a significant reduction in the AA (to $38\% \sim 51\%$ of original value) when compared with the other cultivars.

Potato tubers are always cooked before consumption; however, there is very limited information on the effect of cooking on the AA of cultivars in the flesh and skin, especially in the skin. All of the cooking methods demonstrated a reduced AA in the potato peels in comparison with the uncooked potato peels (Figure 5.6D). The most favorable influence on the content of AA in the peels was achieved via baking, except for with the Red Pontiac at Ba_{250/60}. If potatoes are eaten with their skin, some nutrient losses are avoided.

5.3.4 Principal component analysis

Principle component analysis (PCA) was used to summarize the relationship between the properties of the potato cultivars that were tested after cooking with the different heat treatments. The PCA reduced the number of variables in the physical and chemical properties of the potatoes to simplify the data without loss of relevant information and to improve the understanding of the associations via identification of new, uncorrelated variables (Alvarez & Canet, 2001).

The PCA revealed that fifteen principle components (F1 to F15) explained the variance among the data, and the first two principle components accounted for 77.32% of the total variation (Figure 5.7). The first component (F1) explained 50.83% of the total variance, and the second component (F2) accounted for 26.49% of the total variance, which indicated that the first two principal components included variables that differentiated the tested cultivars. The texture parameters (shear force, hardness and chewiness), color parameters (hue angle and lightness) and cooking degrees had positive loadings, and the RS, AA and Chroma had negative loadings for the first principal component. The weight loss, springiness, cohesiveness and DM had negative loadings, while the TS and TPC had positive loadings for the second principal component. The properties of the potatoes showed similar directions, indicating a strong relationship between these attributes.

After six different processing treatments, four cultivars were scattered, and different groups were observed for the F1 and F2 and are shown in Figure 5.8. However, the scores of samples after microwaving, except for the Kennebec cultivar, are not shown in Figure 5.8 because the scores of the vectors were too close to the zero line. The directions of F1 explained the effect of the cultivars on the properties of the potatoes, whereas F2 explained the effect of the heat treatments on the properties. Regarding F2 for the tested cultivars after different heat treatments, after boiling, all of the tested cultivars were associated with the highest TS and TPC. After baking, the tubers exhibited higher DM, springiness, cohesiveness and weight loss. However, the cultivars that were microwaved could be

classified into two groups: 1) the Kennebec and Red Pontiac cultivars exhibited the highest shear force, hardness, chewiness, H, L and cooking degree, 2) the Caesar and Agata cultivar exhibited the highest RS, AA and C. F1 primarily discriminated the cooked potato cultivars: the Agata cultivars from the Kennebec, Red Pontiac and Caesar cultivars, which also proved the classification groups of Chapter 4. After the heat treatments, the Agata cultivar exhibited higher AA, TPC, RS and C, and the other cultivars (Kennebec, Red Pontiac and Caesar) were associated with the higher TS, DM, cooking degree, the textural parameter values and the color parameter (L and H) values.

The PCA was sufficient to prove the effect of the different treatments and the different cultivars on the properties of the potatoes. However, the cultivars with higher color parameter values (L and H) and the cultivars with all of the textural parameters were associated with more DM and TS content, while the cultivars with higher TPC, AA and RS content were related to the higher color parameter value (L). Additionally, the cultivars after boiling exhibited higher TS and TPC, while the tubers after baking showed DM and weight loss. Therefore, the PCA results verified that there were significant relationships between the physical instrumental properties and the functional properties after cooking. According to the PCA, the physical instrumental properties of cooked potato products, which can establish the nutritional and functional properties of cooked potato products, which can establish the nutritional difference and may be useful in industry. Moreover, some of the nutritional and functional protections after the treatments demonstrated the potential efficacy of processing potatoes to satisfy the nutritional needs of consumers and the needs of industry.



Figure 5.7 Loadings of the physiochemical properties on the first and second principle component (F1 and F2) after the different cooking methods.

DM=dry matter, TS=total starch, RS=resistant starch, TPC=total phenolic content,

AA=antioxidant activity, She=shear force, Har=hardness, Spr=springiness, Coh=cohesiveness,

Che=chewiness, C=chroma, H=hue angle, L=lightness



Figure 5.8 First and second principle component scores of the potato cultivars after different cooking methods. The vector values of some microwaving experiments were too closed to the zero line, so some microwaving cultivars had not showed in this figure.

K: Kennebec; R: Red Pontiac; C: Caesar; A: Agata

Bo1: Bo100/50; Bo2: Bo100/60; Ba1: Ba250/60; Ba2: Ba220/65; M1: M700/25; M2: M560/35

5.4 Conclusions

The effect of cooking treatments and cultivars on the physical and chemical properties of potatoes was investigated. Cooking treatments with air involved higher weight losses due to the evaporation of potato water across the skin, independently of the cultivar. Baking was the culinary process that promoted the higher losses. The softening after being cooked was

more dependent on the potato cultivar than heat-treatments. Boiling and baking were the treatments that highly affected the Shear force and Hardness. However, chewiness and springiness were remarkable different between treatments in all tested potato cultivars. The diffusion of water across the potato tissues may be responsible of the differences in softening. All the cooking treatments affected similarly the dry matter of potato independently of the assessed cultivars. Microwaved potatoes had higher values of DM. The intensity of the treatment is not proportional to the color losses after being cooked.

Lesser time is needed for the starch gelatinization of potato during microwaving respect boiling and baking in the studied conditions. The TS and RS decreased after processing and the RS retention of baking and microwaving was higher than that of boiling; the individual sugars (fructose, glucose and sucrose) increased by baking and microwaving, but the content of certain cultivars decreased by boiling.

The effect of the cooking process on the TPC and AA in potato flesh depends on the potato cultivar. However, the maximum retention of bioactive compounds (TPC and AA) was obtained with the lower core temperature during boiling, the higher temperature and shorter time of baking and the lower power of microwaving.

Regarding to the different cultivars and heat-treatments, the PCA results showed that the significant relationships were between the physical instrument properties and functional properties after cooking potato cultivars. PCA results discriminated the Agata cultivars from the Kennebec, Red Pontiac and Caesar cultivars after cooking, which also proved the classification groups of Chapter 4. The physical instrument properties may be considered the indicator of some nutritional and functional properties of cooking potato products, and certain nutritional and functional parameters of different cultivars after treatments indicated the potential efficacy to satisfy the nutritional needs of consumers and industrial use.

5.5 References

- Al-Saikhan, M.S., Howard, L.R., & Miller, J.C. (1995). Antioxidant activity and total phenolics in different genotypes of potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*). *Journal of Food Science*, 60(2), 341-343.
- Alvarez, M.D., Canet, W., & Tortosa, M.E. (2001). Kinetics of thermal softening of potato tissue (cv. Monalis) by water heating. *European Food Research and Technology*, 212, 588-596.
- Alvarez, M.D., & Canet, W. (2001). Principal component analysis to study the effect of temperature fluctuations during storage of frozen potato. *European Food Research and Technology*, 211, 415-421.
- Andre, C.M., Oufir, M., Hoffmann, L., Hausman, J.F., Rogez, H., Larondelle, Y., & Evers, D. (2009). Influence of environment and genotype on polyphenol compounds and in vitro antioxidant capacity of native Andean potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum L.*). *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 22, 517-524.
- Barba, A.A., Calabretti, A., Amore, M., Piccinelli, A.L., & Rastrelli, L. (2008). Phenolic constituents levels in cv. Agria potato under microwave processing. *Food Science and Technology*, 41, 1919-1926.
- Błaszczak, W., Sadowska, J., Fornal, J., Vacek, J., Flis, B., & Zagórski-Ostoja, W. (2004). Influence of cooking and microwave heating on microstructure and mechanical properties of transgenic potatoes. *Nahrung/Food*, 48(3), 169-176.
- Blessington, T., Nzaramba, M.N., Scheuring, D.C., Hale, A.L., Reddivari, L., & Miller, J.C. (2010). Cooking methods and storage treatments of potato: Effects on carotenoids, antioxidant activity, and phenolics. *American of Journal of Potato Research*, 87, 479-491.
- Bordoloi, A., Kaur, L., & Singh, J. (2012). Parenchyma cell microstructure and textural characteristics of raw and cooked potatoes. *Food Chemistry*, *133*, 1092-1100.
- Bourne, M.C. (1978). Texture profile analysis. Food Technology, 32, 62-66.

- Bourne, M.C. (1989). Applications of chemical kinetic theory to the rate of thermal softening of vegetable tissue. In: J.J. Jen (Ed.), Quality factors of fruits and vegetables. *Chemistry and Technology*, 98-110.
- Chiavaro, E., Barbanti, D., Vittadini, E., & Massini, R. (2006). The effect of different cooking methods on the instrumental quality of potatoes (cv.Agata). *Journal of Food Engineering*, 77, 169-178.
- Chuah, A.M., Lee, Y.C., Yamaguchi, T., Takamura, H., Yin, L.J., & Matoba, T. (2008). Effect of cooking on the antioxidant properties of coloured peppers. *Food Chemistry*, *111*, 20-28.
- Dao, L., & Friedman, M. (1992). Chlorogenic acid content of fresh and processed potatoes determined by ultraviolet spectrophotometry. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 40(11), 2152-2156.
- Friedman, M. (1997). Chemistry, biochemistry, and dietary role of potato polyphenols. A review. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, 45, 1523-1540.
- Garcia-Segovia, P., Andres-Bello, A., & Martinez-Monzo, J. (2008). Textural properties of potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L., cv. Monalisa) as affected by different cooking processes. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 88, 28-35.
- Garcia-Alonso, A., & Goni, I. (2000). Effect of processing on potato starch: In vitro availability and glycaemic index. *Starch/Starke*. *52*, 81-84.
- Gorjanovic, S.Z., Alvarez-Suarez, J.M., Novakovic, M.M., Pastor, F.T., Pezo, L., Battino, M., & Suznjevic, D.Z. (2013). Comparative analysis of antioxidant activity of honey of different floral sources using recently developed polarographic and various spectrophotometric assays. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 1(30), 13-18.
- Kaur, L., Singh, N., Sodhi, N.S., & Gujral, H.S. (2002). Some properties of potatoes and their starches I . Cooking, textural and rheological properties of potatoes. *Food Chemistry*, 79, 177-181.

- Lachman, J., Hamouz, K., Musilova, J., Hejtmankova, K., Kotikova, Z., Pazderu, K., Domkarova, J., Pivec, V., & Cimr, J. (2013). Effect of peeling and three cooking methods on the content of selected phytochemicals in potato tubers with various colour of flesh. *Food Chemistry*, 138, 1189-1197.
- Lante, A. & Zocca, F. (2010). Effect of β -cyclodextrin addition on quality of precooked vacuum packed potatoes. *Food Science and Technology*, 43(3), 409-414.
- Ling, B., Tang, J., Kong, F., Mitcham, E.J., & Wang, S. (2015). Kinetics of food quality changes during thermal processing: a review. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, *8*, 343-358.
- Liu, Q., Tarn, R., Lynch, D., & Skjodt, N.M. (2007). Physicochemical properties of dry matter and starch from potatoes grown in Canada. *Food Chemistry*, 105, 897-907.
- Lisinska, G., & Leszczynski, W. (1989). Potato science and technology. Elselvier Applied Science. London and New York, 1-140.
- Lund, D.B. (1977). Design of thermal processes for minimizing nutrient retention. *Food Technology*, 71-78.
- Mattila, P., & Hellstrom, J. (2007). Phenolic acids in potatoes, vegetables, and some of their products. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 20, 152-160.
- Mazzeo, T., N'Dri, D., Chiavaro, E., Visconti, A., Fogliano, V., & Pellegrini, N. (2011). Effect of two cooking procedures on phytochemical compounds, total antioxidant capacity and colour of selected frozen vegetables. *Food Chemistry*, 128(3), 627-633.
- Mondy, N.I., & Gosselin, B. (1988). Effect of peeling on total phenols, total glycoalkaloids, discloloration and flavor of cooked potatoes. *Journal of Food Science*, *53*, 756-759.
- Mulinacci, N., Leri, F., Giaccherini, C., Innocenti, M., Andrenelli, L., Canova, G., Saracchi, M., & Casiraghi, M.C. (2008). Effect of cooking on the anthocyanins, phenolic acids, glycoalkaloids, and resistant starch content in two pigmented cultivars of Solanum tuberosum L. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56(24), 11830-11837.

- Murniece, I., Karklina, D., Galoburda, R., Santare, D., Skrabule, I., & Costa, H.S. (2011). Nutritional composition of freshly harvested and stored Latvian potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) varieties depending on traditional cooking methods. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 24, 699-710.
- Navarre, D.A., Shakya, R., Holden, J., & Kumar, S. (2010). The effect of different cooking methods on phenolics and vitamin C in developmentally young potato tubers. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 87, 350-359.
- Nourian, F., Ramaswamy, H.S., & Kushalappa, A.C. (2003). Kinetic changes in cooking quality of potatoes stored at different temperatures. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 60, 257-266.
- Palermo, M., Pellegrini, N., & Fogliano, V. (2014). The effect of cooking on the phytochemical content of vegetables. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 94, 1057-1070.
- Perla, V., Holm, D.G., & Jayanty, S.S. (2012). Effects of cooking methods on polyphenols, pigments and antioxidant activity in potato tubers. *Food Science and Technology*, 45, 161-171.
- Plata-Guerrero, P.R., Hernandez, G.E., & Villanova, G.B. (2009). Determination of reducing sugars and asparagine in potatoes. *Journal of Liquid Chromatography and Related Technologies*, *32*, 2556-2568.
- Price, K.R., Bacon, J.R., & Rhodes, M.J.C. (1997). Effect of storage and domestic processing on the content and composition of flavonol glucosides in onion (*Allium cepa*). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, *45*(*3*), 938-942.
- Reyes, L., Miller, J., & Cisneros-Zevallos, L. (2005). Antioxidant capacity, anthocyanins and total phenolics in purple-and red-fleshed potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) genotypes. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 82(4), 271-277.
- Rodriguez-Galdon, B., Rios, M.D., Rodriquez, E.M., & Diaz, R.C. (2010). Influence of the cultivar on the organic acid and sugar composition of potatoes. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, *90*, 2301-2309.

- Rumbaoa, R., Cornago, D., & Geronimo, I. (2009). Phenolic content and antioxidant capacity of Philippine potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) tubers. *Food Composition and Analysis*, 22(6), 546-550.
- Seefeldt, H.F., Tonning, E., Wiking, L., & Thybo, A.K. (2011). Appropriateness of culinary preparations of potato (*Solanum tuberosum L.*) varieties and relation to sensory and physicochemical properties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Science*, *91*, 412-420.
- Singh, J., Kaur, L., McCarthy, O.J., Moughan, P.J., & Singh, H. (2008). Rheological and textural characteristics of raw and par-cooked Taewa (Maori potatoes) of New Zealand. *Journal of Texture studies*, 39, 210-230.
- Singleton, V.L., Orthofer, R., & Lamuela-Raventos, R.M. (1999). Analysis of total phenols and other oxidation substrates and antioxidants by means of Folin-Ciocalteau reagent. *Methods Enzymol*, 299, 152-178.
- Spanos, G., Wrolstad, R., & Heatherbell, D. (1990). Influence of processing and storage on the phenolic composition of apple juice. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 38(7), 1572-1579.
- Stushnoff, C., Holim, D., Thompson, M.D., Jiang, W., Thompson, H.J., Joyce, N.I., & Wilson, P. (2008). Antioxidant properties of cultivars and selections from the Colorado Potato Breeding Program. *American Journal of Potato Research*, 85(4), 267-276.
- Szczesniak, A.S. (1975). General foods texture profile revisited ten years perspective. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 6, 5-8.
- Turkmen, N., Poyrazoglu, E.S., Sari, F., & Velioglu, S.Y. (2006). Effects of cooking methods on chlorophylls, pheophytins and colour of selected green vegetables. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 41, 281-288.
- Waldron, K.W., Smith, A.C., Parr, A.J., Ng, A., & Parker, M.L. (1997). New approaches to understanding and controlling cell separation in relation to fruit and vegetable texture. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 8, 213-221.
- Yadav, B.S. (2011). Effect of frying, baking and storage conditions on the resistant starch content of foods. *British Food Journal*, *113*(6), 710-718.

Chapter 6

Influence of the frying process and potato cultivar on acrylamide formation in French fries

This chapter has been submitted as:

Yang, Y., Achaerandio, I., & Pujola, M. (2015). Influence of the frying process and potato cultivar on acrylamide formation in French fries. *Food Control*.

Abstract

Three potato cultivars (Kennebec, Red Pontiac and Agria) commonly used for fried potato products were selected to evaluate the effect of different frying conditions on acrylamide formation in French fries. The main objective was to determine the relationships between the precursors of acrylamide in the fresh potato tubers (reducing sugars and asparagine) and the properties of the fried potato strips (oil uptake, moisture content, colour and texture) with the acrylamide concentration after frying. Frying experiments were conducted at 150, 170 and 190 °C. The potato strips exhibited more acrylamide content, lower oil uptake, higher moisture content, darker colour, and greater hardness when the frying temperature was increased from 150 to 190 °C. Significant positive relationships were observed between the acrylamide level and the asparagine, reducing sugars and sucrose contents, b*, Chroma and shear force and negative correlations with the oil uptake and L* in fried potato strips. In addition, the oil uptake presented significant positive correlations with the L* and H in French fries. However, these relationships were different between individual cultivars, especially for the Agria cultivar, which exhibited no correlation between the studied factors. This study clearly indicates the complex relationship of acrylamide formation with possible precursors in various potato cultivars.

Keywords: reducing sugars; asparagine; colour; texture; oil uptake; sunflower oil

6.1 Introduction

The potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) is one of the world's major agricultural crops and is consumed daily by millions of people from diverse cultural backgrounds (Pedreschi & Moyano, 2005). French fries have been a popular salty snack for 150 years, and their retail sales in the US are almost one-third of the total sales in this market (Garayo & Moreira, 2002).

Influence of the frying process and potato cultivar on acrylamide formation in French fries

Frying has been defined as the immersion of a food product in an edible oil above the boiling point of water (Hubbard & Farkas, 1999), with colour, texture and flavour development. It is a complex process because of the two mass transfers in opposite directions within the material being fried; for starchy products, water and some soluble material escapes from the products and oil enters the food (Blumenthal & Stier, 1991). The reports of acrylamide intake indicate that fried potato products, bread and bakery products, coffee and breakfast cereals are the food commodities that contribute the greatest dietary acrylamide exposure (Vinci et al., 2012). EFSA (2011) reported that the 95th percentiles of the acrylamide intake for adults and for children are estimated to range between 0.6-2.3 µg.kg⁻¹ bw/day and 1.5-4.2 µg.kg⁻¹ bw/day, respectively. Acrylamide is a neurotoxin in humans, and it has been considered to be a probable human carcinogen (Hogervorst et al., 2007; Pedreschi et al., 2004). Researchers and industry need to find solutions to reduce or prevent acrylamide formation, despite the lack of legal limits for this contaminant, in foods, especially fried potato products.

Acrylamide is a by-product of the Maillard reaction in food processed at a temperature > 120 °C (Mottram et al., 2002; Stadler et al., 2002). The content of acrylamide is dependent on factors such as the cultivar, fertilization, storage, blanching, cooking temperature and time, and the amount of reducing sugars and free amino acids, such as asparagine, present in the potatoes (Marquez & Anon, 1986; Cheong et al., 2005; Halford et al., 2012). There have been several reports on reducing acrylamide formation, and these strategies were compiled in а "Toolbox" Food Drink by Europe (http://www.fooddrinkeurope.eu/uploads/publications documents/Toolboxfinal260911.pdf). The reducing sugars and asparagine, as acrylamide precursors, are very important for reducing the acrylamide content in fried potato products (Palazoglu et al., 2010). However, the relationship between the asparagine and reducing sugars concentrations in the fresh potatoes and the acrylamide formation during processing are surprisingly complicated. According to the report of Vinci et al. (2012), asparagine concentrations are relatively high

compared to the reducing sugars content, which represents the limiting factor in acrylamide formation in fried potato products. In contrast, Shepherd et al. (2010) found that the asparagine and sugar concentrations contributed approximately equally to the acrylamide formation. In addition, Halford et al. (2012) suggested that when the sugar concentration was relatively high, acrylamide formation during processing was proportional to the sugar content, whereas when the sugar level was low, acrylamide formation was proportional to the sugar content.

As one strategy to reduce acrylamide formation, the potato cultivar selection is very important. Some cultivars are more suitable than others for frying in strips, due to their large, long tubers and low reducing sugar content. The frying conditions dramatically affect the levels of acrylamide, as well as the browning, texture, and flavour development caused by the Maillard reaction. The frying time and oil temperature should be controlled to reduce the acrylamide content, and the temperature should not exceed 170-175 °C, as lower temperatures towards the end of the Maillard reaction may reduce acrylamide formation (Vinci et al., 2012). Longer frying periods may result in higher acrylamide contents.

During the frying process, oil is used as the heating medium and as an ingredient producing calorific products. Oil uptake is considered the major nutritional critical point of fried products because of the epidemic obesity prevalent in developed and even in developing countries caused by meals rich in fat (FAO, 2002). In addition, Zamora & Hidalgo (2008) and Capuano et al. (2010) indicated that lipid oxidation positively influences the formation of acrylamide. However, other studies have not discovered any significant negative effect of the oil uptake on acrylamide formation. To date, there is still some confusion and misunderstanding regarding the influence of oil uptake on acrylamide formation. Due to health concerns, consumer preference for low-fat and fat-free products has been the driving force of studies to understand the oil uptake to control and reduce the oil uptake and acrylamide content while still retaining the desirable texture and flavour of fried potato products.

This study aimed to evaluate the influence of frying conditions on acrylamide formation and to investigate the existence of a relationship between acrylamide levels and the factors potentially involved in the formation of acrylamide, such as the frying temperature, reducing sugars, asparagine, moisture, oil uptake and instrumental sensory parameters (colour and texture) in three potato cultivars commonly used for fried products in Europe.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Sample preparation

In accordance with the report by Yang et al. (2015) (Chapter 4), potato tubers (*Solanum tuberosum*) of three cultivars (Red Pontiac, Kennebec and Agria) were selected. Tubers were commercialized in Spain and obtained from Mercabarna (Mercados de Abastecimientos de Barcelona SA, Barcelona, Spain). All potato cultivars were grown in Europe and had the same postharvest storage conditions prior to use. The dry matter content of all potato cultivars was greater than 200 g·kg⁻¹. The flesh colour of the Red Pontiac and Agria cultivars was yellow, and the colour of the cv. Kennebec was white. The mean weights of all the potato cultivars were similar, higher than 200 g. The potatoes were stored at 8 °C and 95% relative humidity and were washed and peeled by hand. The tubers were then cut into strips (1×1×6 mm) with a stainless steel slicer. Sunflower oil containing 65% oleic acid was used in the frying.

6.2.2 Frying conditions

200 g strips of each sample were fried in an electrical fryer (Taurus, Spain) at the following temperature-time conditions: (i) 190 °C for 160 s, (ii) 170 °C for 240 s, (iii) 150 °C for 330 s. The frying period was previously determined by the final colour of the frying strips. The final colour of the fried strips was fixed to standard 3 on the colour scale of the USDA standard for frozen French fries. The potato strips' mass to oil mass ratio (g/g) was 1:5.

Each cultivar was fried in triplicate under the same frying conditions. After frying, portions of the samples were lyophilized using a Cryodos-45 freeze-drying instrument (Terrasa, Spain), packed in plastic bags and maintained at -20 °C until further use.

6.2.3 Instrumental analysis of color and texture

Colour

The colour of the potato strips was measured using a Minolta CR-400 colorimeter (Osaka, Japan) in the CIE lab space. The L* (lightness), a* (greenness [-] to redness [+]), and b* (blueness [-] to yellowness [+]) were recorded and evaluated. The parameters of hue angle (H°) and chroma (C) were calculated as H°=tan⁻¹(b*/a*) and C= $(a^{*2}+b^{*2})^{1/2}$. Six measurements were taken for each experiment, and the results were expressed as the mean value ± standard deviation.

Texture analysis: Shear force and texture profile analysis

The shear force of the samples was measured using a texture analyser (TAXT plus, Stable Microsystems, Surrey, UK), as described by Singh et al. (2008). The test conditions used for the measurement were pre-test speed 1 mm/s; test speed 1 mm/s; post-test speed 1 mm/s; target distance of 30 mm into the samples and trigger force of 2 g. Six potato strips were taken for each experiment, and the shear force (N) was expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation.

Each potato strip was cut to a length of 10.0 mm using a knife. The texture profile analysis (TPA) was performed with the parameters set to pre-test speed 0.83 mm/s, test speed 0.83 mm/s and post-test speed 0.83 mm/s; a rest period of 5 s between the two cycles; and a trigger force of 5 g. The maximum extent of the deformation was 10% of the original length. According to the definitions of Szczesniak (1975) and Bourne (1978), the TPA values for hardness (N), cohesiveness (dimensionless), springiness (mm) and chewiness (N x mm)

were calculated from the resulting force-time curve. Six potato strips were tested for each experiment, and the results were expressed as the mean value \pm standard deviation.

6.2.4 Analysis of moisture content

The moisture content of the potato strips was measured by drying the samples in a convection oven until constant mass at 65 °C. Analysis was conducted in triplicate for each individual experiment. The results were the mean of the triplicate experiments and expressed as $g \cdot kg^{-1}$.

6.2.5 Analysis of oil uptake

2 g of dried potato sample was put in a Soxhlet extractor for 4 h using petroleum ether. After extraction, the samples were dried for 30 min at 100 °C. The oil content was calculated by the difference between the initial weight and the end weight of each sample, and the results were expressed as $g \cdot kg^{-1}$ (AOAC, 2005; Method 934.01).

6.2.6 Analysis of asparagine

Asparagine was determined according to the assay (K-ASNAM) procedure of Megazyme International 2014. Briefly, 1 g of fresh potato sample was homogenized in 10 mL of water for 3 min. Following centrifugation (1000 rpm \times 10 min, 4 °C), the concentration of the clear supernatant was between 0.005 and 0.50 g/L. 0.1 mL sample solution, 0.02 mL glutaminase, and pH 4.9 buffer were mixed and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. Then, 1.6 mL distilled water, 0.3 mL buffer (pH 8.0) and 0.2 mL NADPH were added, and the solution was mixed and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. The reaction was started by the addition of 0.02 mL glutamate dehydrogenase suspension and the solution was mixed, and the absorbance of the solutions (A₁) was read by a spectrophotometer at 340 nm after 5 min and at 1 min intervals until the absorbance remained the same, indicating the

end of the reaction. Then, 0.02 mL asparaginase was added, and the absorbance of the solutions (A₂) was read after 5 min and at 1 min intervals until the absorbance is constant. The blank solutions include all the reagents of the samples without the 0.1 mL of sample solution. The asparagine was calculated as $[(A_1-A_2)_{sample} - (A_1-A_2)_{blank}] \times 0.4949$. If the sample has been diluted during the preparation, the result must be multiplied by the dilution factor. The results were expressed as $g \cdot kg^{-1}$ of fresh weight, and each sample was analysed in triplicate.

6.2.7 Analysis of sugars

Fresh samples (5 g) were extracted by refluxing for 30 min with 40 ml of 70% ethanol. The extract was vacuum-filtered, and the filtrate was diluted to 50 mL with ethanol. A 5 mL aliquot of the solution was passed through a Waters Sep-Pak C₁₈ column and filtered (0.45 μ m pore-size membrane), and then 20 μ L of each filtrate was injected into a Hewlett Packard series 1100 high-performance liquid chromatograph (HPLC) equipped with a Beckman 110B injector and a Beckman Refraction Index Detector (RID). The separation was performed using a Phenomenex Lunacolumn (250 x 4.6 mm i.d.), following (with a few modifications) the procedure of Hernandez et al. (1998). The mobile phase consisted of acetonitrile/water (78:22, v/v), and the flow rate was 1.8 mL·min⁻¹. Individual sugars (fructose, glucose and sucrose) were identified and quantified using external standards. Each sample was analysed in triplicate. The sugar contents were expressed as g·kg⁻¹ of fresh weight.

6.2.8 Analysis of acrylamide

The determination of acrylamide was conducted following (with a few modifications) the procedure of the gas chromatograph (PerkinElmer). 1 g of lyophilized powder was combined with 10 mL 0.1% formic acid solution and mixed on a wrist action shaker for 20 min. The mixture was refrigerated for 40 min for easier removal of the top oil layer. A 3 mL

aliquot of the clarified aqueous phase (beneath the oil layer) was filtered through a 0.45 μ m nylon syringe filter and stored for clean-up and analysis. The SPE tube was preconditioned with 2 mL acetone, followed by 2 mL 0.1% formic acid, at the rate of one drop per second, and the acetone and formic acid were discarded. 2 mL of the filtered extract solution was subjected to solid-phase extraction (SPE) (CarboPrepTM 200 tube, 6 mL, 500 mg) with only gravity flow. The SPE tube was washed with 1.0 mL water and the solution was quickly passed through the tube. Vacuum was used for up to 1 min to dry excess water from the tube. The acrylamide residue in the SPE tube was eluted with 2 mL of acetone with using gravity only and collected for GC-FID analysis.

The GC analysis of the extract samples was performed on an AutoSystem gas chromatograph equipped with a flame ionization detector (FID) (Hewlett Packard 5890 series II). The column used was an Agilent HP-FFAP capillary (length=25 m, i.d.=0.2 mm, and thickness=0.3 μ m), and the analysis conditions were as follows: the initial column temperature was settled at 100 °C for 0.5 min, then raised at a gradient of 10°C/min to 200 °C; the temperatures of the injector and detector were set to 250 and 260 °C, respectively; helium was used as the carrier gas at a flow rate of 1 mL/min and a splitless of 1 min, and the injection volume was 1 μ m. The results were expressed as μ g·kg⁻¹ of lyophilized weight (LW).

6.2.9 Statistics

The data reported was the mean of triplicate independent experiments. The variations were evaluated through one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using Minitab 16 Statistical software (MINITAB Inc, State College, PA, USA). Differences between mean values were evaluated using the HSD Tukey test with a 95% confidence interval. Pearson's correlation analysis was carried out to study the relationships between variables.

6.3 Results and discussion

6.3.1 Influence of frying temperature on acrylamide formation

It is well-known that commercial potato strip production prefers to use the cultivars with lower reducing sugar (glucose and fructose) and asparagine contents. Although an upper limit has not been specified for cultivars suitable for potato frying production, CIAA (2009) advised the use of potato cultivars with a reducing sugar content of less than 3 g.kg⁻¹ fresh weight for use in fried potato products. In this study, three cultivars were selected: one (Red Pontiac) with a reducing sugar content of more than 3 g.kg⁻¹ fresh weight and two (Agria and Kennebec) with contents of less than 3 g.kg⁻¹ fresh weight. The concentrations of the assumed precursors of acrylamide (glucose, fructose and asparagine) are shown in Table 6.1. The concentrations of glucose in the Red Pontiac and Kennebec cultivars were 3.14 and 1.26 g.kg⁻¹ fresh weight, while the fructose concentrations were 1.76 and 0.85 g.kg⁻¹ fresh weight, respectively. The contents of glucose and fructose in the Agria cultivar were the lowest of the three cultivars. The values of asparagine ranged from 2.03 to 3.21 g.kg⁻¹ fresh weight, which is in line with the values (0.15-4.58 g.kg⁻¹ fresh weight) reported for different cultivars by Vivanti et al. (2006).

Table 6.1	l Properties	of fresh	potato samples
-----------	--------------	----------	----------------

Cultivar	Color parameters				Texture parameters				Asparagine (g.kg ⁻¹ FW)	Sugars (g.kg ⁻¹ FW)			
	L*	b*	С	H(°)	Shear force (N)	Hardness (N)	Springiness (mm)	Cohesiveness	Chewiness (N.mm)		Fructose	Glucose	Sucrose
Kennebec	68.13±2.55a	12.71±0.48b	12.86±0.90b	98.79±0.14b	31.22±2.34a	227.20±3.90a	0.61±0.10a	0.11±0.02b	15.41±1.37a	2.03±0.08c	0.85±0.02b	1.26±0.02b	0.87±0.05b
Red Pontiac	67.88±2.26a	10.86±0.41b	11.02±0.82b	99.80±0.36a	30.15±1.09a	265.31±5.62a	0.53±0.08a	0.15±0.01a	21.00±2.42a	2.54±0.13b	1.76±0.03a	3.14±0.15a	1.48±0.04a
Agria	63.64±1.71a	27.49±1.11a	27.83±1.08a	98.99±0.86ab	35.40±2.16a	230.20±4.70a	0.54±0.10a	0.14±0.01ab	13.95±2.88a	3.21±0.04a	0.69±0.01b	0.69±0.01c	1.31±0.06a

Values are expressed as mean values \pm standard deviations. One-way balance ANOVA by Turkey's test was performed and the mean values with different small letters are significant in columns (P <0.05).

113

Influence of the frying process and potato cultivar on acrylamide formation in French fries

The frying time and oil temperature should be controlled to avoid high acrylamide levels, and the temperature should not exceed 170-175 °C (Vinci et al., 2012). Thus, in this study, 150, 170 and 190 °C were selected for assessing the effect of temperature on acrylamide formation. The acrylamide levels of potato strips prepared by frying at 150, 170 and 190 °C are shown in Figure 6.1; the contents for all tested cultivars ranged from 1975 to 5563 µg.kg⁻¹ LW for 150 °C, 3124 to 5814 µg.kg⁻¹ LW for 170 °C, and 4424 to 6035 µg.kg⁻¹ LW for 190 °C, which are values slightly higher than those previously reported for fried potato products in other studies (Pedreschi et al., 2004; Pedreschi et al., 2006) because of the different frying conditions and potato cultivars. The lowest acrylamide content was found in the Kennebec cultivar. The acrylamide levels changes varied with the temperature and cultivar. As Figure 6.1 shows, the acrylamide content steadily increased with the frying temperature from 150 to 190 °C for the Kennebec cultivar; it significantly increased as the frying temperature increased from 150 °C to 170 and 190 °C for the Red Pontiac cultivar; and it slightly increased with the temperature for the Agria cultivar. Hence, a higher temperature results in a higher acrylamide level in fried potato products, in agreement with other studies (Palazoglu et al., 2010; Pedreschi et al., 2006), but the degree of increase was not the same for different potato cultivars, which was attributed to the different contents of the acrylamide precursors and moisture.



Figure 6.1 Acrylamide levels of fried potato cultivars prepared by different temperatures. a-c: Means with different small letters are significant (p<0.05) in different cultivars at same temperature. A-C: Means with different capitals are significant (p<0.05) in different temperatures at same cultivar.

Correlations between the acrylamide in the fried potatoes and the concentrations of asparagine and sugars were investigated for all the tested cultivars together and separately for the individual cultivars and revealed some unexpected differences. There was a significant correlation between the asparagine concentration and acrylamide level (r=0.423, P<0.05) (Table 6.2), but no significant correlations were found for the individual cultivars. As Figure 6.2 shows, the Kennebec cultivar, with the lowest acrylamide content, had a lower asparagine level; the asparagine content of Agria was the highest of the three cultivars tested, but its acrylamide level was not higher than the content of Red Pontiac, which is consistent with the report of Vinci et al. (2012), who reported that the asparagine concentration is generally in excess compared to the reducing sugar content in some cultivars, so that the reducing sugar content is the limiting factor in acrylamide formation.

	Acrylamide	Oil uptake
Asparagine	0.423*	-
Fructose	0.621**	-
Glucose	0.663**	-
Sucrose	0.699**	-
Reducing sugar	0.652**	-
Oil uptake	-0.505**	-
Moisture	-0.163	-0.224
L*	-0.586**	0.738**
b*	0.420*	-0.026
С	0.479*	-0.007
Н	-0.284	0.569**
Shear force	0.749**	-0.375

Table 6.2 Correlations between acrylamide level and oil uptake and the factors potentially involved in the formation of acrylamide and oil uptake in all tested cultivars

Significant values are expressed: **P*<0.05, ***P*<0.01.



Figure 6.2 Acrylamide levels vs. asparagine for fried potato cultivars prepared by different temperatures.

The correlation between reducing sugar and acrylamide contents is also shown in Table 6.2. Overall, there was a significant correlation (r=0.652, P<0.01), but considering the individual cultivars, it was only found in Red Pontiac (r=0.626, P<0.05). The differences between the individual cultivars were more apparent when acrylamide was correlated with fructose and glucose concentrations. Overall there were significant correlations between fructose and acrylamide (r=0.621, P<0.01) and glucose and acrylamide (r=0.663, P<0.01), and a significant correlation within the three cultivars was only found in the Red Pontiac cultivar for fructose (r=0.614, P<0.05) and glucose (r=0.615, P<0.05). As Figure 6.3 shows, the Red Pontiac, with the highest acrylamide content, generally contained the highest reducing sugar content, while the reducing sugar content of Agria was the lowest of the three cultivars, but the acrylamide content was higher than that of Kennebec, which is not consistent with

several studies (Marquez & Anon, 1986; Amrein et al., 2003) that reported significant correlations between the reducing sugar and acrylamide contents. Therefore, the mechanistic pathway of acrylamide formation is complex, and it is not possible to say whether this is the explanation for these contrasting correlations without more detailed kinetic studies of the acrylamide formation. However, it may provide the new evidence to prove the suggestions of Halford et al. (2012), who reported that when the sugar content was relatively high, the acrylamide formation was proportional to the sugar concentration.

There was a significant correlation between sucrose content and acrylamide formation (r=0.699, P<0.01). However, sucrose was not considered a precursor of acrylamide formation because the sucrose concentration was significantly correlated with reducing sugars (r=0.610, P<0.01), so it may not necessarily reflect a direct relationship. Sucrose has been shown to contribute to acrylamide formation, which may be due to the hydrolysis through an enzymatic, thermal or acid-catalysed reaction (Halford et al., 2012).



Figure 6.3 Acrylamide levels vs. reducing sugar content for fried potato cultivars prepared by different temperatures.

6.3.2 Relationship between acrylamide formation, oil uptake and moisture

content

Oil uptake and acrylamide formation

The oil uptake is a complex mechanism that is not clearly understood, and the initial product structure, the interchanges between the product and the heating medium, and the variations in the product and oil properties are the factors that explain this phenomenon (Ziaiifar et al., 2008). The oil uptake in the three cultivars after frying at different temperatures is shown in Figure 6.4. The oil uptake decreased as the frying temperature increased from 150 to 190 °C for all tested cultivars, although this effect was more evident in previous studies (Moyano & Pedreschi, 2006; Pedreschi & Moyano, 2005). Increasing the temperature from 150 to 190 °C significantly reduced the oil uptake only for the Kennebec cultivar, as the extents of reduction for the Red Pontiac and Agria cultivars were not great. This trend was similar to that of the acrylamide levels at different temperatures. The correlation between the oil uptake and acrylamide formation was significantly negative (r=-0.505, P<0.01) in all analysed cultivars after frying. However, a much stronger and significant correlation was found in the Kennebec cultivar (r=-0.781, P<0.01); weak correlations were found in the Red Pontiac (r=-0.427, P=0.252) and Agria (r=-0.379, P=0.315) cultivars. Oil uptake reduction is also very important when frying potato strips. Therefore, the relationship between the oil uptake and the acrylamide formation necessitates that we find an optimum frying condition to obtain lower levels of both acrylamide content and oil uptake.



Figure 6.4 Oil uptake of fried potato cultivars prepared by different temperatures. a-c: Means with different small letters are significant (P<0.05) in different cultivars at same temperature. A-C: Means with different capitals are significant (P<0.05) in different temperatures at same cultivar.

Moisture content and acrylamide formation

The difference in the moisture content between the cultivars and temperatures was not great (Figure 6.5) because decreasing the temperature necessitates increasing the frying time, resulting in a similar final moisture content. However, the moisture content slightly increased with the temperature from 150 to 190 °C, ranging from 572 to 697 g.kg⁻¹, which was coincident with those reported by Predreschi & Moyano. (2005).

Amrein et al. (2006) reported a strong effect of the moisture content on the activation energy of acrylamide formation, which explains why lower temperatures for longer times are known to yield lower acrylamide levels in the final product. It was also reported that decreasing the moisture content tends to end of the frying process. The correlations between the moisture content and acrylamide level are shown in Table 6.2; the moisture content
presented weak negative correlations with the acrylamide level in all cultivars (r=-0.163, P=0.417), but strong correlations were found in the Kennebec (r=0.928, P<0.01) and Red Pontiac (r=0.595, P<0.05) cultivars.



Figure 6.5 Moisture content for potato cultivars fried at 150, 170 and 170 °C. a-c: Means with different small letters are significant (P<0.05) in different cultivars at same temperature. A-C: Means with different capitals are significant (P<0.05) in different temperatures at same cultivar.

Moisture content and oil uptake

Gamble et al. (1987) found that moisture loss and oil uptake are interrelated, and both are linear functions of the square root of the frying time. In addition, Ziaiifar et al. (2008) reported that the more water is removed from the surface, the more oil is absorbed. The moisture content in this study is the final content after frying, and the higher the final moisture content, the less was lost.

The correlations between the moisture content and oil uptake after frying at different temperatures were investigated for all tested cultivars (Table 6.2), and the correlation (r=-0.224, P=0.261) was negative but not significant. However, a significant negative

correlation was found in the Kennebec cultivar (r=-0.778, P<0.05), which is in agreement with the report by Southern et al. (2004). As a result, the oil uptake tends to decrease as the final moisture content increases during frying, which is in agreement with other studies (Gamble et al., 1987; Ziaiifar et al., 2008). However, the results also showed that there may be a characteristic curve of oil uptake against moisture content, and the curves for the different cultivars may be distinct.

6.3.3 Correlations of acrylamide formation and oil uptake with instrumental

sensory parameters: colour and texture

Colour, acrylamide formation and oil uptake

The colour values are shown in Figure 6.6. The L* and H values tended to decrease and the b* and C values increased compared to their original values in the Red Pontiac and Kennebec cultivars, but the change of colour in the Agria cultivar between the fresh and fried potato strips was slight, which may be due to the reducing sugar content in the fresh potatoes. L* tends to decrease as the frying temperature is increased from 150 to 190 °C, which means that the potato strips get darker. b* refers to the yellowness, and b* and C (positively correlated with the colour parameters of a* and b*) tend to increase, which proves that the frying strips get more red and yellow as the frying temperature increases; the H value decreased as the frying temperature increased.

Table 6.2 shows that the colour parameters presented significant correlations with the acrylamide content of the potato cultivars. The correlation in all cultivars between the L* value and acrylamide content was significant and negative (r=-0.586, P<0.01), while the b* and C values presented positive significant correlations with the acrylamide content for all tested cultivars (r=0.420 and 0.479, P<0.05, respectively). However, the H values showed no significant correlations with the acrylamide content in all cultivars. Furthermore, the lightness of the frying strips decreased as the acrylamide formation increased, which was attributed to the potato strips getting darker as a result of Maillard reactions, while the

changing of the C and H valued (C increased and H decreased) as the frying temperature increased is because of the Maillard non-enzymatic reaction development (Pedreschi et al., 2006).

The oil uptake vs. colour parameters in potato cultivars fried at 150, 170 and 190 °C are shown in Table 6.2. There is clear effect of the colour parameter values on the oil uptake in the cultivars: the L* and H values showed good correlations with the oil uptake (r=0.738 and 0.569, P<0.01, respectively); the b* and C values showed negative and no significant correlations with the oil uptake in all cultivars. This shows that the colour of the frying strips gets darker as more oil is taken up.



Figure 6.6 Development of the color parameters (L*, b*, C and H) of potato cultivars at different frying conditions. a-c: Means with different small letters are significant (P<0.05) in different cultivars at same temperature. A-D: Means with different capitals are significant (P<0.05) in different temperatures at same cultivar.

Texture parameters, acrylamide formation and oil uptake

The textural changes in the potato cultivars fried at 150, 170 and 190 °C are shown in Figure 6.7. Compared to the textural values of fresh potatoes (Table 6.1), the shear force, hardness and chewiness decreased significantly, and the changes in the springiness and cohesiveness were slight. The shear force and hardness decreased because of the starch gelatinization and lamella media solubilisation during frying (Andersson et al., 1994). The difference in the textural values between the different temperatures was not significant, which is attributed to the higher temperature necessitating a shorter frying time, affecting the final textural values. Only the shear force of the textural parameters presented a positive significant correlation with the acrylamide content (r=0.749, P<0.01) but a not significant and negative correlation (r=-0.375, P=0.054) with oil uptake in the cultivars (Table 6.2). The negative and significant correlation of L* with the shear force was found in all cultivars after frying (r=-0.648, P<0.01). In addition, there were negative significant correlations between L* and the shear force in the Red Pontiac and Kennebec cultivars (r=-0.777 and -0.439, P<0.05, respectively).

Therefore, when frying at 190 °C, the potato strips were harder and darker and contained less oil and higher acrylamide levels than potato strips fried at 150 °C in all cultivars, which agreed with Pedreschi & Moyano. (2005).



Figure 6.7 Textural analysis parameters for different potato cultivars (A/Kennebec; B/Red Pontiac; C/Agria) caused by different frying conditions.

6.4 Conclusions

The composition of the fresh potato cultivar is the primary factor in the formation of acrylamide. However, apart from the reducing sugars and asparagine, there are other factors affecting the acrylamide formation. In our present study, sucrose and oil uptake may play a role in the final concentration of acrylamide. For the Agria cultivar with a lower reducing sugar content, the possible hydrolysis of sucrose during the frying process may cause acrylamide production. Additionally, frying the potato strips at 190 °C resulted in more acrylamide, less oil uptake, more moisture, and darker and harder strips than those fried at 150 °C. The significant correlations of the lightness and shear force with the acrylamide content indicated that the darker and harder French fries contained higher acrylamide levels. A significant correlation between the oil uptake and acrylamide content was found in all tested cultivars, possibly indicating that the contribution of the oil uptake to the formation of acrylamide should not be neglected.

6.5 References

- Amrein, T. M., Limacher, A., Conde-Petit, B., Amado, R., & Escher, F. (2006). Influence of thermal processing conditions on acrylamide generation and browning in a potato model system. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, 54(16), 5910-6.
- Amrein, T. M., Bachmann, S., Noti, A., Biedermann, M., Barbosa, M. F., Biedermann-Brem, S., Grob, K., Keiser, A., Realini, P., Escher, F., & Amado, R. (2003). Potential of acrylamide formation, sugars, and free asparagine in potatoes: A comparison of cultivars and farming systems. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51, 5556-5560.
- Andersson, A., Gekas, A., Lind, I., Oliveira, F., & Oste, R. (1994). Effect of preheating on potato texture. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 34(3), 229-251.

Bourne, M. C. (1978). Texture profile analysis. Food Technology, 32, 62-66.

- Blumenthal, M. M., & Stier, R. F. (1991). Optimization of deep-fat frying operations. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 2, 144-148.
- Capuano, E., Oliviero, T., Acar, O. C., Gokmen, V., & Fogliano, V. (2010). Lipid oxidation promotes acrylamide formation in fat-rich model systems. *Food Research International*, *43*(*4*), 1021-6.
- Cheong, T. K., Hwang, E., & Hyong, L. (2005). Reducing acrylamide in fried snack products by adding amino acids. *Journal of Food Science*, *70*, 354-357.
- EFSA (2011). Science Report of EFSA-Results on acrylamide levels in food from monitoring years 2007-2009 and exposure assessment. *EFSA Journal*, 9(4), 2133.
- Garayo, J., & Moreira, R. (2002). Vacuum frying of potato chips. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 55, 181-191.
- Gamble, M. H., Rice, P., & Selman, J. D. (1987). Relationship between oil uptake and moisture loss during frying of potato slices from c.v. Record U.K. tubers. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 22, 233-241.
- Halford, N. G., Muttucumaru, N., Powers, S. J. Gillatt, P. N., Hartley, L., Elmore, J. S., & Mottram, D. S. (2012). Concentrations of free amino acids and sugars in nine potato varieties: Effect of storage and relationship with acrylamide formation. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60, 12044-12055.
- Hernandez, J. L., Gonzalez-Castro, M. J., Alba, I. N., & Garcia, C. C. (1998). High-performace liquid chromatographic determination of Mono- and Oligosaccharides in vegetables with evaporative light-scattering detection and refractive index detection. *Journal of Chromatographic Science*, 36, 293-298.
- Hogervorst, J. G., Schouten, L. J., Konings, E. J., Goldbohm, R. A., & Van den Brandt, P. A. (2007). A prospective study of dietary acrylamide intake and the risk of endometrial, ovarian, and breast cancer. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention, 16*, 2304-13.

- Hubbard, L. J., & Farkas, B. E. (1999). A method for determining the convective heat transfer coefficient during immersion frying. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*, 22, 201-214.
- Marquez, G., & Anon, M. C. (1986). Influence of reducing sugars and amino acids in the color development of fried potatoes. *Journal of Food Science*, *51*, 157-160.
- Mottram, D. S., Wedzicha, B. L., & Dodson, A. T. (2002). Acrylamide is formed in the Maillard reaction. *Nature*, *419*, 448-449.
- Moyano, P. C., & Pedreschi, F. (2006). Kinetics of oil uptake during frying of potato slices: Effect of pre-treatments. *Food Science and Technology*, *39*, 285-291.
- Palazoglu, T. K., Savran, D., & Gokmen, V. (2010). Effect of cooking method (baking compared with frying) on acrylamide level of potato chips. *Journal of Food Science*, 75(1), 25-29.
- Pedreschi, F., & Moyano, P. C. (2005). Effect of pre-drying on texture and oil uptake of potato chips. *Food Science and Technology*, 38, 599-604.
- Pedreschi, F., Kaack, K., & Granby, K. (2006). Acrylamide content and color development in fried potato strips. *Food Research International*, *39*, 40-46.
- Pedreschi, F., Kaack, K., & Granby, K. (2004). Reduction of acrylamide formation in potato slices during frying. *Food Science and Technology*, 37(6), 679-685.
- Shepherd, L. V. T., Bradshaw, J. E., Dale, M. F. B., Mcnicol, J. W., Pont, S. D. A., Mottram, D. S., & Davies, H. V. (2010). Variation in acrylamide producing potential in potato: segregation of the trait in a breeding population. *Journal of Food Chemistry*, 123, 568-573.
- Singh, J., Kaur, L., McCarthy, O. J., Moughan, P. J., & Singh, H. (2008). Rheological and textural characteristics of raw and par-cooked Taewa (Maori potatoes) of New Zealand. *Journal of Texture studies*, 39, 210-230.

- Southern, C. R., Xiaodong, C., & Farid, M. M. (2004). The characteristic relationship between oil uptake and moisture content during the high temperature immersion frying of thin potato crisps. *Chinese Journal of Chemical Engineering*, *12*(6), 818-821.
- Stadler, R. H., Blank, I., Varga, N., Robert, F., Hau, J., Guy, P. A., Robert, M. C., & Riediker, S. (2002). Acrylamide from Maillard reaction products. *Nature*, 419, 449-450.
- Szczesniak, A. S. (1975). General foods texture profile revisited ten years perspective. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 6, 5-8.
- Vinci, R. M., Mestdagh, F., & Meulenaer, B. D. (2012). Acrylamide formation in fried potato products- Presents and future, a critical review on mitigation strategies. *Food Chemistry*, 133, 1138-1154.
- Vivanti, V., Finotti, E., & Friedman, M. (2006). Level of acrylamide precursors asparagine, fructose, glucose and sucrose in potatoes. Sold at retail in Italy and in United States. *Journal of Food Science*, 71(2), 81-84.
- Yang, Y., Achaerandio, I., & Pujola, M. (2015). Classification of potato cultivars to establish their processing aptitude. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, DOI: 10.1002/jsfa.7104.
- Zamora, R., & Hidalgo, F. J. (2008). Contribution of lipid oxidation products to acrylamide formation in model systems. *Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry*, 56(15), 6075-80.
- Ziaiifar, A. M., Achir, N., Courtois, F., Trezzani, I., & Trystram, G. (2008). Review of mechanisms, conditions, and factors involved in the oil uptake phenomenon during the deep-fat frying process. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 43, 1410-1423.

Chapter 7

General results

In this chapter the principal results obtained in this thesis are presented. For each secondary objective we highlight the main contributions of the research work and we discuss their implications in the field.

1) To evaluate eight potato cultivars commonly consumed and study the relationship between their chemical and physical properties to determine their processing aptitude.

Eight common potato cultivars (Agata, Agria, Caesar, Cherie, Kennebec, Monalisa, Red Pontiac and Spirit) were characterized.

The **physical properties** are significant different between potato cultivars. The chroma and hue-angle values of the tubers varied considerably. The chroma values of the yellow and light-yellow tubers were higher than those of the white tubers. The highest Hue-angle value was obtained for Agata (light yellow) > Monalisa (light yellow) > Spirit (white) tubers \geq Agria (yellow), Caesar (light yellow), Cherie (yellow) Red Pontiac (light yellow). The differences in Shear force (She) and the textural properties: cohesiveness (Coh), chewiness (Che), hardness (Har) and springiness (Spr) among the potato cultivars may be due to their differing dry-matter content (DM).

Chemical parameters. Significant differences were found in the sugar content of the potatoes of the eight cultivars tested (P<0.05). The concentration of glucose was slightly higher than that of fructose in all the cultivar samples. These parameters are very important in potato processing such that the higher the reducing sugar content, the higher the level of browning after frying since may be a potential risk for acrylamide formation during cooking.

The major component of the starch profile in raw potato is the resistant starch (RS), 65-85% of the total starch, type 2 (RS2, ungelatinised resistant granules that are slowly hydrolysed

by α -amylase). There were significant differences between the RS contents of the cultivars (*P*<0.05).

For the first time the presence of lactic acid was detected in some potato cultivars. The total phenolic content (TPC) of the potato skin and flesh were significantly different between cultivars. Negative correlations were found between the DM and TS contents and the TPC content. The antioxidant activity (AA) in the flesh and skin extracts of the potato cultivars were significant different (P<0.05). The yellow and light-yellow flesh of the cultivars exhibited significant higher AA compared with those of the white-flesh potato cultivars. The positive correlations are found between the ORAC values of the flesh and skins potato and their TPC (r=0.984; P<0.01 and r=0.659; P<0.01) respectively.

We stated that the textural attributes are important for describing the variation between common potato cultivars. Significant Pearson's correlations were found due to the common and complex interactions between the constituents of potatoes and their properties (P<0.05). Principal component analysis (PCA) revealed the correlations among the physicochemical properties, and the first two principal components explained 56.84% of the variance among the cultivars studied. Moreover PCA led to the classification of the potato cultivars: (1) Cherie, Kennebec, Agria, Caesar and Red Pontiac; (2) Agata and Monalisa; (3) Spirit. The group 1 and group 3 cultivars were recommended for frying owing to their higher hardness and DM content and lower reducing sugar content, while the group 2 cultivars were recommended for boiling and baking because of their higher values of springiness, cohesiveness and chewiness, and not peeling the cultivars increased their antioxidant properties. Certain nutritional and functional parameters of the different cultivar groups indicated the potential efficacy of different cultivars to satisfy the nutritional needs of consumers and industrial use. These properties and groups may explain and reinforce the cooking types of cultivars proposed by the European Cultivated Potato database.

2) To study the effect of temperature and time of boiling, baking and microwaving treatments on the nutritional components and physical properties of commercial potato tubers selected.

Four potato cultivars were selected (Agata, Caesar, Kennebec, Red Pontiac) according to the reported by Chapter 4 (Caesar, Kennebec and Red Pontiac belonged to group 1 and Agata belonged to group 2) and their cooking type defined by the European Cultivated Potato database. The effect of time-temperature was evaluated in three cooking methods: boiling, baking and microwaving on the physical and chemical properties of potatoes.

The **core temperature** curves obtained for the different cultivars in the same treatment were similar. Nevertheless, equal treatment but different cooking conditions were distinct, especially for microwaving. Additionally, this treatment was remarkable different from baking and boiling. In all cooking processes the initial gelatinization process of starch start at 60 °C, but between 82 °C and 90 °C, the potato starch completely gelatinized for a very short time.

Chemical properties. The cooking treatments entailed a new starch profile in all the cultivars. In general, the effect of heat-treatments implied a remarkable reduction of the resistant starch (RS) content and an increase in the soluble starch content. The highest RS content percentage of the original value of the raw samples in average of all cultivars was in baking potatoes. The individual sugars (fructose, glucose and sucrose) increased by baking and microwaving compared with raw tubers, with the highest increase shown by baking treatment in all cultivars, especially the baking at 250 °C for 60 min. The results obtained showed that the lower core temperature during boiling, the higher temperature and shorter time of baking and the lower power of microwaving were good for retain the total phenolic compounds TPC in the potato flesh of cultivars. Additionally, the higher losses of TPC in the potato skin are obtained in boiling and microwaving, on the other hand, TPC were

slightly increased by baking in all the cultivars. The average content of antioxidant activity (AA) in flesh samples was increased by all cooking methods. The cv. Agata had the most favorable influence on the AA of flesh samples (increased to 174% \sim 215% of original value).

Physical properties. Boiling obtained the minimum weigh losses for all the cultivars (< 2 %) whereas baking obtained the highest values (>20 %). For microwaving weigh losses were < 15 %. The possible differences on the microstructure of the potato peel may affect the water evaporation during the cooking procedures. The treatments affected in a similar way the dry matter content of potatoes independently of the initial value. The softness of cv. Agata was higher than the other cultivars; moreover boiling and baking were the treatments that had a higher impact on the hardness and shear force. Highly significant Pearson correlation coefficient was found between dry matter and hardness (0.700; P<0.001). The boiling treatments showed lower chewiness values in all potato cultivars. The intensity of the treatment was not proportional to the color losses. Depending on the original color of the potato, losses were different between cooking treatments. After being cooked, lightness decreased significantly except for Caesar (p<0.05), which means that the potato samples get darker.

The principal component analysis (PCA) was a good way to prove the effect of the different treatments and cultivars on the properties of potatoes. The first two principle components accounted for 77.32% of the total variation (50.83% and 26.49%, respectively). PCA results primarily discriminated the cooked potato cultivars: the Agata cultivars from the Kennebec, Red Pontiac and Caesar cultivars, which also proved the classification groups of Chapter 4. After the heat treatments, the Agata cultivar exhibited higher AA, TPC, RS and C, and the other cultivars (Kennebec, Red Pontiac and Caesar) were associated with the higher TS, DM,

cooking degree, which were the textural parameter values and the color parameter (L and H) values.

The physical instrument properties may be considered the indicator of some nutritional and functional properties of cooking potato products, and certain nutritional and functional parameters of different cultivars after treatments indicated the potential efficacy to satisfy the nutritional needs of consumers and industrial use.

3) To assess the frying temperature and time on acrylamide content and to study the relationship between acrylamide levels and the factors potentially involved in its formation Three potato cultivars (Agria, Kennebec and Red Pontiac) commonly used for fried products in Europe were analyzed to evaluate the influence of frying conditions (190 °C for 160 s, 170 °C for 240 s and 150 °C for 330 s) on acrylamide formation.

The acrylamide levels of potato strips increased with the frying temperature. The increase of acrylamide was different for each potato cultivar and frying temperature: for cv. Agria, acrylamide content was not affected practically by frying temperature whereas, cv. Kennebec was highly dependent on the frying temperature in the acrylamide formation. For cv. Red Pontiac the acrylamide formation was significantly different from 150 °C to 170 and 190 °C.

Chemical precursors of acrylamide. The individual sugars, fructose and glucose, were correlated with the acrylamide levels (r=0.621, P<0.01) and (r=0.663, P<0.01), respectively. In addition, a new significant correlation between sucrose and acrylamide content was obtained (r=0.699, P<0.01). This correlation can be attributed to the hydrolysis of sucrose through an enzymatic, thermal or acid-catalysed reaction. However, the correlation between asparagine and acrylamide content was lower (r=0.423, P<0.05).

General results

Physical properties and acrylamide relationships. The differences in the textural values of French fries between the frying temperatures were not significant, that is attributed that the higher temperature and the shorter the frying time. However, shear force presented a positive significant correlation with the acrylamide content (r=0.749, P<0.01). The Maillard reactions during friyng entailed the decrease of lightness (L*) of the potato strips and the acrylamide formation increased. The L* and H values showed good correlations with the oil uptake (r=0.738 and 0.569, P<0.01, respectively). In consequence, the colour of the frying strips gets darker as more oil is taken up. The correlation between L* value and acrylamide content was significant and negative (r=-0.586, P<0.01), while the b* and chroma values presented positive significant correlations with the acrylamide content for all tested cultivars (r=0.420 and 0.479, P<0.05, respectively).

The results indicate that frying at 190 °C, the potato strips were harder and darker and contained less oil and higher acrylamide levels than potato strips fried at 150 °C in all cultivars.

Chapter 8

Conclussions

CONCLUSIONS

The main objective of this research work was to study the effect of cooking processes: boiling, baking, microwaving and frying on the physical and chemical properties of potato cultivars consumed worldwide. For our experimental results some conclusions are presented following the specific objectives:

Objective 1: Evaluation of the chemical and physical properties of potato cultivars to determine their processing aptitude.

- The physical and chemical properties of the cultivars were notable different, which determined the aptitude of the potato cultivars on being processing. The group were suitable for frying which was due to the higher hardness, dry matter and the lower reducing sugar content, and the cultivars were fit for boiling and baking because of the higher value of springiness, cohesiveness and chewiness.
- We recommended for boiling and baking process don't remove the skin because increase the antioxidant properties.
- These results reinforce the cooking type of the cultivars proposed by the European Cultivated Potato database.

Objective 2: The effect of temperature and time of cooking processing on the nutritional components and physical properties of commercial potato tubers.

Baking and microwaving processes involved higher weight losses for the evaporation of potato water across the skin, independently of the cultivar. All the cooking treatments affected similarly the dry matter content of potato independently of the assessed cultivar; however microwaving process had higher values of dry matter.

- The intensity of the treatment is not proportional to the color losses after being cooked. The diffusion of water across the potato tissues may be responsible of the differences in softening but the softening after being cooked depended on the potato cultivar. Specific textural properties Shear force and Hardness are highly affected for boiling and baking. However, in any potato cultivar Chewiness and Springiness were remarkable different between cooking process.
- The core temperature affected the starch gelatinization of potato during process. The total and resistant starch decreased after processing and the resistant starch retention of baking and microwaving was higher than that of boiling. The individual sugars (fructose, glucose and sucrose) increased by baking and microwaving. The effect of the cooking process on the total phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity in potato flesh depends on the potato cultivar. However, the maximum retention of bioactive compounds was obtained with the lower core temperature during boiling, the higher temperature and shorter time of baking and the lower power of microwaving.
- The physical instrumental properties may be considered the indicator of some nutritional and functional properties of cooking potato products.
- Objective 3: Effect of the frying temperature and time on acrylamide content: the relationship between acrylamide levels and the factors potentially involved in its formation.
 - The composition of the fresh potato cultivar is the primary factor in the formation of acrylamide. However, apart from the reducing sugars and asparagine content, there

are other factors affecting the acrylamide formation: sucrose content and oil uptake may play a role in the final concentration of acrylamide.

- For the Agria cultivar, with a lower reducing sugar content, the possible hydrolysis of sucrose during the frying process may cause acrylamide production.
- Lightness and shear force are correlated with the acrylamide content indicated that the darker and harder French fries contained higher acrylamide levels. A significant correlation between the oil uptake and acrylamide content was found in all tested cultivars, possibly indicating that the contribution of the oil uptake to the formation of acrylamide should not be neglected.

In summary, the determination of potato physical properties has enabled a quick and effective evaluation of the effect of the culinary processes on potato cultivars. In addition, physical properties of potato can be used for predicting the acrylamide formation in French fries. The control of core temperature during processing is essential for maintain the nutritional and instrumental sensorial quality of cooked potatoes.